DISSERTATION

THE MOTIVATIONS AND EXPERIENCES OF STUDENTS ENROLLED IN ONLINE SCIENCE COURSES AT THE COMMUNITY COLLEGE

Submitted by

Urbi Ghosh

School of Education

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Colorado State University

Fort Collins, Colorado

Fall 2011

Doctoral Committee:

Advisor: Linda Kuk

George A. Morgan Tim G. Davies Joe P. Cannon Copyright by Urbi Ghosh 2011

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

THE MOTIVATIONS AND EXPERIENCES OF STUDENTS ENROLLED IN ONLINE SCIENCE COURSES AT THE COMMUNITY COLLEGE

An important question in online learning involves how to effectively motivate and retain students in science online courses. There is a dearth of research and knowledge about the experiences of students enrolled in online science courses in community colleges which has impeded the proper development and implementation of online courses and retention of students in the online environment. This study sought to provide an understanding of the relationships among each of the following variables: selfefficacy, task value, negative-achievement emotions, self-regulation learning strategies (metacognition), learning strategy (elaboration), and course satisfaction to student's performance (course final grade). Bandura's social-cognitive theory was used as a framework to describe the relationships among students' motivational beliefs (perceived task value, self-efficacy, and self-regulation) and emotions (frustration and boredom) with the dependent variables (elaboration and overall course satisfaction).

A mixed-method design was used with a survey instrumentation and student interviews. A variety of science online courses in biology, genetics, astronomy, nutrition, and chemistry were surveyed in two community colleges. Community colleges students (N = 107) completed a questionnaire during enrollment in a variety of online science

ii

online courses. Upon course completion, 12 respondents were randomly selected for follow-up in-depth interviews.

Multiple regression results from the study indicate perceived task value and selfregulatory learning strategies (metacognition) were as important predictors for students' use of elaboration, while self-efficacy and the number of prior online courses was not significant predictors for students' elaboration when all four predictors were included. Frustration was a significant negative predictor of overall course satisfaction, and boredom unexpectedly emerged as a positive predictor when frustration was also in the model. In addition, the correlations indicated that elaboration and overall course satisfaction were not significantly related to participants' course grade (performance). Furthermore, five major themes emerged from the students' experiences: the role of personal dispositions, academic challenge, self-regulated learning, student communication, and the negative emotions that shaped student experiences. In particular, negative emotions most experienced by students were found to be anxiety, stress, frustration and confusion.

In total, results from this study implicate an important role of emotions such as frustration in students' overall course satisfaction and the importance of task value. Students' career aspirations and direct use of the course content were more likely to report greater use of elaboration strategies. Finally, this research also found that students self-regulated their learning in the online environment on a variety of levels.

iii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I must begin by thanking my family and colleagues, whose incredible support during this long process has been invaluable to me. In particular, I have to thank my husband, Hemant, who supported me the most personally as I pursued this goal and my chair, Dr. Linda Kuk, who spent many hours providing me direction and feedback on my work. I am very grateful for Dr. George Morgan and his amazing guidance and help during the entire process.

For their insight and support through this process, I would like to thank the members of my committee: Dr. Tim Davies and Dr. Joe Cannon. Each member of this committee has given me invaluable insight, mentoring, and feedback that enabled me to grow intellectually and emotionally on several levels. I am very grateful for all the interaction and time each and every one has given me in this process.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	viii
LIST OF FIGURES	X
CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND Distance Education Contextual Rationale Statement of the Problem Research Purpose Significance of the Study Research Questions Limitations of This Study Definition of Terms Researcher's Perspective	1 3 5 5 7 8 10 11 16
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	21
Types of Communication in Online Courses	
Characteristics of Online Students Online Learning in Community Colleges	
Theories of Student Retention Success Factors for Students Online	
Personal Characteristics of Successful Online Students Self-Determination Theory: Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation	36 39
Motivation and Performance of Distance-Education Students Motivation and Self- Regulation	40 41 42
Motivation and Self-Efficacy Self-Efficacy and Outcome Expectancy	43 47
Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory of Learning The Influences of Emotion on Self-Regulation	49 60

Personal Motivational Beliefs and Perceptions	61		
Personal Achievement Emotions and Perceptions	63		
Learning Strategies in the Online Environment			
Course Satisfaction	66		
Environmental Factors	67		
Online Science Education at the College	69		
Summary	70		
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH DESIGN	72		
Rationale of the Study Design	72		
Research Design	75		
Setting	77		
Sample	77		
Instrumentation	80		
Procedures for Ouantitative Survey	87		
Procedures for Qualitative Interviews	89		
Data Analysis	91		
Δ symptions and I imitations	96		
Assumptions and Emitations			
CHAPTER 4. RESULTS	99		
Descriptive Statistics	99		
Research Questions 1-3 and Hypothesis Testing	108		
The Qualitative Participant Profiles	118		
Motivations for Enrollment	1/13		
Structural Themes from Students Enrolled in Science Online Courses	175		
(Experiences): Research Questions 4.6	148		
(Experiences). Research Questions 4-0	140		
(Demonst Dispositions)	161		
(Personal Dispositions)	101		
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION	164		
Findings Related to Research Questions	165		
Limitations of the Study	102		
Study Implications and Future Descerab	192		
	194		
Summary	200		
DEEEDENCES	202		
REFERENCES	202		
ADDENINIX AVELECTRONIC LETTER TO DIDECTOR OF DESEARCH/			
APPENDIA A. ELECTRONIC LETTER TO DIRECTOR OF RESEARCH			
ADMINISTRATION REQUESTING ACCESS TO STUD I	210		
SHE AND FAKIRIFANIS	219		
ADDENINIV D. E. MAIL TO SCIENCE ONLINE FACULTV DEOLIECTING			
APPENDIA B: E-MAIL TO SCIENCE UNLINE FACULTY KEQUESTING	220		
COUPERATION	220		
ADDENIDIV C. OTUDENT I ETTED	201		
APPENDIA C: STUDENT LETTEK	221		

APPENDIX D: SURVEY INSTRUMENT	222
APPENDIX E: INTERVIEW QUESTIONS	229
APPENDIX F: CONSENT FOR COMMUNITY-COLLEGE STUDENTS TO PARTICIPATE IN THE STUDY (DRAFT)	231

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. A Comparison of Types of Instruction by Content Delivery
Table 2. Items Contained in the Self-Efficacy Subscale
Table 3. Items Contained in the Task Value Subscale
Table 4. Items Contained in the Elaboration Subscales
Table 5. Items Contained in the Self-regulatory Learning Strategies (Metacognition) Subscales
Table 6. Items Contained in the Boredom Subscale
Table 7. Items Contained in the Frustration Subscale 8
Table 8. Items Contained in the Course Satisfaction Subscale
Table 9. Items Contained in the Prior Knowledge Subscale 8
Table 10. Descriptive Statistics for Student Gender, Major or Intended Major, and Reason for Course 10
Table 11. Descriptive Statistics for Student Age and Numbers of Prior Courses
Table 12. Descriptive Statistics for Participants' Perceptions of Online Courses 101
Table 13. Descriptive Statistics for Self-Efficacy Subscale Items 102
Table 14. Descriptive Statistics for Self-Regulatory Learning Subscale Items 10-
Table 15. Descriptive Statistics for Perceived Task Value Subscale Items
Table 16. Descriptive Statistics for Elaboration Subscale Items 10
Table 17. Descriptive Statistics for Boredom Subscale Items 10
Table 18. Descriptive Statistics for Frustration Subscale Items 10
Table 19. Descriptive Statistics for Overall Course Satisfaction Subscale Items
Table 20. Means, Standard Deviations, and Intercorrelations for VariablesPredicting Elaboration in RQ1 (n = 102)

Table 21. Regression Coefficients for Research Question	n 1110
Table 22. Means, Standard Deviations, and Intercorrela Frustration as Predictors of Course Satisfaction	tions for Boredom and on in RQ 2 ($n = 100$)112
Table 23. Regression Coefficients for Research Questio	n 2113
Table 24. Classification Table for Research Question 3.	
Table 25. Regression Coefficients for Research Question	n 3115
Table 26. Descriptive Statistics for Course Grades	
Table 27. Descriptive Statistics for Regression Predictor	rs116
Table 28. Bi-variate Spearman Correlations for Research	h Question 3117
Table 29. Anomalous Participant Group $(n = 3)$: Low FLow Overall Course Satisfaction	Trustration, High Boredom,
Table 30. Anomalous Participant Group $(n = 6)$: High HHigh Overall Course Satisfaction	Frustration, Low Boredom,
Table 31. Comparisons Among Anomalous Participant Population	Groups and the General

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Variables that may predict elaboration.	9
Figure 2. Variables that may predict course satisfaction	9
Figure 3. Variables that may predict course performance	10
Figure 4. Stratifications of online learners.	26
Figure 5. Student-success model of online learning	
Figure 6. Components of self-regulation	43
Figure 7. Bandura's social-cognitive theory.	50
Figure 8. Putative student performance models for online leaning	71
Figure 9. Residual plot for Research Question 1	110
Figure 10. Residual plot for Research Question 2	112

CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND

Distance Education

Between 2002 and 2011, online distance learning surged in postsecondary education. A report by the Sloan Consortium revealed that an estimated 5.6 million students took at least one online course in the fall of 2009, depicting a 21% growth rate for online enrollments from fall of 2008 (Allen & Seaman, 2010). Among students who took at least one online course per year, there was a compounded 19% annual average growth from 2002 to 2009 (Allen & Seaman, 2010). Estimates indicate that more than 100,000 distance-education courses are now offered in colleges and universities worldwide (Oblinger & Hawkins, 2005). Recent survey data indicate one in four students enrolled in higher education now take at least one course online (Allen & Seaman, 2009). The most recent data on online learning enrollments by Allen and Seaman (2008) demonstrate "no signs of slowing" (p. 1).

The growth of online student enrollment has outpaced that of traditional classrooms (Allen & Seaman, 2009, 2010; Oblinger & Hawkins, 2005). For instance, Allen and Seaman (2010) stated that online enrollments increased 21% in 2009 in contrast to traditional course enrollments, which only increased 2.0%. This growth rate is more pronounced in institutions granting 2-year associate's degrees (Allen & Seaman, 2008). Allen and Seaman (2008) noted, "Associate institutions have consistently been over represented among the online student population compared to their share of higher education student enrollments" (p. 6).

Between 50% and 74% of the leadership of higher-educational institutions believe that online education is critical to their long-term strategy and growth (Allen & Seaman,

2009, 2010). At higher-education institutions, the online environment is a source of new found productivity and increased student access (Allen & Seaman, 2009, 2010; SchWeber, 2005). Distance education has the potential to serve decentralized student populations and campuses. At some universities, online courses are an additional source of revenue. Studies by Oblinger, Barone, and Hawkins (2001) and by A. W. Bates (1997) cited four strategic reasons for institutions to invest in distance education: (a) access for students and businesses, (b) leverage scalability, (c) new revenue, and (d) institutional transformation.

With the expansion of online distance education, institutions are focusing on retaining students and enhancing their success. Carr (2000) indicated that online students are more likely to leave a course or program in greater numbers because of work-related pressures, financial constraints, and family concerns. Although the literature on traditional course retention is extensive, the literature on online retention is still emerging. Persistence and retention can be complicated because of the necessity to understand students, their educational goals, and their circumstances. A review of the literature revealed three psychological, social, and environmental factors that contribute to student success in an online environment: (a) personal characteristics/learning styles, (b) motivation/self-efficacy, and (c) environmental influences (Dutton, Dutton, & Perry, 2002; Haigh, 2007; Wahlstrom, Williams, & Shea, 2003).

However, the literature explains neither the importance of these variables nor their potential interaction. An unclear delineation of motivation and course satisfaction is most likely due to an absence of research about online courses at community colleges. Given the increases in numbers of online courses, research on student retention would be

beneficial to the fields of education and curriculum development, especially to community colleges, because they service the majority of students studying online (Allen & Seaman, 2008, 2009, 2010).

The literature, sparse as it is, suggests that an online learner is more intrinsically motivated than a face-to-face learner (Rovai, Ponton, Wighting, & Baker, 2007). Based on this finding, retention in online education may be more rooted in motivation and learning styles than in academic preparedness. Therefore, the relationships among student motivations, learning strategies, and academic achievement are of great interest.

Contextual Rationale

Carr (2000) indicated that online distance-learning retention rates are much lower than those in comparable on-site courses, although the author noted that the research is supported only by limited data. For example, researchers from the University of Central Florida reported that the withdrawal rate from the fall 1998 online program was 9%, which was higher than the 5% for face-to face courses during that same semester (Carr, 2000). In a review of the literature, Boyd (2004) identified time and scheduling constraints. Complicating students' course completion is the lack of studies on the way distance students prioritize and balance their goals (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006).

Despite the low number of studies on this phenomenon and the seemingly low retention rates of distance students, almost all community colleges have an institutional priority to develop and deliver online courses to learners (Allen & Seaman, 2007a, 2007b, 2008, 2009). Because many community-college online courses model face-to-face courses without having evaluated their effectiveness, a study of student perspectives in a domain or specific subject area will add to the literature. What is not known is whether

online science courses can be tailored to students' needs in order to enhance course satisfaction. For this study, I studied science courses for four reasons: (a) the difficulty of the subject content and the ability of students to understand unfamiliar concepts, (b) the dearth of studies (Rowe & Asbell-Clarke, 2008), (c) faculty concerns with low course-passing/completion rates, and (d) faculty concerns of placing science courses online while maintaining the hands on experience of experimentation.

As community colleges develop online courses, it has become important to study online students' characteristics, motivations, and reasons for taking coursework in specific subject areas (Massa, 2003). While some general aspects of the student experience in the online environment have been explored in quantitative studies (Aljarrah, 2000; Artino, 2008; Bangurah, 2004; Crabtree, 2000; Jamison, 2003; Massa, 2003; Reed, 2001; Schultz, 2001; York, 2003; Zimmerman, 2005) and qualitative studies (Harbeck, 2001; Kennedy, 2001; Schilke, 2001), such approaches have been limited in understanding the challenges facing science students. Science courses present a significant degree of difficulty to students in terms of the conceptual frameworks and related content presented in face-to-face classes (Hmelo-Silver & Azevedo, 2006; Hmelo-Silver, Duncan, & Chinn, 2007; Hmelo-Silver, Marathe, & Liu, 2007). Learning the facts and linking them to everyday understanding requires a solid conceptual framework (Hmelo-Silver, 2004; Hmelo-Silver, Duncan, et al., 2007; Hmelo-Silver, Marathe, et al., 2007; Savery & Duffy, 1995). Thus, for online science learning it is important to know which concepts student do and do not understand. In addition, science courses with a laboratory component are difficult to adapt to an online learning environment and have met with faculty resistance. Bangurah (2004) observed the need

for research into the student online experience across disciplines to determine if some disciplines are better suited for online delivery than others.

Statement of the Problem

A serious problem with online distance education, especially science courses, is student course performance and course completion by community-college students (Boyd, 2004; Carr, 2000). In general, institutional data from community colleges show dropout and non-completion rates for online courses that are well over 50% (York, 2003). In addition, community-college faculty who teach online courses tend to claim that their students are more likely to withdraw or drop out (personal communication, B. Dow, January, 29, 2010; E. Kershisnik, May 19, 2009). Although this evidence is anecdotal, in light of course performance and completion rates, this phenomenon warranted examination.

There is a scarcity of research about community-college students in online science courses (Rowe & Asbell-Clarke, 2008). Consequently, it is difficult for community colleges to enhance student performance or raise these completion rates. Therefore, this research attempted to understand the factors in students' performance of online science courses. The study used quantitative and qualitative methodologies to examine the dispositional and motivational determinants and predictors of academic success in online science courses.

Research Purpose

This research study had two aims. The first aim was (a) to understand the influences of different associational variables such as self-efficacy, self-regulated learning (metacognition), and task value on predicted elaboration, (b) to understand how

negative emotions, such as frustration and boredom, predicted student course satisfaction, and (c) to explore how elaboration and course satisfaction predicted students' and course performance. The second aim was to understand the experiences of community-college students in online science courses.

This study explored how predictive factors such as (a) self-efficacy, (b) task value, (c) the number of online courses, and (c) SRL strategies (metacognitive) in the online environment predict variations in students' levels of (a) elaboration, (b) negative emotions, and (c) course satisfaction, both of which are thought to influence course completion. The research also provided an in-depth study of participants with a common experience, an approach Moustakas (1994) suggested might offer valuable insight. Therefore, this approach provided detailed information on the reasons for students' boredom and frustration (emotional components) with course completion.

This study examined factors related to prior knowledge, task value, SRL strategies (metacognition), and self-efficacy as they pertain to the self-regulation of students in the use of learning strategies (elaboration) in online science courses. Several student attributes were examined, and community-college students' motivation for registering in courses was analyzed.

An analysis of student characteristics and motivations is important because electronic learning physically separates faculty from students. An understanding of students' motivation has become even more important to online learning as opposed to on-campus learning. While age, gender, and employment status are important variables, students' motivation and the subject being taught are essential for teaching and learning (Finnegan, Morris, & Lee, 2009). This knowledge can lead an instructor to match

instructional technology to the background and needs of their learners in order to provide differentiated instruction.

Significance of the Study

The rapid development of the Internet has increased the different avenues of learning for students in community colleges. While increasing enrollment is desirable, there is a growing concern about student retention and quality. The significance of this study is two-fold. By understanding the experiences of students enrolled in specific areas, community colleges can (a) begin to design better courses and (b) create better support services to promote student retention. This research may be beneficial to students, instructors, and administrators involved in online science courses.

Implications of Design

With the proliferation of online learning at community colleges, the literature reports concerns for the creation of learning environments in which students remain motivated, integrated, and interested. This study focused on the motivational beliefs of community college students who take online science courses. Knowledge gained from understanding students' self-regulation and motivations in online science courses may lead to better-designed online courses by (a) assessing the dispositional attributes of successful students (such as task value and self-efficacy), (b) understanding the perspective of the students' learning, and (c) understanding the reasons for students' anxiety, boredom, anger, or frustration (e.g., negative achievement emotions). Further understanding of student motivation and self-regulation can assist in better decision making in curriculum design and assessment of online science courses.

Implications in Learning Strategies

For faculty, knowledge gains from this research can lead instructors to adopt a variety of tailored instructional methods in order to match instructional technology to the background and needs of their learners. For students, information gained from this study, such as what different motivations and learning strategies were being used by science instructors, may potentially help students to develop their own learning skills in new ways. By using both quantitative and qualitative data, the different and complementary dimensions of self-regulation and use of learning strategies in the online environment was explored.

Research Questions

The following research questions were addressed in this study:

Research Question 1: Are participants' self-efficacy, self-regulatory strategies [metacognition], perceived task value, and prior knowledge in online courses statistically significant predictors of elaboration? (See diagram for variables in Figure 1.)

Research Question 2: Are students' achievement emotions (boredom and frustration) statistically significant predictors of their overall course satisfaction? (See diagram for variables in Figure 2.)

Research Question 3: Are the participants' elaboration and course satisfaction in online courses statistically significant predictors of final course grades? (See diagram for variables in Figure 3.)



Figure 1. Variables that may predict elaboration.



Figure 2. Variables that may predict course satisfaction.



Figure 3. Variables that may predict course performance.

Research Question 4: How do community-college students experience or make meaning of their online science courses? What underlying themes describe students' online experiences in community-college science courses?

Research Question 5: What are the reasons associated with course satisfaction of community-college students enrolled in online science courses? What challenges and successes do they experience?

Research Question 6: What are the reasons underlying the inhibitory dimensions, such as boredom and frustration that influence success in an online science course?

Limitations of This Study

The following limitations may have reduced the ability to generalize the findings from this study:

- This study was delimited to students enrolled in online science courses. Thus the findings may not represent students in all online courses at community colleges or students taking online courses at 4-year colleges.
- 2. The study used a convenience sample of students from only two community colleges. Thus, the results may not be generalized (a) to other community

colleges in Illinois and Colorado specifically or in the United States in general or (b) to other types of higher-education institutions.

- 3. The 12 interview participants self-selected themselves to participate in this study and thus constituted a convenience sample rather than one selected randomly. Therefore, the results may not be reflective of other populations.
- 4. Only 12 students agreed to participate in the interview process. This small sample size may not represent the perspectives of other populations; and therefore, the results may not be generalized.

Definition of Terms

Achievement emotions. Achievement emotions are tied directly to achievement activities or outcomes (Pekrun, 2006). The enjoyment of learning something new, boredom with classroom instruction, or frustration and anger when performing difficult tasks are but a few examples of achievement emotions (Pekrun, 2006).

Attrition. Attrition refers to a decline in the number of students over the term of a course, program, institution, or system (Berge & Huang, 2004). In this study, attrition was defined at the course level, such that attrition was operationally perceived as the decline of the number of students over the term in a course.

Course completion. Completers were operationally defined as students who completed their course with a passing grade. Non-completers was operationally defined as those students who (a) were nonstarters—that is, they did not commence work on their course or (b) withdrew from their course.

Continuing motivation. Maehr (1976) defined continuing motivation as a "tendency to return to and continue working on tasks away from the instructional context

in which they were initially confronted" (p. 443). Artino (2009) stated that since 1976, continuing motivation "has been employed as a key behavioral indicator of student motivation" (p. 150) because student motivation cannot be observed directly.

Course Satisfaction. Course satisfaction was defined as how much the student is fulfilled or gratified with his or her learning experience in the course. According to Artino (2009), course satisfaction is "important because this type of self-reflective reaction to learning situations may ultimately influence one's subsequent efforts to learn" (p. 151). Past research from Chiu, Sun, Sun, and Ju (2007), Chyung (2001), and Roca, Chiu, and Martínez (2006) have identified student satisfaction as an important outcome in online settings with end-of-course satisfaction predicting course drop-out rates and intentions to enroll in future online courses.

Distance education. Distance education refers to any type of structured education in which students and instructors are physically separated (Wahlstrom et al., 2003). For the purposes of this study, distance education referred to Internet-based courses delivered totally online.

Elaboration. Elaboration refers to study strategies involving paraphrasing, summarizing, creating analogies, explaining the material to someone else, and generative note taking, such that the learner actually reorganizes and connects ideas (Pintrich, 1999).

Emotions. Emotions are multi-component, coordinated processes of psychological subsystems including affective, cognitive, motivational, expressive, and peripheral physiological processes (Pekrun, 2006). For example, anxiety is related to several components, including apprehensiveness and nervousness (affective component), worry

(cognitive), avoidance motivation (motivational), anxious facial expression (expressive), and peripheral physiological activation (physiological; Pekrun, 2006).

Hybrid courses. Hybrid courses are courses that use both types of instruction: face-to-face and online technology. Common technologies used in hybrid courses are email and course-management platforms (such as Blackboard or WebCt) to teach part of the course (Allen & Seaman, 2007a, 2007b, 2008).

Learning. Learning is a permanent change in a knowledge or skill produced by experience (Weiss, 1990).

Learning strategies. Learning strategies are activities that result in learning (Sankaran, 2001). Copying notes, paraphrasing, outlining, comparing, reading aloud, and discussing course content with classmates are among the learning strategies that allow students to process information (Artino, 2008). Active processing of material leads to mastery of material and hence to academic achievement (Sankaran, 2001).

Metacognition. In Bandura's social-cognitive learning theory framework, metacognition is viewed as a component under the umbrella of SRL (Schraw, Crippen, & Hartley, 2006). Artino (2009) defined metacognition as a "strategy where students monitor, control, and regulate their own cognitive activities and behaviors" (p. 150). Previous research has generally indicated that a student's use of metacognitive activities is an extremely beneficial behavior for long-term retrieval of information, transfer of learning, and overall academic performance (Artino, 2009). Students who engage in metacognitive processes improve their academic performance (Lynch, 2010).

Metacognitive learning strategies. Metacognitive learning strategies are the specific types of learning strategies involved in finding resources to meet the demands of

a particular task (Winne & Perry, 2005). Metacognitive strategies help learners make sense of information and extend their knowledge. Examples of such strategies are planning, monitoring of comprehension, orienting oneself before starting an assignment, collecting resource material, integrating theoretical viewpoints, and assessing one's progress (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006).

Motivation. Schunk, Pintrich, and Meece (2008) defined motivation in education as "a process whereby goal-directed activity is instigated and sustained" (p. 4). As a process, Schunk et al. examined motivation indirectly from actions and inferred activities, such as choice of tasks, effort, and persistence. The level of motivation is reflected in goals, cognitive views, choice of course action, and an outcome for persistence (Bandura, 1997).

Online learning. In this study, online learning was defined as learning that takes place entirely over the Internet (Means, Toyama, Murphy, Bakia, & Jones, 2009). Online courses are defined as courses that involve the use of communication technologies such as e-mail, a Listserv, website, or course-management platform (Blackboard or WebCt), to teach at least 80% of a course (Allen & Seaman, 2007a, 2007b, 2008). Online learning is used interchangeably with e-learning, Internet learning, distance learning, web-based instruction, distance education, and online learning. This definition excludes purely print-based correspondence education, broadcast television or radio, videoconferencing, videocassettes, and stand-alone educational software programs that do not have a significant Internet-based instructional component.

Prior knowledge. Prior knowledge refers to previous experiences that are both education- and work-related (Artino, 2008). Examples of such experiences are previous

coursework, the number of courses related to the area of science, and work-related experiences.

Retention and course completion. Retention refers to continuous student participation in a form of education, or for the purposes of this study, course completion. In this study, retention referred to student enrollment in a course, that is, the individual course-completion rate. Students are considered to be retained in a course if they complete the course with a final passing grade. Retention was operationally defined as the number of learners who start and finish one science course in an academic semester.

Self-efficacy. Self-efficacy refers to a "judgment of one's ability to organize and execute given types of performance" (Bandura, 1997, p. 21). As a result, self-efficacy refers to learners' beliefs in their own capabilities. If learners believe they are capable, then they are more inclined to organize and take the actions that are necessary to attain a high performance and improve their skills (Zimmerman, 2005). The literature contends that students are motivated to persevere if they both employ effective learning strategies and believe that their actions will produce positive outcomes (Bandura, Barbaranelli, Caprara, & Pastorelli, 1996). Thus, self-efficacy is the belief in one's ability to coordinate and execute given levels of performance required to complete a course (Bandura, 1997).

Self-regulated learning (SRL). Drawing on Bandura's work, Zimmerman (1986) defined SRL as the process of "self-generated thoughts, feelings, and actions that are planned and cyclically adapted to the attainment of personal goals" (p. 14). SRL depends on the learner's beliefs and motives. According to Zimmerman, SRL is a proactive, selfdirected process by which self-generated thoughts, feelings, and behaviors are used to reach self-reflection, self-awareness, self-evaluation, intrinsic motivation, and adaptation.

Task value. Task value refers to the extent to which learners find a task interesting, important, and/or valuable (Eccles & Wigfield, 1995). Eccles and Wigfield (2002) elaborated on four components of task value: attainment value, intrinsic value, utility value, and cost. Attainment value is defined as the personal importance of doing well on a task (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). Intrinsic value is defined as the enjoyment that a person derives from performing an activity or the subjective interest that the person has for that particular subject (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). Utility values are beliefs about ability and competency (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). Eccles and Wigfield (2002) conceptualized cost in terms of the negative aspects of engaging in a task, such as fear of failure or success, as well as the amount of effort needed to succeed, and the lost opportunities resulting from making one choice rather than another.

Traditional students. Traditional students are considered to be students between the ages of 18 and 25 who matriculate immediately after high school Boston, Ice, & Gibson, 2011).

Researcher's Perspective

An essential part of a phenomenological approach to qualitative analysis is the concept of bracketing, that is, when researchers review and set aside their own prior experiences and preconceived biases about the phenomenon under study to understand it better through the experiences of the participants. Thus, it was important for me to complete a description of my own experiences as an online student to acknowledge and bring forth my own assumptions and preconceptions during the research process. Therefore, I first discuss my online experiences and thoughts about such experiences,

which present my own perspective on taking an online science course at the communitycollege level.

I first became interested in distance learning when I started my MBA at Colorado State University. Because I was working full-time, traveling extensively to meetings and conferences, and caring for young children at home, I found the idea of attending school at a convenient and flexible time and place appealing. The format also appealed to my sense of independence and ability to self-pace my learning, which was something I learned to develop as an undergraduate.

My first distance-learning courses were videotaped lecture classes associated with an Embanet communication platform. They were standard videotape recordings of the regular, in-person graduate-level management classes offered by the business school. On a weekly basis, I received the videos to view and use for note taking during times that were most convenient to me. Different instructors taught all the courses, yet my learning experiences in the different courses were remarkably similar. The courses were all videotapes of lectures. I watched the tapes, took notes, and completed textbook assignments on my own.

There were both advantages and disadvantages to distance learning through videotapes. Advantages included the ability to plan my own schedule for class attendance that fit around my work and family life. I was able to pause or rewind the tapes as often as necessary to understand a concept. I could fast forward through sections that I already knew well and spend more time on the sections that I was not familiar with or needed to hear several times in order to gain comprehension. In short, I felt that the videotapes were extensions of the material to be covered in the textbooks. The disadvantage I encountered

in this format was that I never was able to interact with other students on a real-time basis during class. My communication was limited only to weekly online chats and course communication with the instructor. I soon found that not all professors communicated as often and as effectively as I would have liked. The most challenging aspect of these classes was that I felt somewhat isolated in my learning. Therefore, I had to form my own class discussions with my friends and close family members around me in order to gain perspective and find my own method for generating the critical thinking and exchange that goes on in the classroom.

In addition to integration, I believe communication with the instructor and my peers became extremely important to my online experience. Not having the advantage of the in-person class in order to have informal conversations and exchanges with the professors, effective e-mail communication became vital to me. Peer-to-peer communication in an online course made a significant difference in how I engaged in the online class.

Most of the courses involved case studies, short assignments, analysis of short articles, and online threaded discussion boards. All of the discussion forums had several options, so I was able to choose the topics in which I was most interested. I could participate in the discussions at my convenience. The asynchronous nature of the format allowed me time to think about what my peers had to say about the issues and concepts. This allowed me more time to think about and write my responses than I would have had if I was in a face-to-face conversation. The best part of this learning was that I felt I was part of a larger class or community of learners. Of particular importance was the realization that my classmates and I could all read the same material and see the many

different resulting perspectives. I also remember how some of my classmates would bring real-world expertise to definitions and concepts that only active members in my field would know about. This made me realize the wealth and depth of expertise as well as intellectual capital of my classmates.

Writing was the primary form of communication in the online environment. Writing took on many forms such as e-mail, synchronous chats, and discussion postings. The higher level courses entailed group course work on Embanet through instant messaging and discussion boards. Real-time communication with my peers who were in different time zones and states with different schedules and backgrounds was both intellectually stimulating and challenging. It was my responsibility to contact the instructor if I had any questions about the assignments. Feedback and communication was both timely and frequent. I learned much from the feedback on the assigned work. I really appreciated the frequent feedback. It assisted me in self-regulating my learning, self-reflection, and use of learning strategies, as well as adjusting my habits. My habits included such lifestyle habits as sleep patterns, doing assignments sooner rather than later, and researching the material as soon as the material was given as an assignment.

From these experiences, I learned that I could learn on my own, in my own time, anywhere, and on a schedule that was already full. I learned I could constantly adjust, self-monitor, plan ahead, and keep pace with the demands of both work and coursework. Multitasking became its own way of life for me. I thrived on it. I felt empowered and intellectually challenged, which lead to even more motivation and desire to excel. I loved figuring things out on my own; the challenges became something I wanted to do. As a result, the personal themes I found from my online experience in my master's program

were (a) online learning experiences are generally different from in-person learning experiences, (b) communication and feedback is critical to the learning experiences, and (c) self-regulation of learning is critical to continued success.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

Distance-education research focuses on the convenience and flexibility of online learning (Allen & Seaman, 2007a; Wahlstrom et al., 2003). Online education is particularly attractive to students who desire more course choices and scheduling flexibility (Wahlstrom et al., 2003). In addition to providing freedom for students, it appeals to adult learners who want professional advancement because of the time constraints faced by this population. Several comparative studies have shown that online learning is as good as traditional classroom instruction (Dutton, Dutton, & Perry, 2001, 2002; Gloster & Doss, 2000; Green & Cifuentes, 2008; Tucker, 2000; Wutoh, Boren, & Balas, 2004). However, because some courses rely more on delivery of content rather than on conceptual understanding, some courses are more effectively designed than others to the online format (Dutton & Dutton, 2005). For this reason, Dutton and Dutton (2005) questioned whether the findings of these studies apply to science courses.

Of concern to distance-learning service providers is student retention. Despite the convenience of online courses, research has indicated distance courses have lower student retention rates, ranging between 10% and 50% (Carr, 2000; Dutton et al., 2002). This has been a significant problem for community colleges with a high proportion of online students because their enrollments determine their federal, state, and local funding. In addition, critics of online learning tend to view such high withdrawal rates as a sign of a course's academic failure (Merisotis & Phipps, 1999).

This literature review examines the attributes of retention and explores the following questions:

1. Which media are used in distance education?

- 2. Who are the theorists on motivation and retention?
- 3. What are the models of student retention?
- 4. What factors constitute success for distance learners?
- 5. What motivation techniques influence course satisfaction?
- 6. What is the relationship between self-efficacy and satisfaction in online science courses?
- 7. What are the relationships among task value, self-efficacy, and emotional states?
- 8. What external pressures influence degree completion (social systems, time pressures, program costs, and other socioeconomic factors)?

The literature review first presents the forms of distance education then discusses the theories of online retention. The section concludes with a discussion of the importance of motivation and self-efficacy in science instruction in community colleges.

Distance Education

Distance education focuses on the delivery of off-site education, where media can include Internet-based systems and network-based technologies (Allen & Seaman, 2007a). Rather than meeting in a classroom, teachers and students communicate by exchanging print or electronic media. Many universities and community colleges are participating in distance education to better serve students and employees (Allen & Seaman, 2007a, 2007b). According to Bambara (2007) online learning is convenient, economical, flexible, and supportive to time schedules of learners. Online courses offer more flexibility in course times, which often appeal to students with career and family commitments because most online courses can be taken when needed and can be self-

paced (Bambara, 2007). Online courses can move faster for some learners partly because the individualized approach allows learners to skip material they already know and understand or to move onto material they want to learn. Another benefit is a learner can work from any location and at any time, that is, online learners can work through training or coursework sessions from anywhere and in their chosen timeframe. This just-in-time benefit can make learning possible for people who would not have been able to mesh coursework with their schedules prior to online learning (Appana, 2008). Time is very important to students, especially for those students who are nontraditional, returning to further their education to better themselves in their current job or to find a better job Kim, Liu, and Bonk (2005). The college experience is not as critical to such a group; therefore, distance education becomes an effective alternative to the traditional college experience. In many cases, distance education can lessen the time of commuting and the frustration of getting to class on time while searching for parking.

Types of Communication in Online Courses

The practice of online communication can be divided into two temporal groups: synchronous and asynchronous (Wahlstrom et al., 2003). The former consists of real-time interactions, generally delivered through web-conferencing or chat rooms. Students and instructors communicate simultaneously. Other examples are telephone conferencing, computer conferencing, and interactive television, all of which occur in real-time. In contrast, in asynchronous technology, participants do not need to interact simultaneously (Wahlstrom et al., 2003). This feature of distance learning provides temporal flexibility because traditional learning requires students and professors to interact concurrently, onsite, up to 29% of the time (Allen & Seaman, 2007a, 2007b).

Forms of Distance-Education Courses

In distance education, students study on their own schedule so they can concentrate on priorities (home, work, or learning). The learning medium is crucial, as teachers and students must interact regardless of time shifts. In higher education, media (also known as *delivery systems*) are varied, ranging from web-enhanced, hybrid/blended courses to completely online courses (T. Bates, 2008; see Table 1). The Internet is the dominant medium, allowing a number of niche content media to work effectively; these allow teachers and students to interact through e-mail, video, audio, teleconferencing, correspondence courses, hybrid courses, and extension courses (Gilbert, 2000). Course delivery can be viewed along a continuum depending on the amount of technology used to facilitate communications and course activities.

Hybrid courses blend online and face-to-face instructional methods, wherein "30 to 80 percent of the course content is delivered online" (Allen & Seaman, 2007a, p. 5). This type of course harnesses the capabilities of the Internet and other types of media, such as textbooks, CDs, DVDs, face-to-face interaction, and interactive video. At the end of the continuum, fully online courses deliver more than 80% of their content online. According to T. Bates (2008), few teaching systems are completely online, and few students study in complete isolation. For instance, students are required, even in fully online courses, to discuss topics with each other and collaborate on projects; students are sometimes encouraged to meet face-to-face with or without the instructor.

Table 1

Type of instruction	Content delivered online	Typical description of course
Traditional	0%	No online technology used. Contents are delivered in writing and verbally.
Web facilitated	1–29%	Uses web-based technology to facilitate what is essentially a face-to-face course, using a course-management system or web pages to post the syllabus and assignments, for example.
Blended/hybrid	30–79%	Blends online and face-to-face delivery. A substantial proportion of the content is delivered online, typically uses online discussions, and has some face-to-face meetings.
Online	80% +	Most or all of the content is delivered online, typically with no face-to-face meetings.

A Comparison of Types of Instruction by Content Delivery

Note. Adapted from "Making the Grade: Online Education in the United States," 2006, by I. E. Allen and J. Seaman, retrieved from http://sloanconsortium.org/publications/survey/index.asp

Characteristics of Online Students

Many types of students enroll in online courses (Gibson, 1998). As a result, it is more difficult to tailor the courses to this diverse student population. To meet student needs, educators should first identify students' demographic and motivational profiles and use the profiles to determine the best manner in which to educate them. Thus, demographics and student motivations should guide pedagogy (Gibson, 1998). The literature divides online students into three strata or categories based on a) demographic/ socioeconomic characteristics, (b) educational goals, and (c) motivational profiles (Oblinger et al., 2001; Rovai, 2003; Rovai et al., 2007). Figure 4 illustrates this division.


Figure 4. Stratifications of online learners.

Demographic Stratification of Online Learners

From a demographic perspective, distance learners are characterized by age, gender, employment status, family income/socioeconomic status, parental educational level, prior educational experience, and parental expectations. These characteristics allow educators and researchers to classify many students as either traditional or nontraditional (Diaz, 2002; Rovai, 2003).

Traditional online learners. Studies have shown that traditional online learners (between 18 and 24 years of age) prefer online communication. Howell, Williams, and Lindsay (2003) described online students as being comfortable performing several tasks at once (multitasking), being less tolerant of communicative delays, and preferring typing to handwriting. Traditional online students were also more comfortable navigating the Internet for information and assembling knowledge from fragments (Oblinger et al., 2001). Hiltz and Goldman (2005) profiled students conducting online education as motivated and in need of an anytime and anyplace mode of education. Further, students

need to be able to express themselves well in writing and have the willingness and ability to collaborate.

Nontraditional online learners. In contrast, nontraditional adult distance learners (over the age of 25) tend to be practical problem solvers, goal and relevancy oriented, and more self-directed and to know the rationale for their learning (Howell et al., 2003; Ross-Gordon, 2003). According to Howell et al. (2003), nontraditional learners are motivated by "professional advancement, external expectations, the need to serve others better, social relationships, escape or stimulation, or pure interest in the subject" (p. 3). Raven and Jimmerson (as cited in Ross-Gordon, 2003) perceived nontraditional learners as goal oriented, responsible, competitive, and self-directed.

T. Bates (2008) characterized the nontraditional adult learner as a lifelong learner or knowledge worker—one, who works full-time, has a family, and has an established social life. Similarly, Howell et al. (2003) profiled nontraditional online students as those who are more constrained by life demands, including "time, scheduling, money and longterm commitment" (p. 3). These lifelong learners take distance-education courses to improve their professional qualifications (T. Bates, 2008). The literature indicated that nontraditional online students tend to feel insecure about their ability to succeed in distance learning; they seek personal contact with the instructor, support services, and technology training more often than do traditional students (Diaz, 2002; Dubois, 1996).

Educational Goal Stratification of Online Learners

The literature indicated significant goal-orientation differences among distance education students. According to Oblinger et al. (2001), there are six categories of distance students:

- Corporate learners are those who use education to upgrade or maintain skills in the workplace. Corporate learners fund their education through the corporations that employ them.
- 2. Professional enhancement learners are largely working adults who make their own educational decisions but need education to advance or switch careers.
- 3. Degree-completion adult learners are largely those working adults who desire to complete a college degree later in life. Such adult learners need to balance work and family priorities with educational goals.
- 4. Most precollege learners are high school students who want to learn online to earn advanced-placement credit toward college. Some of these learners are eager to start earning college credits or take courses not available at their schools.
- 5. Recreational learners are interested in learning for the sake of learning and take personal enjoyment in exploring new topics.
- Remediation and test-preparation learners are either completing the prerequisites for enrollment in a college-level course or are interested in taking an examination to enter a degree program.

Motivational Stratification of Online Learners

Successful online students tend to be self-directed learners, exhibiting a high level of motivation. These students quickly complete their tasks and are comfortable directing their own learning (Cahoon, 1998). They are also highly self-motivated and selfdisciplined; this is important because online learning places a greater responsibility on the learner. Characterizing online students is important if faculty members are to teach to their strengths and improve their weaknesses. This includes tailoring classes to the motivations of the learners. A few studies have categorized online learners using Houle's classification of adult learning (Harsh & Sohail, 2002). According to Houle (1961), adult learners fall into one of three categories. Goal-oriented learners use learning to reach specific objectives, such as learning to solve family problems, learning better business practices, or following an interest (Houle, 1961). Activity-oriented learners participate primarily for the sake of the activity itself, to join a group, or to escape an unhappy situation (Houle, 1961). Learning-oriented learners pursue learning for its own sake; these are lifelong learners (Houle, 1961).

Online Learning in Community Colleges

The primary mission of community colleges is to provide open-access education to all learners. To meet these goals, 90% of community colleges or 2-year public institutions offer distance-education courses (Oblinger & Hawkins, 2005). Allen and Seaman (2007a) found that more than half of all online students in the Midwest were attending 2-year associate's-degree institutions. Thus, the greatest growth in online enrollments was taking place at institutions granting 2-year associate's degrees (Allen & Seaman, 2007a).

Community colleges serve three types of online students: transfer, vocational, and continuing education (Mays, 1998). While transfer students earn credit hours to gain admission to a 4-year institution, vocational students usually are working toward a certification, and continuing-education students may have an interest in some area or want to take a course at a community college to learn or acquire a skill.

Retention of Students

In today's environment, the understanding of retention has become even more complex, particularly with the changing landscapes in learner demography, roles, responsibilities, learning opportunities, needs and perceptions, and modes of instruction and learning (Gibson, 1996). Procedural differences at the institutional level in measuring retention rates vary at community colleges, complicating the issues and often leading to inconclusive results in empirical studies (Gilbert, 2000; Kember, Lai, Murphy, & Siaw, 1944).

There are many student-demographic variables that students and institutions should consider: parental support, parents' education and income, educational goals (Oncu, 2011), precollege academic success, college-preparatory curriculum, and friends attending college. For minority students, background variables include support from the extended family (Erichsen, 2011), church, and community, and previous positive interracial/intercultural contact; for nontraditional students these include support from a spouse and employer (Githens, 2010).

Theories of Student Retention

Scholars have long held an interest in retention rates, in part because remaining in college is a complex human behavior related to status attainment, self-development, and the development of human capital and because college is a place where theory could affect practice (Tinto, 1987). Retention studies are important to institutions because institutions that can maintain or raise their retention rates survive and prosper (Bandura et al., 1996).

Because student retention occurs over time, theoretical models tend to be multifaceted and contain several categories of variables that reflect both student and institutional characteristics. Theories of departure provide an explanation of why students leave college. In contrast, the models of departure identify factors related to retention without explaining why the factors act the way they do. The terms *theoretical models* and *models* are used interchangeably in the literature.

Student-retention models contain a large number of variables, often set in a causal pattern. A variable could either affect retention directly, or some other variable that, itself, indirectly affects retention. For example, high school grades could directly affect rates of retention (e.g., the higher the high school grades, the higher the rate of retention).

While the study of persistence and retention in distance education is not new, the study of e-learning retention is. Most models of retention were based on retention research of campus-based traditional and nontraditional learners. The major theorists were Tinto (1982, 1987) and Bean and Metzger (1985). Boyles (2000) concentrated on retention in the community colleges. According to Bandura (1997), Bandura and Adams developed models that explained student persistence through motivation.

Tinto's Model of Student Integration

According to Tinto's (1975, 1993) model of student integration, college students persisted and remain enrolled in college courses because of their social and academic attachments. Tinto's model explained that students enter college with family, individual attributes, and prior education. They also enter with commitments to staying at their institution until graduating. They enter an academic system characterized by grade performance and intellectual development, which together lead to academic integration

and a social system in which peer-group interactions and faculty interactions lead to social integration. In effect, academic and social integration work together to influence ongoing goal and institutional commitments, and this leads to the decision to remain in or to leave college.

Tinto (1987) claimed that the development of effective educational communities was the key to retention. These communities give students the ability to forge personal bonds with others. Students forge such bonds when the needs and interests of individuals are compatible with the intellectual atmosphere of the institution or its academic culture. Such academic integration was thought to be the result of sharing academic values; social integration is the result of friendships with other students and faculty members. In Tinto's model, a student who does not achieve academic or social integration is likely to leave school.

Tinto's later model (1993), similar to his earlier ones, offered another explanation of student departure: failure to negotiate the rites of passage. According to this theory, students remain enrolled if they separate from their family and high school friends and identify with and assume the values of other students and faculty. The importance of social and academic integration to student progress in distance education is supported by application to different sets of institutions, courses, and students (Kember et al., 1994).

Most studies about the building of online communities have found that academic communities are important to persistence. Harris and Muirhead (2004) examined online community learning and networks and concluded that most studies supported the importance of engagement, bonding, communications, and therefore persistence. Harris and Muirhead found that frequency of exchanges, a strong sense of trust, and efforts to

listen and respond to communication gave online students a sense of community. Communications did not have to pertain to the course, could be driven by the instructors or students, and thus led to bonding and to a sense of belonging (Harris & Muirhead, 2004).

Bean's Model of Retention for Nontraditional Students

In contrast, Bean and Metzger's (1985) student attrition model suggested that students' commitment to learning is a significant predictor of their persistence. Bean and Metzger's model, based on empirical and theoretical studies published in the 1980s regarding turnover in work organizations, evolved into one where the overall structure was based on a psychological model that linked retention (a behavior) with similar past behavior, values, attitudes, and intentions. Bean and Metzger's model differed from Tinto's (1975, 1993) in two important ways: it included that environmental variables (factors outside of the college that might affect retention) and student intentions were found to be the best predictors of student retention.

Bean and Metzger's (1985) model, originally used to describe traditional-age students, stated that background variables, particularly students' high school experiences, educational goals, and family support, influenced the way they behaved in their courses. After matriculation (as in Tinto's [1975, 1993] model), a student interacted with members of the academic and social arena. According to Bean and Metzger, students also interacted in the organizational area and were simultaneously influenced by environmental factors, such as wanting to be with a significant other at another school or running out of money. Students' interaction with the institution led to the development of a set of attitudes about themselves.

To assess students' academic capabilities (as indicated by grade point average), institutional integration, and loyalty to courses, institutions should develop a model of student retention for nontraditional students. Bean and Metzger's (1985) ideas are appropriate as they reduce the emphasis on social-integration factors and because nontraditional (older, working, commuting) students have less interaction with others on campus than do traditional, residential students.

Boyles's Model of Student Retention in the Community College

Reviewing the research and theoretical literature has revealed the complexity and multidimensional nature of persistence and retention. As an example of a model developed to accommodate e-learning in the community college, the model of Boyles (2000) consisted of three sets of variables: background, environmental, and academic. It contained seven singular variables: academic self-confidence, academic integration, academic outcome (grade point average), institutional size, social integration, psychological outcomes, and utility. This model was based primarily on the Bean and Metzger (1985) path model with additional variables such as institutional size, academic self-confidence (Napoli & Wortman, 1998; Webb, 1989), and academic integration (Pascarella & Chapman, 1983). This model was designed to address retention issues that were most relevant at the institutional (particularly the community-college) level.

Student Retention Model for E-Learning

Berge and Huang (2004) developed a model for student online retention with shared and general themes. The model addressed personal, institutional, and circumstantial variables. In personal variables, one emerging theme from recent research was students' learning characteristics: some students are better suited for distance

education than others. Successful distance learners have a high degree of self-regulation and motivation, enjoy self-pacing, and possess an internal locus of control (Tallent-Runnels et al., 2006). Boyd (2004) described students who are best suited for and most likely to succeed in online education as highly motivated, independent, active learners who have good organizational and time-management skills and who adapt well to new learning environments. In institutional variables, Berge and Huang's model proposed that institutions foster integration through support services and management that enhance academic and social experiences of students. In addition, the model advocated better online-support services, staff development, and academic advising. Berge and Huang advocated for easing the transition of students into the institution. In circumstantial variables, Berge and Huang encouraged institutions to assess the perceived utility and satisfaction of students to make improvements.

Success Factors for Students Online

Increasing retention and course satisfaction of online learners is of significant financial and strategic concern both for institutions of higher education and students. By understanding the motivation of students in the online environment, colleges and universities can increase the retention of students taking online courses and hence maximize their revenue and allocate their funding more wisely (Bandura et al., 1996).

Three areas of literature explained many of the psychological, social, and environmental factors that contributed to a student's success in the online environment. These three areas were personal characteristics, motivation, and environmental influences (see Figure 5). Three bodies of literature support the multidimensional aspects of successful online students.



Figure 5. Student-success model of online learning.

Personal Characteristics of Successful Online Students

The first factor that influences online student success is the personal characteristics of the student. The literature indicated that there are many characteristics that influence cognitive activity. For example, Hill, Song, and West (2009) identified epistemological beliefs (views about learning and knowledge), individual learning style, self-efficacy, motivation, and prior knowledge as important personal characteristics.

The first personal factor was individual beliefs. According to Hill, Song, and West (2009) as students' experience the online environment, personal epistemological beliefs about how knowledge is constructed and evaluated changes because the students are reflective thinkers who tend to change and respond to their environment. Tsai and Chuang (2005) found that students with constructivist-oriented beliefs tend to prefer Internet-based learning. Such students want to engage in inquiry learning, work on openended tasks, and link prior knowledge. Students with constructivist-oriented beliefs probably prefer to engage in higher-order metacognitive activities such as examining and monitoring their own ideas (Tsai & Chuang, 2005). In addition, the belief in autonomy and equity found in the online environment seems to be attractive to some learners. For instance, Tait (2000) wrote that some online learners prefer the virtual classroom precisely because they feel more confident and competent to participate in class discussions from a distance, rather than in a conventional classroom, because the conventional classroom could be dominated by the teacher and a few outspoken students.

Personal beliefs influence a wide range of thinking and decision-making processes. For example, Boyd (2004) discussed the importance of students' own initiative, assertiveness, self-discipline and ability to self-regulate as important personal characteristics. Students who are successful have the ability to self-direct their learning and have a "desire for more control over one's learning environment" (Boyd, 2004, p. 35). Successful online students can quickly move through activities; prefer independent, self-paced instruction; and have a high sense of motivation (Boyd, 2004). Successful online students have a good understanding of their ability to manage time, be free of distractions, and plan ahead to distribute their time effectively (Boyd, 2004).

The second factor in success was learners with learning strategies and associated skill levels that make them successful in the online environment (Boyd, 2004). The various techniques used to process information and help make sense of the information include copying notes, paraphrasing, outlining, comparing, reading aloud, and discussing course content with classmates. Associated skill levels include appropriate use of computer technology such as the ability to download and install software, e-mail, navigate well through the Internet, use search engines and databases for library research, and know how to participate in Web-based discussions (Boyd, 2004). Academically,

successful online students have "well-developed writing skills such as spelling, grammar, and a good grasp of basic English" (Boyd, 2004, p. 36).

The third factor was learning styles, such as image or analytic-oriented students (Hill et al, 2009). Grasha (1996) defined learning styles as personal qualities that influence a student's ability to acquire information, interact with peers and the teacher, and otherwise to participate in learning experiences. Different students tend to process information in different ways.

Only a few studies have been conducted on the relationship of learning styles to success in a distance-education environment (Diaz & Cartnal, 1999; Graff, 2003). Saba (1999) concluded that distance courses require students to take greater responsibility for their learning by identifying their own learning style. Dille and Mezack (1991) used Kolb's Learning Style Inventory to measure student learning-style preferences in bipolar dimensions and found students who needed fewer concrete learning experiences and preferred to look for abstract concepts performed better in community-college telecourses than did students exhibiting other tendencies on the Learning Style Inventory.

A fourth factor cited by researchers such as Romainville (1995) and Bessant (1997) was that successful students are more aware of the learning strategies and procedures they use. The researchers found a significant correlation between learning strategy and learning results. Online distance learners needed to manage their learning much more and in this way often were required to be more self-directed and monitor their own thinking and actions as they work toward the objectives of the course.

Zimmerman (2005) suggested that learning motivation, learning strategy, selfefficacy, and attribution of success and failure were all important psychological variables

in this kind of learning. Artino (2008) suggested, through several multiple-regression analyses, that task-value beliefs were the most consistent indicator of online-course satisfaction and metacognition and that students who reported being bored or frustrated with a class were less likely to be motivated.

Self-Determination Theory: Intrinsic and Extrinsic Motivation

Martens, Bastiaens, and Kirschner (2007) stated, "Motivation appears to be the heart of the matter in constructivist learning" (p. 82). Two types of motivation—intrinsic and extrinsic—seem to contribute to successful online learning (Ryan & Deci, 2000). Intrinsic motivation refers to doing something for the inherent satisfaction of the activity itself, whereas extrinsic motivation is the performance of an activity to attain some separable outcome (Martens et al., 2007).

Intrinsic motivation is the tendency to engage in tasks because the learner finds the activity interesting and enjoyable (Martens et al., 2007). Because learners find the activity interesting, they are influenced in a positive way, according to individual preferences. For example, the learner may be more self-regulating, more focused, concentrate more, and use a repertoire of strategies to manage the challenges. Hence, the combination of skills, activity, and perceived challenge of the activity are important for sustaining the motivation (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

Ryan and Deci (2000) proposed the self-determination theory, in which they integrated two perspectives of human motivation: maintaining an optimal level of stimulation and having a basic need for competence. Ryan and Deci argued that a learner would seek challenging activities and find these activities intrinsically motivating because they have a basic need for competence. In addition, learners with more intrinsic

motivation would tend to persist at difficult problems and learn from their mistakes because of their engrossment in the activity (Pajares, 2002). Intrinsic motivation is central for the integration process through which elements of the learner's existing internal knowledge are integrated with new knowledge. Intrinsic motivation is a critical component of a learner's task-value beliefs (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002).

In contrast, extrinsic motivation is the tendency to engage in tasks outside of an individual's own interest level for a reward, such as money or grades (Martens et al., 2007). The rewards provide satisfaction and pleasure, which the task itself may not provide. Extrinsically motivated learners will work on an assignment even when they have little interest in it, or may find it boring because of the anticipated satisfaction of receiving the reward (e.g., passing an examination or getting a good grade). An extrinsically motivated learner may or may not get any pleasure from working on or completing a task. Extrinsic motivation can also be negative, such as avoidance of a bad grade or avoidance of the consequences of getting the bad grade. However, the external reward will keep such a learner on task even when the task holds little or no interest (Martens et al., 2007).

Flow Theory

Csikszentmihalyi (1988) defined intrinsically motivated behavior in terms of the degree of engagement a learner has with that activity. For example, expert chess players, composers, or writers describe their experiences as being in a fully engaged state. In this state, individuals characterize themselves as having an integrated feeling of being immersed in and carried by an activity with all their attention. Flow is only possible when people believe tasks that need to be performed in a given situation match their abilities to

master those challenges (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). Skills, activity, and perceived challenges of the activity are important to achieve flow. Flow is seen as the ultimate in SLR. Through flow, the ability to concentrate and perform is very much enhanced.

Motivation and Performance of Distance-Education Students

The link between academics and motivation was demonstrated by Visser, Plomp, and Kuiper (1999) after being investigated in a study. Given that learners have a variety of educational needs, they may face a variety of motivators, ranging from formal pressures (e.g., job and family) to personal interests and idiosyncrasies (Krentler & Willis-Flurry, 2005; MacBrayne, 1995). Aviv, Erlich, and Ravid (2004) presented several reasons why distance learners appreciate the online environment, such as connectivity and support from others. The most frequent reasons cited in the study by Aviv et al. were career, family, work, and study.

Among distance learners, motivation was mentioned several times as a factor in student success (Hill et al., 2009; Tyler-Smith, 2006). Motivation has been shown to predict academic success in both face-to-face and distance education (Tyler-Smith, 2006). For instance, Y. Wang, Peng, Huang, Hou, and Wang (2008) suggested that important psychological characteristics of distance learners include learning motivation, self-efficacy, attributions, and learning strategy. Y. Wang et al.'s study of 135 distance learners found that self-efficacy had an indirect positive predictable effect on learning results. Y. Wang et al. further demonstrated that learning motivation was associated with positive and predictable effects on learning results.

A review of distance-education literature revealed that learners tend to be nontraditional and constrained by adult responsibilities but that their motivational style is

not well understood and presents a somewhat contradictory picture. Qureshi, Morton, and Antosz (2002) found that distance-education students were less motivated than their oncampus counterparts. In contrast, Dutton et al. (2002) found online and traditional students were likely to have the same motivation to complete a course. Recently, in a study with 72 online English students, Y. Wang et al. (2008) reported that self-efficacy had a moderating effect and significantly (23%) explained positive performance. However, the picture becomes less clear because moderating variables such as course expectations; professors' empathy, time, skill deficiencies; and the learners' experience online complicate inconclusive findings research on the nature of the online academic self-concept (Gibson, 1996).

Zhang and Nunamaker (2003) suggested that the ability to manage one's own learning is closely connected with having both strong computer skills and motivation. Joo, Bong, and Choi (2000) cited learners' computer self-efficacy as an important factor in network learning results. Jegede, Taplin, Fan, Chan, and Yum (1999) carried out comparative research on attributes of distance learners, dividing students into a high grades/scores group and a low-grades group. They discovered learners with the need for high grades showed more self-reliance and confidence, and this attribute was related to use of learning strategies that improved learning results.

Motivation and Self- Regulation

Students who choose distance education need a high level of self-regulation and motivation (Artino, 2008; Kramarski & Gtuman, 2006). Self-regulation was defined as "self-generated thoughts, feelings, and actions that are planned and cyclically adapted to the attainment of personal goals" (Zimmerman, 2005, p.14)

The main components or subareas that fall under the umbrella of self-regulation are motivation (self-efficacy), metacognition, and cognition (Schraw et al. 2006; see Figure 6). Motivation involves "beliefs and attitudes that affect the use and development of cognitive and metacognitive skills" (Schraw et al., 2006, p. 112). Metacognition plays an important role in self-regulation and includes skills that enable learners to understand and monitor their cognitive processes (Zimmerman, 2005). Cognition includes skills necessary to encode, memorize, and recall information.



Figure 6. Components of self-regulation. Adapted from "Promoting Self-Regulated in the Science Education: Metacognition as part of a Broader Perspective on Learning," by G. Schraw K. H. Crippen, and K. Hartley, 2006, Research in Science Education, 36, p. 111-1139. Copyright 2006 by Springer.

Motivation and Self-Efficacy

Howell et al. (2003) described online students as learners who work by themselves, with little or no opportunities for peer or face-to-face interaction. These students deal more often with abstract and ambiguous situations than students who take face-to-face courses. To be successful, these students need to be responsible, be in control of their studies, and maintain a sense of self-worth and self-efficacy. Self-efficacy is thought to play a large role in the amount of effort a person gives, the amount of determination a person presents in the face of challenging tasks, and a person's persistence in coursework (Bandura, 1991, 1997; Bandura & Adams, 1977; Bandura, Adams, & Beyer, 1977). Self-efficacy allows an individual to develop self-perceptions of capability that become extended into the goals they pursue and to the control they are able to exercise over their environments.

Self-efficacy has been defined as a person's confidence in his or her ability to organize and execute a given course of action to accomplish a task (Bandura, 1997). For instance, an individual with high self-efficacy feels capable and believes in his/herself. This belief in self-capabilities allows individuals to set higher goals for themselves and be more firmly committed or motivated to keep to such goals (persist). Hence, selfefficacy contributes to higher levels of motivation and persistence (Bandura, 1997).

Bandura, Reese, and Adams (1982) viewed individual learning in terms of internal beliefs, behaviors, and the environment, influences thought to be reciprocal and interactive in that each would influence the others. Behavior and self-regulation processes are best predicted through the combined influence of one's belief in the ability to perform a task (self-efficacy) and the results anticipated from having performed the tasks (outcomes expectancy; Bandura, 1991, 1997; Bandura & Adams, 1977; Bandura, Adams, et al., 1977; Bandura & Bandura, 1995).

There are four major sources that influence the development or formation of selfefficacy in an individual: (a) past experiences or performances (mastery), (b) observations (vicarious experiences), (c) social or verbal persuasion, and (d) internal judgments individuals make about themselves (Artino, 2006). The most important influential source of self-efficacy is mastery experiences (Bandura, 1997).

According to Bandura (1997), self-efficacy is thought to vary in strength and level depending on the individual learner. Consequently, some learners have a strong sense of self-efficacy and others do not. For example, learners with a strong sense of self-efficacy believe they would be effective even in the most difficult tasks, whereas others believe that they are only efficacious on easier tasks. In addition, Bandura described some selfefficacy beliefs to be broad in range, that is, to encompass many situations, whereas others have a narrow range of such beliefs.

Bandura hypothesized that high self-efficacy beliefs can powerfully influence the level of accomplishment, which is in part due to perceived self-efficacy. Perceived selfefficacy is defined as learners' beliefs about their own capabilities to perform a task (Bandura, 1977). In short, self-efficacy—or the belief that learners have about their capabilities—determines how learners behave. Bandura recognized that what learners believe about their capabilities, rather than what they actually do or could do, was a better predictor of accomplishment (Pajares, 2002). A high sense of self-efficacy would allow a learner to create positive feelings of capability, to want to give greater effort, and to persevere in the face of challenges. The amount of self-efficacy learners have helps determine how much they adjust their knowledge and skills to different situations. As a result, confident learners anticipate successful outcomes. The higher the self-efficacy those learners have, the more likely they are to approach a difficult task as a challenge to be mastered. The perseverance associated with self-efficacy is also likely to lead to greater persistence and accomplishment, which raises self-perception or self-appraisal even further. A learners' self-efficacy influences three major areas: confidence, the amount of effort, and emotional states.

Confidence is tied to performance and accomplishment (Bandura, 1997). In online education, learning confidence seems to exert an indirect effect on accomplishment by affecting the level of learning strategies used by the learner (Y. Wang et al., 2008). Learners are more positive about working on a task if they believe the task can be done successfully and will avoid or reduce their effort and energy on tasks if they believe they will not succeed (Y. Wang et al., 2008). On the other hand, learners who have high selfefficacy and believe they can succeed will put more energy into their efforts and use a repository of skills to achieve what they believe can be done. The degree of self-efficacy can influence the choices a learner can make with respect to the selection of tasks. Learners usually tend to select a task or activity in which there is some feeling of competence and confidence, while avoiding tasks about which they feel unsure (Pajares, 2002). An overestimation of self-efficacy, beyond one's ability, may lead to a tendency to overestimate one's ability to complete tasks, which can lead to failure and reduced selfefficacy. The ideal level of self-efficacy is slightly above one's ability, which encourages learners to tackle challenging tasks and gain valuable experience. Thus, ideal learning is thought to occur when a balance exists between challenge and competence.

The amount of effort a learner attempts on a task relates to self-efficacy. A learner with a strong sense of personal competence will most likely approach a task as challenging and something to be mastered rather than a threat to be avoided (Pajares, 2002). Moreover, according to Pajares (2002), such learners are able to more "quickly recover their sense of efficacy after failures or setbacks, and attribute failure to insufficient effort or deficient knowledge and skills that are acquirable" (p. 5). A learner with high self-efficacy will more likely be able to persevere, with a greater degree of

effort in the process of confronting obstacles, and be more resilient in the face of challenging situations.

A learner's emotional states are also influenced by the level of self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997). A learner with a strong sense of self-efficacy will approach challenging tasks with feelings of calmness and composure (Pajares, 2002). The opposite is thought to occur in a learner with a low sense of self-efficacy; such learners believe things are more difficult than they actually are, thereby producing negative emotional states such as frustration, anxiety, apprehension, stress, and depression. Negative internal feelings could lead to a sense of hopelessness, which would lead to a confined or restricted vision of how to solve a problem. When learners experience negative thoughts and fears about their capabilities, it can lower their perceptions of self-efficacy and trigger feelings of agitation and fear. People live in their own psychological environments that are primarily of their own making (Bandura, 1997).

The concept of self-efficacy also helps explain the discordance between learners' capabilities and accomplishments (Pajares, 2002). For example, many highly capable learners' who suffer from low self-efficacy may not accomplish as much as learners' possessing a modest range of skills but higher self-efficacy because the low self-efficacy makes the learners feel that things are more difficult than they really appear.

Self-Efficacy and Outcome Expectancy

The concept of self-efficacy put forth by Bandura (1997) centers on a learner's expectancies for success. There are two types of expectancy beliefs: outcome expectations and efficacy expectations. Outcome expectations are related to the belief that certain kinds of behaviors will lead to certain types of outcomes (Eccles & Wigfield,

2002). In contrast, efficacy expectations are associated with beliefs about whether one can effectively perform the behaviors necessary to produce the outcome, such as, "I can practice hard enough to do well on a test." According to Eccles and Wigfield (2002), these two types of behavior are different because a learner can suppose a certain behavior will produce a certain outcome (outcome expectancy) but may doubt he or she can perform that behavior (efficacy expectation).

Both self-efficacy and outcome expectancy are part of the cognitive process that precede one's action because self-efficacy is a perception of oneself capably performing a behavior, while outcome expectance is the perception of the purposefulness and meaningfulness of doing that behavior. These two types of cognitive perceptions subsequently influence the person's actual performance of a task. Self-efficacy influences the choices people make, their aspirations, how much effort they put into achieving the task, and how long they persevere in the face of difficulties (Bandura & Adams, 1977; Bandura, Adams, et al., 1977). Bandura, Adams, et al. (1977) demonstrated that adults with high self-efficacy tend to have higher, stronger, and greater expectations of outcomes. Bandura, Adams, et al.'s research also found that self-efficacy could be an accurate predictor of performance on tasks of varying difficulty with different threats or obstacles. Outcome expectancy influences the amount of effort one puts into achieving a task, the amount of satisfaction one derives from completing the task, and one's eagerness to move on to a similar or more difficult task.

Academic retention and success are linked to the ability and willingness of students to use effective learning strategies (Nicholls, 1984), and this is a reflection of their own self-efficacy (Bandura, 1997; Bandura et al., 1982). Self-efficacy and

attribution also have a positive effect on learning results and are connected to motivation and learning strategy. Learners with high self-efficacy are more confident and have more ambitious learning objectives. This often means that learners participate more actively in learning and use certain learning strategies to achieve their objectives. This, in turn, may improve their learning results. Attribution refers to learners' cognition and explanation of their learning behavior, and this explanation is closely correlated with the learner's motivation and self-efficacy (Gibson, 1996). Therefore, it can be hypothesized that if a distance learner attributes the failure or success of learning to internal factors such as effort or competence; it may be possible to use this to modify their learning motivation, confidence, and concept of distance learning. This also can be a vehicle for improving self-efficacy.

Bandura's Social Cognitive Theory of Learning

Social-cognitive theory stresses the idea that human cognition plays a critical role in learners' beliefs and capability to interpret and plan alternative strategies (Pajares, 2002). The ability to plan alternative strategies, choose a course of action, and make a decision to change behaviors comes from the learner's prior experiences, his or her estimations of his or her skills and knowledge, and self-regulation (Bandura, 1991; Pajares, 2002). According to Pajares (2002), self-efficacy beliefs can predict "how much effort people will expend on an activity, how long they will persevere when confronting obstacles, and how resilient they was in the face of adverse situations" (p. 5).

According to Bandura, learning occurs through a reciprocal and dynamic interplay of personal, behavioral, and environmental influences (Foust, 2008; see Figure 7). Personal factors include a learner's beliefs, expectations, attitudes, and prior



Figure 7. Bandura's social-cognitive theory. Adapted from "Learning Strategies, Motivation, and Self-Reported Academic Outcomes of Students Enrolled in Web-Based Coursework," by R. A. Foust, 2008, unpublished doctoral dissertation, Wayne State University, Detroit, MI.

knowledge; these characteristics influence the choices that was made and the outcomes of learning. Learners are viewed as proactive, self-organizing, self-regulating, and self-reflecting entities rather than just reactive entities (Pajares, 2002).

Behavioral factors include prior performance and aspects of learning, such as the social and physical environment (the types of resources available, interactions, and physical settings). For instance, learners can develop and strengthen a sense of self-efficacy through social persuasions and interactions with peers or mentors (Pajares, 2002); verbal statements from others can come in the form of verbal judgments that empower and encourage a learner's sense of self-efficacy.

Environmental factors are related to the students' actions, choices, and interactions such as quality of instruction, teacher feedback, access to information, and help from peers and parents. For instance, a lack of direct support and one-on-one student interaction may lead a learner to develop feelings of isolation (Tinto, 1975). Thus, a lack of class support, such as financial aid, may lead students to consider not persisting.

Self-Regulated Learning and Metacognition

Metacognition is a self-regulatory strategy that an individual can use to examine and think about his or her learning process along the lines of how and when to use various resources such as budgeting time, monitoring effort, and planning (Schraw et al., 2006; Zimmerman, 2005). Zimmerman (2005) stated that metacognition is commonly "construed as the awareness individuals have of their personal resources in relation to the demands of particular tasks, along with the knowledge they possess of how to regulate their engagement in tasks to optimize goal-related processes and outcomes" (p.752). Metacognition, for example, may include a student thinking, "What will I need to do well on this exam?" or "I am going to study 10 hours or perhaps I'm going to study a particular area." Those individuals, who typically do well, usually engage their thought processes about how much time it takes to learn. Students with a high degree of metacognition are better able to assess the demands of a specific learning situation and then select strategies that are most appropriate for that situation (Schraw et al., 2006).

There are three components to metacognition: planning, monitoring and evaluation (Schraw et al., 2006). Planning involves selecting effective and appropriate strategies such as goal setting, budgeting time, and including relevant background information (Schraw et al., 2006). Individuals who can plan their actions ahead of task performance generally can progress well. Monitoring comprises self-testing skills necessary to control learning, such as individual test items, as well as the overall test questions, such as how do students approach individual items in the context of the overall

test when students are faced with actual tests. Evaluation involves revising goals and reevaluating personal goals.

Taken together, metacognition, with its several components, involves how an individual manages him- or herself when learning something (Schraw et al., 2006). Metacognition employs management of resources but more importantly involves the undertaking of a higher order self-management by individuals, such as determining what they need to learn and how they want to learn it and then making a plan in order to learn the material (task; Schraw et al., 2006).

Self-Regulated Learning and Self-Efficacy

An important part of Bandura's theory (1977) is the idea that self-efficacy of learners is able to self-regulate their learning. There are numerous studies indicating that self-efficacy beliefs causally influence learners' regulatory processes in academiclearning strategies (Schunk & Schwartz, 1993), academic time management (Britton & Tessor, 1991), resisting adverse peer pressures (Bandura et al., 1996), and selfmonitoring (Bouffard-Bouchard, Parent, & Larivee, 1991).

Self-regulation is defined as self-directed change influenced by the environment. Self-regulation suggests that learners have the ability to control their learning by being able to modify their own cognitive practices in response to the environment and personal factors (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006; Zimmerman, 2005). Learners are thought to want to make sense of their experiences through a combination of their own self-beliefs, selfreflection, and self-evaluation. After self-reflection, the learner is then able to alter their thinking and behavior proactively. Thus, SRL involves a triadic reciprocal exchange involving personal, behavioral, and environmental influences (Pajares, 2002).

SRL suggests that learners are partly intrinsically motivated and strategically practice cognitive processes with a certain goal in mind (Winne & Perry, 2005). Strategic practices are associated with the way learners approach challenging problems, specifically by choosing from a range of techniques they believe are best suited to the situation and applying them properly (Winne & Perry, 2005). According to Pintrich (1995), the important difference between a self-regulated learner and another student is that a self-regulated learner is "aware of her loss of attention and comprehension and go back and repair her deficiency by rereading the material" (p. 6). In short, learners will adjust their responses to stimuli and are moved by reflection, which then triggers the learners to construct their meaning (Zimmerman, 2005).

SRL has been shown to be moderated by varying degrees of the learner's own sense of perceived self-efficacy, prior experiences, metacognition, emotions, task value, elaboration, and interest levels (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006; Zimmerman, 2005). What differentiates effective from ineffective self-regulation is both the quality and quantity of the strategies that are implemented by the learner (Zimmerman, 2005). There are three general strategies that are employed by students involved in SRL: cognitive strategies, self-regulatory strategies in cognition control, and resource management strategies (Pintrich, 1999). However, no self-regulatory strategy will work equally well in all circumstances or all individuals. Self-regulation requires continuous adaptation by the learner depending on the context (Zimmerman, 2005).

Self-Regulation and Cognition

In cognitive strategies, SRL learners use primarily three main types of strategies: rehearsal, elaboration, and organization (Pintrich, 1999). Rehearsal strategies refer to

approaches such as saying the words out-loud, or highlighting or underlying text items. Rehearsal strategies help the learner select information from lists or text material and keep information in working memory (Pintrich, 1999). Second, elaboration strategies involve paraphrasing, summarizing, creating analogies, explaining the material to someone else, and generative note-taking, where the learner actually reorganizes and connects ideas (Pintrich, 1999). Third, organizational strategies involve such approaches as outlining the text material, selecting the main idea from the text, and sketching a map of important ideas.

In self-regulatory behavior in SRL, there are three main methods used by learners to control cognition: planning, monitoring, and regulating. Planning seems to help the learner prepare how they are going to approach the material and also seems to activate the use of prior knowledge to more easily organize and comprehend the material. Different approaches to planning include generating questions before reading the text, setting goals for studying, and skimming the text before reading.

Monitoring strategies entail the use of self-corrective approaches that warn the learner of impending cognitive failure against some goal or criteria. For example, monitoring could range from learners tracking their own attention while reading or listening to a lecture, self-testing with use of questions to check understanding, and using test-taking strategies (such as time management and monitoring their speed in answering problems) during an examination (Pintrich, 1999).

Regulating strategies in SRL are methods such as reviewing and rereading material in order to monitor comprehension or slowing down the reading pace in order to

comprehend the material better. Such methods are thought to correct and repair understanding in areas where there is a gap, thereby enhancing learning.

A person's willingness to undertake and persist with their self-regulating efforts depends especially on self-efficacy, which refers to the beliefs about their capability to plan and manage (Zimmerman, 2005). For example, one of the ways learners can self-monitor is by making comparisons—not to other students but to their own performance (Pintrich, 1995). By focusing on their personal performance, learners can focus on the mastery of the material rather than competing with others. If learners can concentrate on their own learning and begin to see how their effort can make a difference in their performance, then their self-efficacy will improve and they may become less anxious about tests (Pintrich, 1995). Thus, the SRL view turns the teacher to facilitation rather than transmission of knowledge by creating an environment that encourages intrinsic motivation and gives learners a sense of belonging in that environment (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006).

Self-Regulated Learning in the Online Environment

SRL leads researchers to understand, in part, the how behind the online learner's ability to acquire knowledge and skills in the online class (Artino, 2008; Artino & Stephens, 2009). Some students tend to self-regulate more than others because they are more aware of what is meaningful for them (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006). Students, whose goals are consistent with their own values, needs, and interests, are more capable of sustaining themselves and of attaining goals (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006). In addition, sometimes learners, in response to task failure, adjust by becoming more aware of other options or paths that would allow them to be successful (Shah & Kruglanski,

2000, p. 104). These newly generated ways of doing assignments allow the learner to see other means of attainment previously not recognized. As a result, despite initial failure, learners may become aware of new ways to make goals more possible.

Artino's (2008) model for online learners' motivation is based on Bandura's (1997) social-cognitive model. Both models see the learner as an active agent who self-regulates in order to fit someone else's expectations (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006). The adaptive nature of SRL is partially due to the feedback learners receive from their environment, peers, and instructor (Schunk, 1989). Schunk (1989) found that some learners had an adjustment system that modified their potential achievement and self-efficacy as a result of feedback. Active learning leads to knowledge, which has personal meaning to the learner, and encourages self-monitoring, which results in learners regulating their learning. The two models also agree that meaning and interpretation are both heavily influenced by prior knowledge.

At the same time, the two models differ in their emphasis on the learning environment or context of the learner's ability to self-regulate. In Artino's (2008) model, more emphasis is placed on the influence of the learning environment on the learner's emotions and behaviors. Prior knowledge is used to interpret the information and construct meaning from the online environment, which influences adaptive behavior and emotions (Schunk, 1989).

Second, in contrast to Bandura's (1997) model, Artino's (2008) SRL model suggests that personal beliefs, emotions, academic behaviors, and use of learning strategies are influenced by the learning environment or context (e.g., an online classroom or course environment). The learning environment affects both the student's

learning and specific aspects of self-regulation (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006). Moreover, consistent with social-cognitive theory, Artino's (2008) model assumes that students evaluate learning environments differently and perceive them in their own way. As a result, distance learners perceive and experience the same online environment/context differently. The outcome is that distance learners' subjective perceptions of the environment shape their beliefs, emotions, and academic behaviors (Roeser & Gehlbach, 2002). However, this is not to suggest that the students' subjective perceptions of the environment are permanent or static; the formed perceptions—as well as the objective environment itself—can change with students' thoughts, feelings, and actions (Bandura, 1997).

A Model for Self-Regulated Learning Online and Task Value

The model of SRL proposed by Artino (2008) in the online environment has three main components: the influence of personal factors, self-regulation, and the learning environment. Pintrich (2000) and Zimmerman (2005) also suggested these components in their models. Duncan and McKeachie (2005) argued that personal components of self-regulation are not static traits but rather that "motivation is dynamic and contextually bound and . . . learning strategies can be learned and brought under the control of the student" (p. 117). Consequently, students' motivations and emotions can change from course to course and vary depending on their interest and their sense of self-efficacy (Duncan & McKeachie, 2005). For instance, the more value a course has to a student in terms of the student's sense of future use the more that student's motivation would be enhanced. In addition, Duncan and McKeachie suggested that a learner's use of strategy

would vary depending on the nature of the academic problem, such as multiple-choice versus essay questions.

Depending on the nature of the online course and its relevance to individual students, the extent to which students use adaptive self-regulatory behaviors may vary (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006). For example, a student majoring in pharmacy or premedicine and completing an online course in pharmacology might value the course more than a non-pharmacology or non-science major would because pharmacology students perceive the course to be of practical use and thus pertaining to their future employment. As a result, the pharmacy student might be more inclined to be more adaptive and to take advantage of learning strategies, such as actively linking new information to prior knowledge (elaboration) and using those strategies in metacognition (e.g., planning, goal setting, and monitoring of comprehension). Thus, the student's perception of the future usefulness of the course, or task value, can influence self-regulatory perceptions and behaviors online.

Task value is particularly important to the student's ability to self-regulate learning (Zusho, Pintrich, & Cuppola, 2003). Artino and Stephens (2009) studied 481 undergraduates learning about aviation physiology in an online course and found task value to be important to SRL. Specifically, students who reported that they were planning to become aviators upon graduation from the academy reported higher mean scores on measures of task value and self-efficacy than did their nonaviator counterparts. Effect sizes for the differences were moderate (Cohen's d = 0.60 and 0.56 for task value and metacognition, respectively; Cohen, 1988).

In addition, the online-learning environment may have unique features that influence personal perceptions and behaviors. In a descriptive case study of six graduate students in an online technology course, Whipp and Chiarelli (2004) found that some components of the online environment, such as instructor support, peer support, and course design, were influenced by students' SRL strategy use. For instance, students stated that the constant presence of the teacher and peers in the online-discussion forums was an incentive for continued participation in the discussions. Furthermore, the results revealed variations of traditional help seeking and peer-assistance behaviors that seemed to result, in part, from the unique behavior of the student in the online classroom. For example, several students regularly used their peers' online discussion posts to plan and shape their own work (Whipp & Chiarelli, 2004).

Consistent with Whipp and Chiarelli's (2004) findings, Artino's (2008) selfregulated model highlights specific features of the online environment and its relationship to important aspects of academic self-regulation. Indeed, the association between the environment and behaviors are thought to work together to enhance one another. This synergy between the environment and online behaviors means that not only does the environment influence students' behaviors but also that those students' behaviors actually influence aspects of the environment. For example, students can find extra time to study online materials and use online tools such as online discussion boards, chats, and e-mail (Dabbagh & Kitsantas, 2005). In essence, the importance of the online instructional environment and its influence on components of self-regulation are critical for understanding how students learn and perform online (Whipp & Chiarelli, 2004).

The Influences of Emotion on Self-Regulation

Learners' emotions have the ability to influence the amount of self-regulation that occurs (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006). Studies show that learner' perceptions of positive or negative environmental cues and their interpretation of the experience can affect their achievement. Boredom, anxiety, hopelessness, and anger have a negative impact on selfregulation, unless such emotions can be somehow mediated by the learner (Boekaerts & Cascallar, 2006). In contrast, positive emotions such as joy, feelings of relaxation, and relief can increase self-regulation and lead to a higher level of achievement.

In situations where the activity is perceived as unfamiliar and challenging and is relevant to the learner, intense emotions can arise and emotions may range from highly positive to highly negative, that is, from high levels of excitement to high levels of anxiety towards the new challenge (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005). Depending on the strength of emotions, subsequent actions generated by the students' thought may range from a determination to invest mental energy in the learning process to the adoption of coping strategies to protect well-being and survive the challenge. In contrast, if the activity is perceived as challenging and unusual but of little relevance to the learner, then the student's emotions may lead the learner to either ignore the challenge or quit the activity altogether. In any case, emotional processes have some impact on the learning process (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005).

Another body of literature on emotions related to learning is the work on types of emotions (Pekrun, Goetz, Titz, & Perry, 2002). This literature is extensive but one gets the impression that test anxiety is the only emotion that can occur in the learning environment. The research by Pekrun et al. (2002) and Linnenbrink and

Pintrich (2002) has revealed a broad range of emotions that fall into at least two broad categories: (a) positive emotions (e.g., relief, hope, pride) and (b) negative emotions (e.g., anger, envy, sadness).

Underlying the research on students' emotions is the notion of two different learning environments: independent and social learning situations. In an independent learning situation, such as the online environment, socially oriented emotions are selfdirected rather than directed at other people (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005). Examples of emotions that occur in independent learning environments are enjoyment of the onlinelearning experience, hopes of success, pride, and shame. In a social learning situation, other-directed emotions, such as gratitude, envy, sympathy, admiration, may also arise in addition to self-directed emotions.

Personal Motivational Beliefs and Perceptions

Online students must be motivated to know how and when to employ learning strategies (Pintrich & De Groot, 1990). Artino's (2008) model identified two motivational beliefs. First, students' self-efficacy for learning is important in both traditional and online learning environments (Bandura, 1997). Second, the extent to which students value learning determines the emphasis they place on their task-value beliefs (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002). The extent to which a student relates task value to a particular subject, that is to say, the meaning and interpretation, is heavily influenced by prior knowledge and future career aspirations.

Self-Efficacy Beliefs

In general, highly self-regulated students tend to have greater self-efficacy for learning than those with less-adaptive self-regulatory skills (Schunk, 2005a, 2005b). With
this in mind, several investigations have studied self-efficacy and how it relates to other important variables in online contexts. Generally speaking, when compared to their counterparts with lower perceived self-efficacy—efficacious students report fewer negative achievement emotions such as anxiety, boredom, and frustration (Artino & Stephens, 2009); a greater use of SRL strategies (Artino & Stephens, 2009; Joo et al., 2000), greater satisfaction with their learning experience (Artino, 2006, 2008; Lim, 2001), increased likelihood of enrolling in future online courses (i.e., improved continuing motivation; Artino, 2006; Lim 2001), and superior learning and performance (Joo et al., 2000; A. Wang & Newlin, 2002). Such empirical findings support the theoretical links between students' self-efficacy beliefs and their achievement emotions, SRL behaviors, and academic outcomes, as suggested in the conceptual model (Bandura, 1997).

Task-Value Beliefs

Eccles and Wigfield (2002) defined task value as the extent to which students find a task interesting, important, and/or useful. Like perceived self-efficacy, task-value beliefs are hypothesized to positively impact students' learning and performance. According to Schunk (2005 a, 2005b), "students with greater personal interest in a topic and those who view the activity as important or useful are more likely to use adaptive self-regulatory strategies" (p. 87) when studying a subject. Over the past decade, a few researchers have used task value as a predictor of adaptive outcomes in online settings. The findings have determined that task value is negatively related to students' negative achievement emotions and positively related to their use of cognitive and metacognitive learning strategies (Artino & Stephens, 2009), overall satisfaction (Artino, 2008;

Miltiadou & Savenye, 2003), and continuing motivation (Artino, 2006). Such findings support the theoretical relations between students' task-value beliefs and their achievement emotions, self-regulatory behaviors, and academic outcomes (Eccles & Wigfield, 2002) as presented in the conceptual model (Bandura, 1997).

It is worth noting that researchers believe the links among students' motivational beliefs (e.g., self-efficacy and task value), achievement emotions, and academic behaviors and outcomes to be complementary (Bandura, 1997; Kitsantas, Zimmerman, & Cleary, 2000; Pekrun, 2006). For example, several studies (Artino & Stephens, 2009; Joo et al., 2000) have found students' self-efficacy to be related to adaptive academic behaviors, such as students' use of cognitive and metacognitive strategies during online learning. In turn, by using adaptive learning strategies that result in "deeper and more elaborated processing of the information" (Schunk et al., 2008, p. 226), students are more likely to experience greater academic success in the form of improved learning and better grades. Such behaviors and the resulting positive outcomes subsequently feed back into the system, conveying to students that they are "capable of learning and performing well," (Schunk et al., 2008, p. 127) which enhances their self-efficacy for further learning.

Personal Achievement Emotions and Perceptions

In recent years, several investigators (Linnenbrink & Pintrich, 2004; Pekrun et al., 2002) have described the importance of emotions and their influence on students' engagement and learning. For instance, Pekrun (2006) designed a control-value theory of emotions and achievement. Pekrun suggested that various interrelationships exist between students' motivational beliefs and their emotions, ultimately influencing their

learning and performance. According to Pekrun's theory, positive achievement emotions (e.g., enjoyment and hope) and negative emotions (e.g., boredom and frustration) are partly determined by students' motivational beliefs, or cognitive appraisals. Furthermore, emotions' effects on learning and performance are thought to be partially mediated by several cognitive and motivational mechanisms, such as students' use of learning strategies and their allocation of effort, such as time spent on task (Pekrun et al., 2002).

Of the many categories of motivational beliefs involving emotions related to achievement, two critical components for achievement have been suggested: the perceived controllability of achievement activities, as indicated by competence perceptions (e.g., self-efficacy) and the subjective value of those activities (e.g., task value; Pekrun, 2006). Moreover, Pekrun (2006) argued that the relationship between motivational beliefs and emotions is interrelated: "control and value appraisals are posited to be antecedents of emotions, but emotions can reciprocally affect these appraisals" (2006, p. 327). For example, not only does self-efficacy for learning affect achievement emotions, but negative feelings (e.g., test anxiety) can also influence future self-efficacy beliefs. In fact, according to Bandura (1997), information conveyed by emotions is cognitively assessed by an individual and can positively or negatively influence self-efficacy beliefs, depending on the level of arousal and the person's cognitive appraisal.

Using control-value theory as a framework, a small number of studies involving university students in traditional classrooms found that achievement emotions were related—as predicted—to students' use of learning strategies and various measures of academic performance (Pekrun et al., 2002). For example, the findings indicated that

negative achievement emotions (e.g., boredom and anger) are negatively related to motivational variables (e.g., interest and effort) and measures of learning-strategies use (e.g., elaboration and metacognition), whereas positive emotions (e.g., enjoyment, hope, and pride) are positively related to these same outcomes.

The findings related to online settings are limited; however, they are similar to the results previously described. For example, in a study of two samples of service-academy undergraduates (N = 783), Artino (2008) found that online learners' emotions were related to several adaptive outcomes. In particular, findings from several multiple regressions revealed that students' boredom and frustration were statistically significant predictors of metacognition, with boredom emerging as a negative predictor and frustration unexpectedly emerging as a positive predictor. Meanwhile, enjoyment emerged as a positive predictor of both elaboration and metacognition.

Although inconsistent with Pekrun et al.'s (2002) empirical work, the finding that frustration is positively related to metacognition corroborates the theoretical suggestion that certain negative emotions "may well facilitate the use of specific kinds of learning strategies, even if such effects do not appear in more consistent ways when self-report measures of learning strategies are used" (p. 99). This novel finding is supported by the multifaceted, dynamic interplay among cognition, affect, and behavior described by Linnenbrink and Pintrich (2004). Nonetheless, the results reported by Artino (2008) support the tenets of control-value theory (Pekrun, 2006), indicating that students' achievement emotions are related—in significant ways—to their use of SRL strategies and their online success.

Learning Strategies in the Online Environment

Learning strategies help students make sense of the material they need to master in a classroom. When students review related topics, learning strategies help students relate material and make recalling material more meaningful. Two basic strategies are commonly used. The first type of strategy is organizational, which includes outlining, chunking, and assembling time lines. These strategies are useful for placing different pieces of information into a structured context. The second type of learning strategy is elaboration: prior knowledge and new knowledge are linked and incorporated. Some examples of elaboration strategies are paraphrasing, summarizing, and comparing and contrasting. In summarizing, for example, students share what they know and what they have learned. Some students also will make connections by paraphrasing material that they have learned and what they know. Because every student learns in a different way, there is no single way to teach a topic. Several learning strategies were successful for some students, but not for others. Thus, it is important to incorporate and introduce new methods that will prove helpful to students.

Course Satisfaction

An important area of investigation has been course satisfaction in the online environment. A few variables appear important in students' course satisfaction toward online courses, such as student–faculty interaction (El Mansour & Mupinga, 2007) and computer self-efficacy. Lim (2001) studied 235 online students at five American Universities and found that computer self-efficacy explained 15% of the variance in students' overall satisfaction and 12% of the variance in their intentions to enroll in future online courses. The effect sizes discovered by Lim were moderate; however, Artino (2008) found much larger effect sizes when attempting to predict course satisfaction (model $R^2 = .65$) and continuing motivation (model $R^2 = .40$) using a combination of students' prior experience, task value, and self-efficacy in a self-paced military course.

In an online classroom, instructors must build a method of communication with and among students and then develop computer-mediated communications that students can use to participate in the social exchange of information in a virtual environment. The pedagogical importance of creating and maintaining a method of social interaction in an online classroom is driven by two assumptions. First, the social construction of knowledge through discourse, such as the understanding of concepts and social implications of issues through social dialogue, is thought to enhance student satisfaction. Second, a sense of community or social presence, that is, a feeling of belonging to a group, seems to increase student satisfaction and may aid in student retention (Tinto, 1987).

Environmental Factors

Research has pointed to the importance of strong social systems in the success of online learners (Boyd, 2004; Slagter van Tryon & Bishop, 2009). Support from family members, friends, employers, and others for a learner's studies emerged as a key variable in persistence studies by Kember et al. (1994), Ross and Powell (1990), Woo and Reeves (2008), and Boston et al. (2009) and in studies of academic outcomes (Gibson, 1998; Gillis, Jackson, Braid, MacDonald, & MacQuarrie, 2000).

Similarly, research indicates a lack of direct support and one-on-one student interaction as factors in low-retention rates. According to White and Weight (2000), the online learner is isolated from many of the social activities of learning. A typical online

student lacks the immediate support of peers and instructors, which is important in academic success (Tinto, 1975). At the same time, many online learners balance full-time work and family responsibilities. According to Tullock (as cited in Carr, 2000), the Executive Dean of Distance Education at Dallas Community College, "distanceeducation students tend to leave us because they are very busy, their lives are crammed full of things, and suddenly they find themselves in a situation of having to rethink their priorities" (p. 40). Professors teaching online say they lost students to marriages, job changes, pregnancies, and other personal or professional transitions (Carr, 2000). External pressures come in many forms but often appear as organizational variables, such as financial aid, registration, and staff attitudes. For minority students, organizational factors include role models of staff and faculty and a supportive environment. For nontraditional students, parking, childcare, campus safety, availability of services after hours, evening/weekend scheduling, and cost per credit hour are factors (Bandura et al., 1996). Due to the higher exposure to external pressures, many students easily lose sight of the reasons for completing a course and course retention falls below that in an oncampus course.

A recent study by Davies and Graff (2005) indicated that students who interacted and participated more in online discussions did not necessarily achieve higher grades. Therefore, simply encouraging students to get more involved in online discussions is unlikely to automatically improve their performance. Indeed, Swan (2002) has argued that the mere provision of a discussion forum does not aid in learning. It is possible, therefore, that for students who are close to failing the course, online participation may not provide support or a sense of community (Rovai, 2002).

Online Science Education at the College

There is a lack of studies that have examined academic self-regulation and student experiences of science online distance courses in the community college. Of the few studies, retention rates of science students in distance learning have been found to be poor in comparison to those in traditional science classes (Fozdar & Kumar, 2007; Rowe & Asbell-Clarke, 2008). Fozdar and Kumar (2007) stated that even when intervention is undertaken to improve student retention, such methods fall short. Finnegan et al. (2009), in a study of 22 online courses that included science courses, observed that science students viewed fewer content pages than did successful students in the social sciences. The level of engagement for science, technology, engineering, and mathematics students was less overall in online science courses in comparison to social sciences.

Retention factors for online science students are not a well-researched or understood; more often, factors affecting retention in traditional classrooms were examined (Fozdar & Kumar, 2007). Research of science students indicated that important factors that assist in the retention of students include engagement, inquiry-based activities, and integration of knowledge through scaffold pedagogy (Linn, Davis, & Bell, 2003). Such activities involve modeling, designing projects, discussing, interactive activities, and debating through various approaches (Linn et al., 2003). For example, Harlen and Altobello (2003) found that online discussions promote reflection and articulation about the process of learning and inquiry and resulted in greater science understanding.

Because online science courses are primarily asynchronous and text based, and involve archival learning material, Rowe and Asbell-Clarke (2008) wrote that "students

who reported receiving more instructor support got higher grades than other students in the course" (p. 93). Thus, the literature supports the idea that instructor support contributes to positive learning outcomes in online science courses. However, such conclusions from previous studies have been conducted at university or 4-year college institutions and remains to be investigated at the community-college level.

Summary

Factors affecting student motivation, performance, and retention are multifaceted and evolving. As community colleges expand their distance-learning offerings to attract new students, especially in the sciences, retention has become a critical issue. In today's environment, understanding of retention is becoming even more complex, particularly with the changing landscapes in learner demography, roles, and responsibilities; learning opportunities, needs, and perceptions; and modes of instruction and learning.

The dearth of literature provides a significant basis for seeking a viable solution to the problems of student retention. By gaining more insight and understanding into the relationships between variables such as negative emotions (boredom and frustration), self-efficacy, self-regulation, learning strategies (elaboration), and student performance (see Figure 8), faculty and administrators can strategically shape classes and institutional support systems to facilitate student retention. Such insight could be of vital importance to faculty and institutions.

Further, by understanding students' motivations, colleges might better channel resources and design strategies to optimize student success in online courses. In addition, understanding why students select a particular course, their expectations for that course, and retention in that course can help colleges design, implement, and adapt teaching



Figure 8. Putative student performance models for online leaning.

methods to suit this rapidly evolving area of education. The community college can also design supportive services to enhance students' motivation and persistence.

In Figure 8, Model 1 describes the variability of negative emotions, such as boredom and frustration, on a students' course satisfaction. Model 2 depicts possible variables such as self-efficacy, task value, metacognition, and prior knowledge which may possibly explain for differences in students' elaboration levels. Model 3 depicts possible variability of a students' course performance in terms of course satisfaction and elaboration.

CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH DESIGN

The purpose of this study was to further the understanding of the motivations and experiences of students who completed online science courses in the community college. The study was composed of two main sections—a quantitative section (survey) and a qualitative section (interviewing of students). The quantitative section facilitated an examination of the relationship among students' motivational beliefs, negative achievement motivations, prior knowledge, and SRL strategies (elaboration). Such variables were measured with a modified version of the Online Learning Beliefs, Emotions, and Behaviors Survey (OLBEBS) by Artino and McCoach (2008). The data were collected using a cross-sectional design. In order to examine students' subjective perceptions of their experiences in the online-learning environment, a qualitative approach was used. Individual perspectives of academic success in online science courses were examined by interviewing community-college students.

The first section of this chapter discusses the research rationale, research questions, and design. Next, the study explains the participant sampling used in this mixed-methods study. The third section details the instrumentation scales, collection, and analysis of the data. Lastly, the chapter concludes with a discussion of the assumptions and limitations of the study.

Rationale of the Study Design

Online learning has experienced rapid growth since 2002 (Allen & Seaman, 2009). Studies have compared online courses to face-to face courses and the quantitative outcome measures of online courses. Almost all of the prior studies have been based at 4-year college or university settings; relatively few have been conducted at 2-year

institutions. Most of the studies have provided little information on how students experience online courses, whether those experiences were instructionally anticipated, or why students withdraw from the course (Bambara, 2007). Information on the perspective of the students and the exploration of reasons for student behaviors and responses are essential to the design of online environments so that institutions may remain responsive to student needs. The behavioral and emotional aspects of an experience are problematic, if not impossible, to quantify. In addition, the lack of pertinent literature reflects a need for studies from the perspective of community-college students. Hence, this study design used a mixed-methods approach to understand students' characteristics and experiences.

The research study used both quantitative and qualitative methodologies to examine the motivational aspects of academic success in online science courses because both approaches provided a synergistic understanding of students. Several studies (Garland, 1993; Schilke, 2001) have noted that survey questions and brief interviews gathered data supporting only a superficial account of student experiences. Garland (1993) and Schilke (2001) have supported the use of in-depth interviews in order to gain more in-depth understanding of reasons behind certain responses. Morgan and Tam (1999) found distance-education literature to be fragmented and sparse. Studies have focused on demographics, personality characteristics, learning styles, and some motivational aspects of student persistence in face-to-face classroom settings and other non-science online classes. However, there is a dearth of studies of community-college students in online science courses. In the online context, Morgan and Tam advocated investigations into the student experience as a holistic means of understanding students' perspective.

Creswell (1998) advocated for qualitative research in the inquiry process as a means of understanding the complexity of the human experience. The researcher should build a "complex, holistic picture [by exploring] multiple dimensions of a problem or issue" (p. 15). Qualitative inquiry allows the researcher to construct the meaning behind the data and understand the interrelated dimensions of a phenomenon in the human experience. By using a qualitative research design, a researcher can describe the shared experiences of students. In addition, this study examined quantitative variables (e.g., self-efficacy, task value, and emotional components of learning) to understand the aggregate experiences of community-college students in online science courses.

In searching for a research design that can provide the best insights, a mixedmethods approach with a phenomenological component seemed appropriate to answer the research questions. The phenomenological component of this study design was influenced by Merriam (1993) and Moustakas (1994) for data collection and structuring.

The first part of this study adopted a quantitative approach to examine the dispositional variables that lead to student performance. The quantitative analysis (e.g., multiple regressions) yielded specific data on variables based on the theoretical frameworks of self-regulation, learning strategies, and self-efficacy. The predictive variables examined were self-efficacy, task value, negative emotions (such as boredom and frustration), self-regulation learning strategies (metacognition), prior knowledge, the number of courses taken in relation to course completion, and the use of learning strategies (elaboration) that may influence course completion. These variables were related to students' characteristics that have been linked to course satisfaction and the use of learning strategies.

The second part of this study adopted a qualitative approach to examine the motivations of students enrolled in online science courses at several community colleges. The literature indicated that motivation and self-efficacy are important factors in students' success in the online environment; participants in the study were asked to discuss their reasons for course selection, their expectations for the course, and their experiences. With this information, researchers can possibly help faculty design, implement, and adapt teaching methods for this rapidly emerging population. Also, by understanding the students' perspective, administrators and faculty members can better inform students about what to expect before registering for an online science class.

A qualitative approach provided information about students' experiences with instructor interaction, communication, motivational influences, and the support that students find helpful in the online environment. In addition, interviews elicited detailed information about students' experiences in online science courses. Given this focus, participants provided a detailed explanation of the different influences on their behavior in their own words.

An advantage of the mixed-method design is that researchers can verify and generate data by using both qualitative and quantitative strands. Results from both strands were synthesized to make inferences about the inquiry problem, and then the data were triangulated as suggested by Jang, McDougall, Pollon, Herbert, and Russell (2008). For instance, the qualitative data could lend either supporting or negating evidence to the quantitative data.

Research Design

This mixed-methods study combined non-experimental quantitative and qualitative methodologies. The quantitative portion of the study used a descriptive and associational research design with cross-sectional survey data. The qualitative portion of the study was purely descriptive in nature and used cross-sectional interview data.

Participants were surveyed in order to identify common motivations, attributes, strategies, and processes relating to the online science-course experience. A select group of participants were interviewed as part of the qualitative component of the study.

The qualitative data garnered from open-ended interviews were analyzed using content analysis. Content analysis yielded key structures and themes that were used in descriptive statements, which were grouped into categories related to the research questions. The research described common structures and themes in order to depict the essence of the phenomenon.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Quantitative Design

Quantitative survey data are often employed to characterize a population, to explore relationships among variables, and to test hypotheses. Surveys are an efficient and cost-effective way to gather data (Whitley, 2002). The design is particularly useful when building theory and testing theoretical assumptions. Survey data provides researchers the opportunity to investigate processes that would be impossible or unethical to investigate with more sophisticated experimental or quasi-experimental designs.

Advantages and Disadvantages of Qualitative Design

The qualitative portion of the study supplemented the survey data with in-depth discussion; it was useful because it allowed the researcher to approach the research topic from the several unique perspectives of the interviewed students. A qualitative design

was particularly useful in this mixed-methods study because the data can shed light on issues such as instructor communication, emotional experiences of the students, and psychological characteristics that may not be understood from survey data. In addition, the qualitative process was not limited by mathematical theory. Sample-size issues and the validation of statistical assumptions are limiting factors that can make the quantitative process less practical.

Setting

A convenience sample of students who attended community colleges that offer a diverse group of science online courses were approached in order to gain maximum variation within science courses. In order to survey diverse institutions and science courses, with consent of the institutions, I enrolled two community colleges, one in Illinois and one in Colorado. Consequently, data were gathered from the respective institutional research offices at the two community colleges with students who were enrolled in at least one for-credit online community-college course in 2010. At the time of this study, the community-college board did not track enrollments for specific online science courses; therefore, data were gathered for online courses to illustrate general online demographics at the community college. This study assumed that online science courses have similar representation to that of other online courses offered at the community-college level.

Sample

Assuming a medium effect size from power analysis (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang, & Buchner, 2007), an estimated 109 students with valid completed surveys were needed to reach a minimum sample size. In order to ensure significance, the researcher required

sufficient numbers of valid surveys; I attempted to recruit a minimum of 450 students in order to get an estimated sample of approximately 200 (more than 200% over the requisite 109). I contacted several community colleges in Illinois and Colorado in order to determine which colleges offered programs aligned with the goals of this study and to achieve a diverse sample of science courses and enrolled students. Depending on accessibility and course availability, 12 community colleges in Illinois and Colorado were invited to participate in this study. The online science courses included in this research were primarily from introductory science courses, including coursed in general biology, genetics, chemistry, astronomy, and nutrition. Two community colleges agreed to participate in this study.

The first community college sampled was located in Illinois. The total online enrollment for the 2010 fall semester was 1,848 students. The average age of online students was 28.4 years. Students who were enrolled in online courses in the 2010 fall semester were predominantly female (57%). The data obtained from the college's department of institutional research indicated that the predominant ethnic group enrolled in the courses was White (55%), followed by Asian or Pacific Islander (21%). The author of this study was employed as a science instructor at this community college.

The second community college sampled was located in Colorado. The total online enrollment for the 2010 fall semester was approximately 1,100 students. The average age of the student was approximately 30 years. Similar to the Illinois community college, the community college in Colorado had predominately female enrollment (70%). From the data obtained from the college's department of institutional research, the predominant

ethnic group enrolled in online courses was White (78.5%), followed by Hispanics (11%).

To obtain sufficient numbers for statistical analysis, I used convenience sampling. A selected sample of approximately 450 community-college students who were enrolled in online science courses in 2010 were invited to participate in this study. Of those participants who were selected to participate, 127 students returned surveys, resulting in a 28% response rate. In the final count, there were 107 completed surveys from the participants.

Quantitative Section

A convenience sample of 107 community college students enrolled in online science courses in 2010 completed surveys. I analyzed data from these surveys. A limitation of this sampling method is that the sample may pose an external threat to validity in that it may not be fully representative of all students in online courses. The survey was administered between weeks 10 and 12 of a 16-week semester or between Weeks 5 and 6 of an 8-week summer semester.

Qualitative Section

A number of students who participated in the quantitative survey were asked to participate in qualitative interviews. Student interviews were conducted for 12 participants from the initial quantitative portion of this study to ensure saturation had been reached. As such, interviews ceased once saturation was reached or no new themes emerged. Inclusion criteria for the students were that they were enrolled in a community college in Illinois or Colorado and had taken at least one online science classes at that

community college in the 2010-2011 years. Interviewees consented to be interviewed for the study.

Exclusion and Inclusion

The inclusion criteria for participants were that they were enrollment in at least one online science course taught at the community college in 2010. Included online science courses were primarily introductory science courses offered by the community colleges, such as biology, astronomy, genetics, chemistry, and plant biology.

The sampling frame excluded participants who were enrolled in hybrid science courses. Courses identified by administrators as inactive were excluded; any courses without students currently enrolled also were excluded. Students who dropped the course in the first few weeks were excluded. After survey administration, upwards of 25 participants were interviewed about their online science classes around mid-semester (approximately Weeks 10-12 of a 16-week semester). Students were asked to participate in the interviews if they expressed interest and had consented to be part of the interviewing part of the study.

Instrumentation

The OLBEBS assessed students' motivational attitudes. It was composed of seven subscales, all of which were used. The subscales used in this study assessed self-efficacy, task value, SRL (metacognition), boredom, frustration and use of elaboration. OLBEBS also assessed course satisfaction and prior course knowledge. The subscale pertaining to course-specific information was excluded because course-specific prior knowledge was beyond the scope of this study. All 40 Likert-type items across the seven subscales were scored on a 7-point scale, from 1 (*completely disagree*) to 7 (*completely agree*). This instrument also examined several background factors such as demographics, prior online course experience, and overall satisfaction with the course.

In the first section, items were divided into seven subscales that assessed students' characteristics. The first attributes were motivational beliefs such as self-efficacy and task value. The second set of items examined SRL strategies, followed by subscales that examined overall satisfaction with the course, self-efficacy, and achievement emotions. The second part of the instrument examined demographics, prior online course experience, and satisfaction with the course.

Motivational Beliefs: Self-Efficacy and Task-Value Subscales

Self-efficacy and task value were measured using two subscales developed by Artino and McCoach (2008). Their instrument used a sample of 204 U.S. Navy personnel (74% men and 26% women). The participants ranged in age from 22 to 69 years. The participants' educational backgrounds ranged from high school to the doctorate level. Artino and McCoach reported the OLBEBS had good internal reliability estimates for self-efficacy and task-value subscales ($\alpha = 0.87$ and 0.85 respectively). Validity studies showed the scales correlated positively with academic outcomes such as course satisfaction and perceived learning (Artino, 2008).

These two subscales consisted of 11 items rated on a 7-point scale, from 1 (*completely disagree*) to 7 (*completely agree*). Self-efficacy was measured using a fiveitem subscale in order to assess students' confidence in their ability to learn the material presented in the science online courses (see Table 2). The other seven items made up the

Table 2

Self-efficacy item	Item descriptions
1	Even in the face of technical difficulties, I am certain I can learn the material presented in an online course.
2	I am confident I can learn without the presence of an instructor to assist me.
3	I am confident I can do an outstanding job on the activities in an online course.
4	I am certain I can understand the most difficult material presented in an online course.
5	Even with distractions, I am confident I can learn material presented online.

Items Contained in the Self-Efficacy Subscale

Note. Adapted from "Learning Online: Understanding Academic Success From a Self-Regulated Learning Perspective," by A. Artino, 2008, unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Connecticut, Storrs.

task-value subscales. Task value was measured using a six-item subscale to assess students' judgments of how interesting, useful, and important the online course was to them (see Table 3).

Cognitive Learning Strategies: Elaboration and Metacognition Strategies Subscales

These two subscales consisted of 13 items rated on a 7-point Likert scale, with

two subscales that measured elaboration or SRL (metacognition) strategies. Elaboration

was measured using a four-item subscale to access students' elaboration strategies such

as paraphrasing and summarizing in the courses (see Table 4).

Table 3

Items Contained in the Task Value Subscale

Task value item	Item description
1	It is personally important for me to perform well in this course.
2	This course provides a great deal of practical information.
3	I am very interested in the content of this course.
4	Completing this course will move me closer to attaining my career goals.
5	It is important for me to learn the material in this course.
6	The knowledge I gain by taking this course can be applied in many different situations.

Note. Adapted from "Learning Online: Understanding Academic Success From a Self-Regulated Learning Perspective," by A. Artino, 2008, unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Connecticut, Storrs.

Table 4

Items Contained in the Elaboration Subscales

Elaboration learning strategies item	Item description (While working on the online course)
1	I try to relate it to the learning I already know.
2	I try to make all the different ideas fit together
3	I make up my own examples to help me understand the important concepts.
4	I try to connect what I was learning with my own experiences.

Note. Adapted from "Learning Online: Understanding Academic Success From a Self-Regulated Learning Perspective," by A. Artino, 2008, unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Connecticut, Storrs.

Self-regulatory learning strategies (metacognition) was measured using a nineitem subscale designed to assess students' ability to use metacognitive strategies such as planning, goal setting, monitoring reading comprehension, and regulating performance (see Table 5). Artino (2008) modified these two subscales from the Motivated Strategies for Learning Questionnaire through some minor rewording to reflect the online nature of the course. Artino and Stephens (2009) reported high reliability estimates of $\alpha = 0.87$ and 0.89 for elaboration and metacognition subscales, respectively.

Negative Achievement Beliefs: Boredom and Frustration Subscales

The negative achievement beliefs of students enrolled in science courses were evaluated using two subscales adapted from Artino (2008) and the Achievement Emotions Questionnaire (Pekrun, Goetz, & Perry, 2005). The two negative achievement beliefs are boredom and frustration and have a total of nine items rated on a 7-point scale. The boredom subscale consisted of five items that are designed to measure course-related boredom (see Table 6).

The frustration subscale (see Table 7) consisted of four items designed to assess students' course-related frustration, annoyance, and irritation (Artino, 2008). The subscales were shown to have good internal reliability in a study by Pekrun (2006). Pekrun et al. (2002) obtained a Cronbach's α = 0.93 for the boredom subscale and α = 0.86 for the anger [frustration] subscale among a sample of 222 university students. In a recent study of 389 students, Pekrun, Goetz, Frenzel, Barchfeld, and Perry (2011) found similar results. Pekrun et al. (2011) obtained a Cronbach's α for the boredom subscale of 0.93 and a Cronbach's α of 0.86 for the anger [frustration] subscale.

Table 5

Items (Contained	in the	e Self-regulator	y Learning ,	Strategies	(Me	tacognition)	Subscales
---------	-----------	--------	------------------	--------------	------------	-----	--------------	-----------

Self-regulatory learning strategies (metacognition)	Item description (While working on the online course)
1	If I became confused about something I read, I went back and try to figure it out.
2	If course material was difficult to understand, I changed the way I studied it.
3	I asked myself questions to make sure I understood the material I was studying.
4	I tried to think through each topic and decide what I was supposed to learn from it, rather than just reading it over.
5	I tried to determine which concepts I didn't understand well.
6	I set goals for myself in order to direct my activities.
7	If I got confused during online activities, I made sure I sorted it out before proceeding on to the next section of the course.
8	I kept track of how much I understood, not just if I was getting through the material.
9	I stopped once in a while and went over what I had learned.

Note. Adapted from "Learning Online: Understanding Academic Success From a Self-Regulated Learning Perspective," by A. Artino, 2008, unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Connecticut, Storrs.

Table 6

Items Contained in the Boredom Subscale

Boredom item	Item description (While completing this online course)
	(while completing this online course)
1	I have been bored.
2	I felt the course was fairly dull.
3	My mind wandered.
4	I was uninterested in the course material.
5	I thought about what else I would rather be doing.

Note. Adapted from "Learning Online: Understanding Academic Success From a Self-Regulated Learning Perspective," by A. Artino, 2008, unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Connecticut, Storrs.

Table 7

Frustration item	Item description
1	I feel frustrated.
2	I am angry.
3	I feel that I was wasting my time.
4	I am irritated.

Items Contained in the Frustration Subscale

Note. Adapted from "Learning Online: Understanding Academic Success From a Self-Regulated Learning Perspective," by A. Artino, 2008, unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Connecticut, Storrs.

The course satisfaction subscale (see Table 8) consisted of three items that were

designed to assess students' course-related satisfaction (Artino, 2008). Since the previous

study by Artino focused on a different population, this subscale was completely changed

in order to fit the community college student population.

Table 8

Items Contained in the Course Satisfaction Subscale

Course satisfaction item	Item description (While completing this online course)
1	Overall, I was satisfied with my online course
2	This online course met my needs as a learner
3	I would recommend this online course to a friend who needed to learn the material.

Note. Adapted from "Learning Online: Understanding Academic Success From a Self-Regulated Learning Perspective," by A. Artino, 2008, unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Connecticut, Storrs.

The prior knowledge subscale (see Table 9) consisted of three items designed to assess students' prior knowledge (Artino, 2008). Since the previous study by Artino focused on a different population, this subscale was completely changed in order to fit the previous expected knowledge of community college student population.

Table 9

Items	Cont	tained	in	the	Prior	Knowl	led	ge	Sul	bscal	le
-------	------	--------	----	-----	-------	-------	-----	----	-----	-------	----

Prior knowledge item	Item description (While completing this online course)
1	I felt my formal educational background has given me adequate preparation for this course.
2	My work experience and other prior experiences from outside formal school have prepared me for this course.
3	I have had four courses in science and or math previously.

Procedures for Quantitative Survey

After receiving approval from the Colorado State University committee for Human Subjects, the researcher e-mailed the respective administrators and online science instructors who agreed to participate in this study. An initial e-mail was used to contact either a faculty member or senior administrator's staff at the selected community colleges, notifying them of the purpose of the study and soliciting their cooperation as well as offering to answer any questions they might have had (see Appendixes A and B). To protect the anonymity of the study participants who responded only to the quantitative portion of the study, the faculty member or administrator maintained possession of student e-mail addresses and did not share them with me. The community-college faculty member was sent an e-mail invitation stating that they were being asked to forward the invitation to all students who were enrolled in their online science courses in the summer and fall of 2010. The invitation contained a unique URL for the Web-based survey (Survey Monkey). The student e-mail invitation explained to the students the purpose of the study, their rights in regard to participation, safeguards that were taken to ensure confidentiality, and information about the incentives offered for participation (see Appendix C). The underlying purpose of the first e-mail was to alert the students to the second e-mail that would follow. The voluntary participation of the respondent served as their consent. The online survey was administered at two community colleges between June 2010 and December 2010.

A second e-mail was sent to the students within 1 week of the initial e-mail. The second e-mail included web links to the instrument and guidelines for participation in the incentive prize drawing. After receiving the URL link to the survey, students were asked a series of survey questions and if they wished to take part in the second part of the study, the interviews. Data collection for this study began around Weeks 10-12 of the 16-week semester or in Weeks 5-6 of the 8-week summer course.

The online survey was built using Survey Monkey, which was configured to return responses confidentially (see Appendix D). All respondents were given a small incentive (\$5 gift card) for their participation. At the end of the data collection, the \$5 gift card was emailed from a well-known online retailer, such as Amazon.com.

Quantitative Measures of Reliability

Measures for reliability and validity are fundamental aspects to any quantitative study. For the survey portion of the study, internal consistency and reliability were

evaluated using Cronbach's alpha. The study independently measured and calculated alphas for each subscale. These values were compared with previously reported alphas from Artino and McCoach (2008).

Confidentiality

To maintain confidentiality, students were contacted through an e-mail from their online instructors. Instructors were sent the web link to the Survey Monkey instrument, and the link was forwarded to the students enrolled in their online science courses. Students were asked for their student numbers in order to serve as a linking identifier between their survey and personal address information. Participants were asked their home addresses in order to mail out the gift cards. All personal data were erased from computer hard drive storage 1 year after completion of the study. Participants' address information was kept separate from student data and was housed in a locked file cabinet to which only I had access. Responses were downloaded to a separate database as an Excel file. Data were analyzed using SPSS software.

Procedures for Qualitative Interviews

For interviews, I sampled 12 participants (those who indicated from the survey pool both interest and consent). The participants, in order to qualify for this portion of the study, needed to have completed the online survey and indicated at the end of the survey that they would agree to an interview. An attempt was made to sample participants from different online science courses for the qualitative portion. Participants were asked to participate in one individual semi-structured interview over the telephone. According to Patton (2002), I ended up with 12 student interviews because that number was realized based on the number of students needed to reach saturation. Each interview lasted

approximately 60 minutes. Participants who completed the interview received a \$25 gift card in addition to the \$5 gift card they received for their participation in the quantitative survey. Interviews were digitally recorded, transcribed, and analyzed for general themes by the content-analysis method proposed by Moustakas (1994). Pseudonyms were be used to protect participants' anonymity.

Interview Rationale

The researcher tried to interview at least one student from each of the different online science courses. I anticipated needing at least three to four different courses to be included in the study in order to gain maximum variation. In order to gain a diversity of perspectives, the study tried to identify students enrolled not only in different courses, but in different community colleges. The interview protocol was developed in consultation with the researcher's faculty advisors. The purpose of the interviews was to gain a basic understanding of learning experiences, strategies used to do well in the course, and reasons behind the emotions about the online experience. To accomplish this, the interview questions contained open-ended general questions with accompanying probes intended to generate information specific to a particular area. At the end of the interview, the last question paraphrased the main points from the interview to verify my interpretations of the students' responses and after the transcript had been analyzed, I went back and content checked the data. Questions for the interview were adapted and developed from similar questions used by Bambara (2007). Sample interview questions are found in Appendix E.

Trustworthiness of the Qualitative Interviews

To allow the participant to establish the content and direction of the interviews, the first few minutes of the interview were used to establish trust and elicit background information from the participant. The open-ended questions were designed to gain insights into the early learning experiences that a student had of a class. During the interview, I asked the student for confirmation or clarification of certain points. The last question validated the interviewer's understanding of the student's responses to previous questions. After the interviews were completed and transcribed, participants were contacted a second time in order to get clarification or further data. Participant data were also content checked with a copy of the interview transcript.

Data Analysis

I investigated students' various disposition characteristics and experiences in a convenience sample of two community colleges. Data were gathered through two approaches: quantitative (survey) and qualitative (interviews of participants). The key variables and the operational definitions or measurements along with the subscales were found in the Instrumentation section.

The quantitative data from the OLBEBS were entered into SPSS. Then data analyses occurred in two stages. First, descriptive statistics were calculated on all research variables, including means and standard deviations for variables on a ratio or interval scale. Frequencies and percentages were provided for nominal variables. The second stage of the analyses was the presentation of the inferential statistics used to test the research hypotheses. All statistical tests were conducted at $\alpha = .05$. Statistical

analyses were used to test each research hypothesis for the quantitative research questions.

Quantitative Analysis: Sample-Size Justification

One way of choosing an appropriate sample size for a quantitative study is to assess the number of respondents needed to achieve a particular level of statistical power. The a priori power analysis was used to this end. The power analysis was conducted using the statistical software G*Power 3.1.0 on the most conservative (e.g., analysis yielding the largest sample size) statistical approach. An a priori power analysis determines the number of participants required to detect a medium effect size ($f^2 = .15$) with power = .80 for a multiple regression with eight predictors tested at α = .05. The power analysis suggested that 109 respondents were needed to achieve a power of .80 given these parameters. The individual data were collected from returned questionnaires, which needed to be higher than a sample size of 109 due to participant attrition or missing/incomplete data. Also, because the study assumed a medium effect size, this study needed (approx.) more than 109 students to fill out the questionnaires. Based on this, the study attempted to over sample and attempted to recruit 450 participants in order to take into consideration a possible low response rate (estimated at approximately 20%, i.e., 200 participants). The response rate was 28% in this study (127 surveys were returned). However, only 107 of the returned surveys were complete.

Research Questions

The following research questions were used to guide this research methodology:

Research Question 1. Are participants' self-efficacy, SRL strategies

(metacognition), perceived task value, and prior knowledge in online courses statistically

significant predictors of learning strategies (elaboration)?

Research Question 2. Are students' achievement emotions (boredom and frustration) statistically significant predictors of their overall course satisfaction?

Research Question 3. Are the participants' elaboration and course satisfaction in online courses statistically significant predictors of performance (final course grades)?

Research Question 4. How do community-college students experience or make meaning of their online science courses? What underlying themes describe students' online experiences in community-college science courses?

Research Question 5. What are the reasons associated with course satisfaction of community-college students enrolled in online science courses? What challenges and successes do they experience?

Research Question 6. What are the reasons underlying the inhibitory dimensions, such as boredom and frustration, that influence success in an online science course?

Quantitative Analysis of Data

The data were collected and entered into SPSS. The data were analyzed in two stages. First, descriptive statistics were calculated for all research variables. Descriptive statistics were determined for the subscales and each individual item in the subscales had its own statistics calculated (such as mean, maximum, standard deviation, variance, and skewness). Means and standard deviation were calculated for variables on a ratio or interval scale. Frequencies and percentages were provided for nominal or ordinal-scaled variables. After data were collected, the Cronbach's alpha values from this study sample were compared with published scales from Artino's (2008) study.

The second stage of the analyses presented the inferential statistics used to test the research hypotheses. All statistical tests were conducted at $\alpha = .05$. The following is a review of the statistical analyses that were used to test each research hypothesis.

Research Questions 1-3. Several multiple regressions (one for each research question) were conducted to address Research Questions 1–3. The following testing procedures were used for each regression. First, the data were screened for outliers. Participants with a standardized residual greater than three were considered outliers. A plot of standardized residuals was reviewed to assess the assumptions of linearity and model homoscedasticity. Variance inflation factors were used to assess model multi-collinearity. A table of descriptive statistics and a table of regression coefficients were displayed for each analysis.

Research Questions 4-6. The preliminary analysis of survey data was complemented by interviews using open-ended questions to generate key themes. The data were analyzed using the phenomenological approach described by Moustakas (1994) and Creswell (1998). Moustakas modified two methods of phenomenological data analysis: the Van Kaam method and the Stevick–Colaizzi–Keen method. This study adopted the Stevick–Colaizzi–Keen method because of its ability to derive a structure from participants' experiences and to interpret participants' experiences by structuring and reflecting on the data. In this method, the phenomenological analysis proceeds through the reduction, fragmentation, and analysis of specific themes and statements (Creswell, 1998). In reduction, the transcripts of each participant underwent horizonalization, which results in a complete listing of all descriptive statements (Creswell, 1998).

In this process, an inductive code was assigned to every statement about its online class experience with equal weight. All statements were treated as equally important even though there might have been some repetition among the interviews. The statements were then sorted into non-repetitive, non-overlapping units of meaning from each participant. These statements were organized into a list of statements that was considered to have equal value. These statements were grouped into categories according to emerging themes or meaning units. The statements from all the interviews were grouped into more generalized meaning units. This method allowed the participants, rather than me, to define their learning experiences.

In applying this method, I looked for any statements in the student interviews that described their learning strategies and experiences in the online course. The interviews gathered detailed information on students' learning strategies and experiences. For example, information about course communication, attitudes, motivation, and learning strategies was explored with open-ended questions. Students were asked to describe how they learned, who or what helped them learn, and how satisfied they were with their online experiences. Using imaginative variation, I examined and reflected upon the composite themes to form the structural qualities that framed the phenomenon under consideration in this study.

Confidentiality. Pseudonyms were used to protect the confidentiality of the students who were quoted in the descriptions. Such use of pseudonyms allowed participants to discuss the phenomenon candidly with me. Permission for the interview was asked for once in the survey. In addition, the exact wording of the student's responses was used from the interview transcripts whenever possible, with exceptions

being the replacement of vague pronouns or references and the removal of any specific references that would compromise confidentiality.

The interview data. Trustworthiness depends on the credibility and dependability of the study. In this study, I attempted to conduct member content checks by obtaining participant feedback, reviews, and commentary on the transcript. Within 4 to 6 weeks of interview, participants received a copy of the transcript to review for accuracy. I then performed a content check with participants to ensure accuracy of interpretations. Moustakas (1994) described participant feedback as a method of data verification. Thus, data were obtained from the interview, and participants were asked to provide feedback as to the accuracy of the data. Dependability of the data was established through peer review and a detailed audit trail, consisting of a notebook with field notes, coded transcripts, data displays, coding process, and details of thematic development.

Assumptions and Limitations

This study made the assumptions that participants in the present study were somewhat characteristic of students who were enrolled in online distance-education programs in the community college and that the instructors sampled in this study were representative of instructors of community college online science courses. However, these assumptions may not have been completely valid. Consequently, the ability to generalize findings beyond the present study was limited because only a few community colleges were sampled and the learner characteristics, course content, and pedagogy used by the online instructors in the present study may not have been fully representative of other instructors and other settings. The study results may not be generalized to other distance-education formats, such as television-based systems or hybrid programs. The

measurement of variables for the quantitative portion of the study (survey instrument) is limited to self-report measures. The survey instrument assumed that the participants responded honestly and had taken their time in responding to the survey. Study limitations were linked to the selected sample (convenience sampling) and the sample size of the participants. The survey considered two community colleges with two or more different science courses in order to maximize course variation, which may have limited the external validity of the study.

The main limitation associated with the use of the non-experimental survey design and qualitative data was that I cannot infer causality. That is, statistical significance in this design does not imply cause-and-effect relationships. This limitation was a result of my inability to control extraneous confounding variables that could affect data analysis and interpretation.

A second limitation of this study was that students were selected from a limited convenience sample of community colleges in two states. In addition, only 12 students agreed to be interviewed. Consequently, the community colleges and the interviewed participants were not representative of all community colleges or science courses. Thus, the results from this study may have limited generalizability beyond the present sample and for traditional students nationwide in community colleges (external validity). Summary

Factors affecting students' motivation, performance, and persistence are multifaceted and evolving. As community colleges expand their distance-learning offerings to attract new students, especially in the sciences, persistence has become a critical issue. In today's environment, understanding retention is becoming even more
complicated, particularly with the changes in learner demography, roles, and responsibilities; learning opportunity, needs, and perceptions; and modes of instruction and learning.

The dearth of literature provides a significant basis for seeking a viable solution to the problems of student retention. By gaining more insight and understanding of variables such as self-efficacy, SRL strategies (metacognition), and motivation, faculty and administrators can design classes and institutional support systems to facilitate student retention. Such insight could be of vital importance to faculty and institutions.

Further, by understanding students' motivations and factors that influence performance, colleges might better channel resources and design strategies to optimize student success in online courses. The community college can also design services to support students' motivation and persistence.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

Chapter 4 presents the findings of this research examining the motivations and experiences of students taking a science online course at community colleges. The study was composed of two main sources of data gathering, a survey of students and a subset of 12 student interviews from students who completed the survey. Five online courses were included in the study at two community colleges. The courses included astronomy, biology, human genetics, nutrition, and chemistry.

The student survey portion of the study explored the relationship between students' SRL strategies, motivation beliefs, achievement emotions, and several measures of academic success in the online science courses at the community college. The interviews examined the motivations for enrollment and the importance of students' subjective perceptions of the online learning through 12 in-depth interviews of students.

Descriptive Statistics

Participant Demographics

Two community colleges participated in the study with 107 students returning the student survey from both institutions. The details about student demographics are shown on Tables 10 and 11 respectively. Of the participants, 93 (88.6%) were female, and 12 (11.4%) were male. The participants included in the study reflected a wide age range from 18 to 70 years old. The average participant age was 29.35 (SD = 11.29) years. Approximately half (57, 54.3%) of the participants indicated that their intended major was nursing. Other popular majors were education (9, 8.6%), business (5, 4.8%), fine arts

п	%
93	88.6
12	11.4
57	54.3
9	8.6
5	4.8
4	3.8
4	3.8
3	2.9
3	2.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
2	1.9
14	13.3
59	56.2
27	25.7
19	18.1
	n 93 12 57 9 5 4 4 3 3 2 2 2 2 14 59 27 19

Descriptive Statistics for Student Gender, Major or Intended Major, and Reason for Course

Descriptive Statistics	for Stua	lent Age a	nd Num	bers of	^c Prior	Courses
------------------------	----------	------------	--------	---------	--------------------	---------

Variable	п	Min.	Max.	М	SD
Age	103	18.00	70.00	29.35	11.29
Number of Prior Online Courses	105	0.00	5.00	1.63	1.88
Number of Prior College Math Courses	102	0.00	22.00	2.49	2.93
Number of Prior College English Courses	101	0.00	20.00	2.57	2.55

(4, 3.8%) and history/global studies (4, 3.8%). There was a wide dispersion (range = 6) in the participants' experience with online courses. The average participant reported taking 1.63 (SD = 1.88) online courses. There was also a wide range in the participants' experience in math (range = 23) and English (range = 21) courses. The average participant had completed 2.49 (SD = 2.93) math courses and 2.57 (SD = 2.55) English courses. Of the participants, 59 (56.2%) were taking the course for a major requirement, 27 (25.7%) for a graduation requirement, and 19 (18.1%) for other reasons.

Participant Perceptions of Online Courses

The participants responded to several items pertaining to their experiences with online courses. The descriptive statistics for these responses are listed in Table 12. Given the Likert-type scale for each item (1 to 7), these data indicated that participants were relatively likely to enroll in another online science course and that they felt that they learned by taking their online course.

Participants' Self-Efficacy Construct

The five subscale items from the motivational beliefs construct of self-efficacy were analyzed. The descriptive statistics for these responses are listed in Table 13. Given

Descriptive Statistics for Participants' Perceptions of Online Courses

Variable	n	Min.	Max.	М	SD
Given your experience with this online course, how likely are you to enroll in another science course?	105	1.00	7.00	5.10	1.98
How much did you learn by taking this online course?	103	1.00	7.00	5.51	1.64
How experienced are you with computer technology?	105	2.00	7.00	5.72	1.18

Table 13

Descriptive Statistics for Self-Efficacy Subscale Items

Item	п	Min.	Max.	М	SD
Even in the face of technical difficulties, I am certain I can learn the material presented in an online course.	107	1.00	7.00	6.17	1.28
I am confident I can learn without the presence of an instructor to assist me.	107	1.00	7.00	5.78	1.58
I am confident I can do an outstanding job on the activities in an online course.	106	1.00	7.00	6.03	1.40
I am certain I can understand the most difficult material presented in an online course.	107	1.00	7.00	5.42	1.78
Even with distractions, I am confident I can learn material presented online.	107	1.00	7.00	5.87	1.61

the Likert-type scale for each item (1 to 7), the data indicated that the participants who took online science courses demonstrated a relatively high degree of self-efficacy, since the means of each line item were between 5 and 6 out of a 7-point scale. The subscale for self-efficacy showed good internal reliability estimates for self-efficacy ($\alpha = 0.929$). This was in agreement with previous studies by Artino and McCoach (2008), who reported the OLBEBS had good internal reliability estimates for self-efficacy also ($\alpha = 0.87$).

Participants' Self-Regulatory Learning Subscale

The nine subscale items from the SRL subscales for the metacognition construct of set were analyzed. The descriptive statistics for these responses are listed in Table 14. Given the Likert-type scale for each item (1 to 7), the data indicated that the participants who took online science courses demonstrated a relatively high degree of SRL [metacognition], since overall the means of each line item were in the range of 5.67 to 6.2 out of a 7-point scale. The subscale for self-regulatory learning showed good internal reliability estimates ($\alpha = 0.91$). Previously, Artino and Stephens (2009) reported high reliability estimates of $\alpha = 0.89$ for SRL (metacognition).

Participants' Task-Value Subscale

The six subscale items from the task value construct set were analyzed. The descriptive statistics for these responses are listed in Table 15. Given the Likert-type scale for each item (1 to 7), the data indicated that the participants who took online science courses embraced a relatively high degree of task value, since the means of each line item were between 6.03 and 6.79 out of a 7-point scale. The subscale for task value showed good internal reliability estimates ($\alpha = 0.89$). This is in agreement with previous studies by Artino and McCoach (2008), who reported the OLBEBS had good internal reliability estimates for task value also ($\alpha = 0.85$).

Participants' Elaboration Subscale

The four subscale items from the task value construct set were analyzed. The descriptive statistics for these responses are listed in Table 16. Given the Likert-type scale for each item (1 to 7), the data indicated that the participants who took online science courses answered with a high degree of elaboration, since the means of each line

Descriptive Statistics for Self-Regulatory Learning Subscale Items

Item	n	Min.	Max.	М	SD
If I became confused about something I read, I went back and try to figure it out.	107	3.00	7.00	6.55	0.73
If course material was difficult to understand, I changed the way I studied it.	106	3.00	7.00	5.79	1.26
I asked myself questions to make sure I understood the material I was studying.	107	2.00	7.00	5.74	1.36
I tried to think through each topic and decide what I was supposed to learn from it, rather than just reading it over.	107	1.00	7.00	5.72	1.38
I tried to determine which concepts I didn't understand well.	107	2.00	7.00	6.08	1.13
I set goals for myself in order to direct my activities.	106	2.00	7.00	6.20	1.10
If I got confused during online activities, I made sure I sorted it out before proceeding on to the next section of the course.	107	1.00	7.00	5.94	1.29
I kept track of how much I understood, not just if I was getting through the material.	107	1.00	7.00	5.79	1.36
I stopped once in a while and went over what I had learned.	107	1.00	7.00	5.67	1.39

Table 15

Descriptive Statistics for Perceived Task Value Subscale Items

Item	п	Min.	Max.	М	SD
It is personally important for me to perform well in this course.	107	1.00	7.00	6.79 (0.78
This course provides a great deal of practical information.	107	1.00	7.00	6.11	1.28
I am very interested in the content of this course.	107	1.00	7.00	6.12	1.34
Completing this course will move me closer to attaining my career goals.	107	1.00	7.00	6.15	1.57
It is important for me to learn the material in this course.	107	1.00	7.00	6.37	1.26
The knowledge I gain by taking this course can be applied in many different situations.	107	1.00	7.00	6.03	1.46

Descriptive Statistics for Elaboration Subscale Items

Item	п	Min.	Max.	Μ	SD
I try to relate it to the learning I already know.	107	3.00	7.00	6.29 ().99
I try to make all the different ideas fit together and make sense to me.	107	3.00	7.00	6.43 ().80
I make up my own examples to help me understand the important concepts.	107	2.00	7.00	5.56 1	1.36
I try to connect what I was learning with my own experiences.	107	2.00	7.00	6.16 1	1.12

item were in the range of 5.56 to 6.43 out of a 7-point scale. From previous research, Artino and Stephens (2009) reported high reliability estimates of $\alpha = 0.87$ for elaboration scales. This study also found a high reliability estimate of $\alpha = 0.84$ for the elaboration subscale.

Participants' Negative Emotions

Participants' boredom subscale. The five subscale items from the negative emotion, boredom, construct set were analyzed. The descriptive statistics for these responses are listed in Table 17. Given the Likert-type scale for each item (1 to 7), the responses revealed that the participants who took online science courses experienced a relatively low degree of boredom, as indicated by the relative means of each line item were in a range of 1.75 to 2.38 out of a 7-point scale. Previous research by Pekrun (2006) and colleagues obtained a Cronbach's α = 0.93 for the boredom subscale among a sample of 225 university students. This research found a Cronbach's α = 0.9 for the boredom subscale.

Descriptive Statistics for Boredom Subscale Items

Item	п	Min.	Max.	М	SD
I have been bored.	105	1.00	7.00	1.89	1.40
I felt the course was fairly dull.	105	1.00	7.00	1.85	1.31
My mind wandered.	105	1.00	7.00	2.38	1.60
I was uninterested in the course material.	105	1.00	7.00	1.75	1.34
I thought about what else I would rather be doing.	105	1.00	7.00	2.13	1.52

Participants' frustration subscale. The 4 subscale items from the negative emotion, frustration, construct set were analyzed. The descriptive statistics for these responses are listed in Table 18. Given the Likert-type scale for each item (1 to 7), the responses indicated that the participants who took online science courses experienced a relatively low degree of frustration, since the means of each line item were between 1.86 and 2.80 out of a 7-point scale. Previous research from Pekrun (2006) obtained a Cronbach's α = 0.93 for the corresponding frustration scale. The frustration subscale in this research was a Cronbach's α = 0.9.

Descriptive Statistics for Participants' Overall Course Satisfaction

The three subscale items from overall course satisfaction construct set were analyzed. The descriptive statistics for these responses are listed in Table 19. Given the Likert-type scale for each item (1 to 7), the data indicated that the participants who took online science courses indicated a high level of overall course satisfaction, since the means of each line item were between 5 and 6 out of a 7-point scale. The course satisfaction subscale had a Cronbach's α = 0.97 in this study.

Descriptive Statistics for Frustration Subscale Items

Item	n	Min.	Max.	М	SD
I feel frustrated.	105	1.00	7.00	2.80	1.90
I am angry.	103	1.00	7.00	2.04	1.69
I feel that I was wasting my time.	103	1.00	7.00	1.86	1.53
I am irritated.	105	1.00	7.00	2.03	1.70

Table 19

Descriptive Statistics for Overall Course Satisfaction Subscale Items

Item	п	Min.	Max.	М	SD
Overall, I was satisfied with my online course	107	1.00	7.00	5.94	1.52
This online course met my needs as a learner	107	1.00	7.00	5.82	1.67
I would recommend this online course to a friend who needed to learn the material.	107	1.00	7.00	5.74	1.76

Summary of Descriptive Statistics

Taken together, the data suggested that participants were likely to enroll in another online science course and that they felt that they learned what they expected to learn by taking their online course. For the most part, the data indicated that the participants who took online science courses indicated a high level of overall course satisfaction. Generally, the participants who enrolled in the online science courses had a high sense of self-efficacy, task value, and self-regulation. Respondents were relatively high on the elaboration subscale. In terms of overall emotions experienced, participants reported experiencing a relatively low degree of boredom and frustration in the courses.

Research Questions 1-3 and Hypothesis Testing

Research Question 1

Research Question 1. Are the participants' self-efficacy, self-regulatory learning, perceived task value and prior knowledge in online courses statistically significant predictors of learning strategies (elaboration)?

H₀: The participants' self-efficacy, self-regulatory learning, perceived task value and prior knowledge in online courses are not statistically significant predictors of learning strategies (elaboration).

H_A: The participants' self-efficacy, self-regulatory learning, perceived task value and prior knowledge in online courses are statistically significant predictors of learning strategies (elaboration).

A multiple regression was conducted to determine if self-efficacy, SRL, perceived task value and prior knowledge in online courses were combined statistically significant predictors of learning strategies (elaboration). The descriptive statistics for the individual items of the self-efficacy, SLR, perceived task value and elaboration subscales are listed in the previous Tables 16-19, respectively.

The data were screened for outliers prior to analysis. The participants' standardized residuals were utilized to identify outliers in the data. A participant was considered an outlier when the absolute value of the standardized residual is greater than 3. This process did not reveal any outliers in the data.

The descriptive statistics for the predictors, the intercorrelations, and criterion are listed in Table 20. The variance inflation factors and tolerance levels did not seem to indicate a problem with multicollinearity. However, a plot of standardized residuals

Variable	М	SD	2	3	4	5
Self-Efficacy (1)	5.82	1.38	.44**	.44**	.11	.38**
Self-Regulatory Learning (2)	5.93	0.95		.47**	01	.65**
Task Value (3)	6.25	1.06			.11	.54**
Number of Previous Online Courses	1.65	1.89				.08
(4)						
Elaboration (5)	6.10	0.90				
p < .05. **p < .01.						

Means, Standard Deviations, and Intercorrelations for Variables Predicting Elaboration in RQ1 (n = 102)

(Figure 9) did reveal evidence of model heteroscedasticity. The model was a significant predictor of the participants' elaboration, F(4, 97) = 23.41, p < .01, $R^2 = .49$. This indicated that together the predictors accounted for a significant amount (49%) of variation in the criterion. The regression coefficients are listed in Table 21. The coefficients indicated that SRL and task value were significant positive predictors of elaboration within this model, $\beta = 0.50$, p < .01 and $\beta = 0.28$, p < .01, respectively. This indicated that elaboration increased with increasing levels of SRL and task value within this model. The participants' self-efficacy and prior experience in online courses were not significant predictors of elaboration within this model, $\beta = 0.03$, p > .05 and $\beta = 0.05$, p > .05, respectively when SRL and task value were also in the model.



Figure 9. Residual plot for Research Question 1.

Regression Coefficients for Research Question 1

Predictor	В	SE	β	t	Sig.
Self-efficacy	0.02	0.06	0.03	0.38	.706
Self-regulatory learning	0.48	0.08	0.50	5.83	<.00
Task value	0.24	0.07	0.28	3.25	.002
Number of previous online courses	0.03	0.04	0.05	0.74	.459

Research Question 2

Research Question 2. Are the participants' achievement emotions (boredom and frustration) statistically significant predictors of overall course satisfaction?

H₀: The participants' achievement emotions (boredom and frustration) will not be statistically significant predictors of overall course satisfaction.

H_A: The participants' achievement emotions (boredom and frustration) will be statistically significant predictors of overall course satisfaction.

A multiple regression was conducted to determine if boredom and frustration combined were significant predictors of the participants' overall course satisfaction. The descriptive statistics and the intercorrelations for the individual items of the boredom, frustration and overall satisfaction subscales are listed in Table 22. The data were screened for outliers prior to analysis in the same manner described in Research Question 1. This process revealed one outlier in the data.

The descriptive statistics for the predictors and criterion along with the intercorrelations are listed in Table 22. The intercorrelations revealed that boredom and frustration were correlated with each other (r = .65). As seen from Table 22, boredom was negatively correlated with overall course satisfaction ($r_{bore} = -.481$) and frustration was highly negatively correlated with overall course satisfaction (r_f = .-861). Even though the two predictors were highly correlated (.65), the variance inflation factors and tolerance levels did not seem to indicate problems with of multicollinearity. A plot of standardized residuals (Figure 10) did reveal some evidence of model heteroscedasticity. The omnibus model was a significant predictor of the participants' overall course satisfaction, F(2, 97) = 168.13, p < .01, $R^2 = .78$. This indicated that together the predictors accounted for a large amount (78%) of variation in the criterion. The regression coefficients are listed in Table 23. The coefficients indicated that frustration was a significant negative predictor of overall course satisfaction, $\beta = -0.98$, p < .01. This indicated that course satisfaction increased with decreasing levels of frustration within this model. Surprisingly, the coefficients also indicated that boredom

Means, Standard Deviations, and Intercorrelations for Boredom and Frustration as Predictors of Course Satisfaction in RQ 2 (n = 100)

Variable	М	SD	1	2	3
Boredom (1)	1.95	1.21		.65**	.48**
Frustration (2)	2.16	1.56			.86**
Overall Course Satisfaction (3)	5.91	1.62			

**p < .01



Figure 10. Residual plot for Research Question 2.

Regression Coefficients for Research Question 2

Predictor	В	SE	β	t	Sig.
Boredom	0.21	0.08	0.16	2.50	.014
Frustration	-1.01	0.07	-0.98	-15.40	<.001

was a significant positive predictor of overall course satisfaction, $\beta = 0.16$, p < .05, when frustration was also in the model. This indicated that course satisfaction increased with increasing levels of boredom when considered in combination with frustration within this model. This unexpected result is discussed in Chapter 5.

Research Question 3

Research Question 3. Are students' elaboration and overall course satisfaction statistically significant predictors of their overall course completion?

H₀: Students' elaboration and overall course satisfaction are not statistically significant predictors of their overall course completion.

H_A: Students' elaboration and overall course satisfaction are statistically significant predictors of their overall course completion.

A binary logistic regression was conducted to address Research Question 3. The binary logistic regression is appropriate when predicting a dichotomous criterion. The following criterion dummy coding scheme was utilized for entry into the regression model: class grade (0 = B or C, 1 = A). The data were screened for outliers prior to analysis. A participant was considered an outlier when the absolute value of the standardized z-score was greater than 3. This process did not reveal any outliers in the

data. The variance inflation factors (1.083) and tolerance levels (.923) did not seem to reveal a problem with multicollinearity.

The classification table is presented in Table 24. Of the students, 52 received an A for their final course grade, and 23 of the students received a B or C. Thus, if one guessed that every student would receive an A, one would classify 69.3% of the participants correctly by chance. The omnibus model was not a significant predictor of course grade, $\chi^2(2) = 2.58$, $R^2 = .05$, p > .05. The model correctly predicted 94.2% of the students who received an A in the course. However, the model was able to correctly classify only two (8.7%) among the students who received a course grade of B or C. The coefficients are listed in Table 25. The coefficients indicated that elaboration and course satisfaction were not significant predictors of course grade within this model.

Table 24

Observed	Predicted				
	Cou	% Correct			
	А	B or C	_		
Course Grade					
А	49	3	94.2		
B or C	21	2	8.7		
Overall			68.0		

Classification Table for Research Question 3

Regression Coefficients for Research Question 3

							95.0% C.	I.for EXP(B)
Predictor	В	<i>S.E</i> .	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Elaboration	-0.04	0.29	0.02	1	.894	0.96	0.55	1.69
Course Satisfaction	0.25	0.16	2.46	1	.117	1.28	0.94	1.75

Research Question 3b

Research Question 3b. Is there a statistically significant relationship between students' elaboration, overall course satisfaction and overall course performance (final grade)?

H₀: Students' elaboration and overall course satisfaction do not have statistically significant relationships to their overall course performance (final grade).
H_A: Students' elaboration and overall course satisfaction have statistically significant relationship to their overall course performance (final grade).

I intended to use a binary logistic regression to address Research Question 3. The binary logistic regression is appropriate when predicting a dichotomous dependent variable. For this research question, overall course completion was to be coded pass/fail for entry into the regression equation. However, only one participant failed the course. Therefore, the lack of variability in the dependent variable precluded the use of the binary logistic regression. The traditional multiple linear multiple regressions also were not possible because the remaining course grade data were ordinal scaled rather that ratio scaled. Therefore, I continued with the Spearman correlation because of the scale limitations and the lack of variability in the criterion. The Spearman correlation is a nonparametric equivalent of the Pearson correlation. It is appropriate when assessing the relationships among ordinal scaled variables. The descriptive statistics for the dependent and independent variables are listed in Tables 26 and 27, respectively. Most of the students (68, 89.5%) received an A or B in the course. The correlations (Table 28) indicated that elaboration and overall course satisfaction were not significantly related to the participants' course grade, $r_{sp} = .02$, p > .05 and $r_{sp} = .12$, p > .05, respectively.

Table 26

Descriptiv	e Stat	tistics	for	Course	Grad	es
4						

Course grade	п	%
А	52	68.4
В	16	21.1
С	7	9.2
D	0	0.0
F	1	1.3

Table 27

Descriptive Statistics for Regression Predictors

Variable	n	М	SD
Elaboration	108	6.10	0.90
Overall course satisfaction	107	5.83	1.60

Bi-variate Spearman	<i>Correlations</i>	for Research	h Question 3
---------------------	---------------------	--------------	--------------

	1	2	3
Course Grade (1)		.02	.12
Elaboration (2)			.40**
Overall Course Satisfaction (3)			

p* < .05. *p* < .01.

Summary of Research Questions 1-3

The research findings indicated that for Research Question 1, SRL and task value were significant positive predictors of elaboration within this model. This suggested that elaboration increased with increasing levels of SRL and task value within this model. The participants' self-efficacy and prior experience in online courses were not significant predictors of elaboration within this model.

For Research Question 2, the coefficients indicated that frustration was a significant negative predictor of overall course satisfaction. This implied that course satisfaction increased with decreasing levels of frustration within this model. Surprisingly, the coefficients also indicated that boredom was a significant positive predictor of overall course satisfaction, $\beta = 0.16$, p < .05, even though the bivariate correlation of boredom and satisfaction was negative (-.48). This indicated that course satisfaction increased with increasing levels of boredom within this model when both boredom and frustration were used as predictors.

In Research Question 3, the dependent variable, course completion, could not be used for the logistic regression since there was only one respondent who failed the course

(lack of variability in this group). I went back and tried to use course grades by grouping students into two categories: A and B/C for the logistic regression. The model was not significant however. Next, a nonparametric Spearman correlation was done. The correlations suggested elaboration and overall course satisfaction were not significantly related to the participants' course grade.

The Qualitative Participant Profiles

The lived experiences of community college students enrolled in an online science course were found in their rich descriptions. The study profiled 12 students from various online courses at two community colleges with each respondent's permission. The profile of each respondent explains how I came to know him or her in the course of the interview. The respondents offered details about their family life, education, career goals, and the purpose of enrolling in the online science course.

1. Allison

Allison was 24 years old when we talked. She was married with no children. She was an only child. Her husband was self-employed and worked in the computer field. Immediately after high school, Allison had enrolled at a nearby state university to study business, majoring in finance. After 2 years, Allison found she did not like business and "didn't want to continue doing it." While volunteering at a hospital, she decided to shift to a career in the medical field. She currently works 20-30 hours a week as a CNA and as an EKG technician. While taking the science online course in the fall semester, she said that she also had worked part-time for 10-15 hours per week, but "closer to 15 hours per week."

Because a local community college was nearby, Allison enrolled there to earn an associate's degree with the goal of transferring to another 4-year college or university. Before enrolling in the college, Allison had taken two online courses in English and psychology at another community college. She said she prefers online classes over face-to-face classes in subject areas with which she was familiar because online classes could accommodate her work schedule. Allison indicated that she was comfortable taking science courses since she had already taken face-to-face courses in chemistry, anatomy, and physiology. The human genetics course she took at the college was her first online science course. Allison took the online genetics course because of her interest in the subject and because the course fulfilled a graduation requirement.

Allison characterized herself as an independent learner with a strong predilection for visual learning. She said she also learns by listening but more by looking at pictures and graphics. She described herself as someone who tends not to ask for help but who prefers to figure things out for herself.

2. Emily

Emily was a 22-year-old student who worked part-time to help pay for her education. She explained that she usually held multiple part-time jobs while attending college part-time. Her most steady part-time job over the past 5 years involved working at a nearby school district.

She referenced that she was currently living with her boyfriend who she had been with for about 2 years. She said she had a normal childhood but did not mention any other personal or family relationships. Immediately following high school, Emily entered a community college to earn an associate's degree in art. Initially, since she lived about

70 miles away from the community college and most of her classes were taken online. Emily liked the flexibility of time and place and she thought being able to take classes regardless of distance was an advantage of online learning. She explained, "the first time, when I first enrolled, it was all online for me." Emily said that she had enrolled in about five online courses during her previous semesters at the college. These online courses were mainly in "reading and language arts," such as film art, literature, and world geography. Because of this experience, Emily was very comfortable with the online learning format as well as the Web-based Blackboard course management platform the college used to deliver the courses.

Emily described herself as someone who learns well independently. She particularly likes hands on learning and is comfortable figuring things out on her own. She added, "I think that is why I do well in online courses because I try to learn from my mistakes and go from there." The anywhere, anytime nature of online learning appealed to her way of studying.

Prior to taking the online astronomy class at the college, Emily described herself as a strong, self-reliant student, "I have never gotten lower than a B+ in any class. Mainly all I get is A's." She was also a member of the honor society on campus. Emily described herself as someone who was organized and kept "on top of things." She commented on the fact that she enjoyed independent study and liked "working alone more." Further, she commented on working on her own: "I guess it is just less distractions for me. I can think about what I am doing a lot easier than having to do what everybody else is doing." Emily also noted that work was easier for her because she believed that "by yourself, you can get a lot more done. You can ask more questions, and you can understand it better

because you know where your weaknesses are." She also believed that in the safety of the Internet she could more easily relate to others, keep on topic, and "get the point across rather than being in a class and having somebody take a conversation way out there." She added that she knew she had been doing really well in school up until the science online course.

Emily enrolled in the online astronomy class during the summer semester. She stated that her favorite part of the course was the astronomy night sky drawings. Additionally, she thought the course was four credit hours and indicated that she worked a lot during while taking the online course, with two part-time jobs, one at a record store and another at a school. Additionally, while she also sporadically worked three jobs, she found time to study at night and on the weekends.

During that summer, Emily found the astronomy course to be very frustrating: "it was a tough class to take." She added, "I think it was the hardest class I have taken online." During the course, she experienced a high level of anxiety: "I felt a lot more stressed out than with any other course online that I have taken." Emily cited multiple sources of frustration and anxiety with the online science course. The first area of frustration was the extensive math involved with the coursework. She said that she became "lost" in the course because the math was "really hard to even understand, that was really the worst part for me." She also described the subject as conceptual, which "was really complicated."

A second area was the instructor feedback, which she described in the following comment: "He gave us feedback, but it did not always make sense." She noted that her initial confusion, if it was not cleared up, only compounded when the feedback came: "I

mean, if you are not understanding something and you get feedback it is hard. I think a lot of students, especially me, were discouraged from asking about it again." Therefore, when something was unclear initially, she fell into a vicious cycle of not understanding the material in the later chapters or the feedback from the later content areas of the course. She felt this type of confusion made the class "tough."

The third area was the textbook reading and homework assignments. The chapters in the textbook were long and full of material. She elaborated, "It took a long time to read and understand a science book. I felt like the reading was very hard. It took up the most time in the class" and the content was hard to relate to. As Emily stated, there was an "endless amount of theories you didn't know . . . endless amounts of stuff that you had to figure out." Emily also felt that the homework was confusing because it was on a different Web-based platform than Blackboard. Further, there was a test every week that consisted of about 60 to 70 questions. In addition, there was a video every week that Emily described as, "really long and really hard to understand." She also felt overwhelmed by the amount of material and the presentation of the material, as she stated, "No matter how hard I tried, I felt like I was swamped" and "It was really hard to grasp the subject matter in a lot of ways because there was so much to take in at once. It was really overwhelming."

The level and constraints of communication (e.g., via email exchanges), were also frustrating for Emily. She considered the communication rather limited with her online instructor: "I just didn't feel like the communication was open enough for me. I just didn't feel comfortable calling."

She described her situation: "I asked a few questions, but it is kind of hard and frustrating to just talk back and forth in email." She complained, "It was really hard to keep up that communication." Emily described a communication gap between herself and the instructor: "If I would have asked more questions, I doubt it would have helped me much in that class. I felt so confused by it. It was just really hard."

Emily completed her online astronomy course with the support of her family and her boyfriend. She thought her boyfriend was very supportive and comforting to her as she struggled with the course material. In the end, Emily indicated that she earned a grade of a D in the online science course. "I am just glad that I just passed it," was her final thought for the online science course.

3. Jim

Jim was a 20-year-old full-time college student at the time I interviewed him. He had recently transferred from a local community college to a large private 4-year university in Chicago. He had attended the community college for 2 years. Although he was still undecided about his major, Jim did express an interest in studying the sciences. Jim specified familiarity with the science content from prior coursework. He had a chemistry class and an earth science class at the community college. He also reported having taken physics, chemistry and biology in high school.

Jim had completed an online class in computer arts and two online English classes before enrolling in his online genetics class. He valued the flexibility of the online course. "What I liked about the course was just the flexibility and not having to go to another class." While enrolled in the science online course, he also registered for three other classes that met on campus 20 days a week.

Jim believed that the online courses were a great way for people with busy schedules and multiple commitments to learn. "I think that the online course is just a good way to go if you are really busy," he said. "If you don't have time to fit in another class and are good at staying on task, it is a good way to go."

Jim described himself as an independent learner with a good memory. He claimed to be comfortable with computer technology and learning online. He did not experience any anxiety or boredom while taking the course. He viewed the online class as an opportunity for self-paced learning. For Jim, the anytime, anyplace, anywhere nature of learning was nice "because you go at your own pace. You can work on your homework whenever."

4. Charles

Charles was a 70-year-old lifelong learner who had a graduate degree in biochemistry and a medical degree. He was married and a father of six grown children (three biological, three adopted) when we talked. He now was a semi-retired physician who only worked only 10 hours a week.

Charles had an impressive educational background. He had completed 4 quarters at a very prestigious university in California, gone on to complete an undergraduate degree in chemistry and a master's degree in biochemistry, and then attended medical school at University of Nebraska. After medical school and residency in pathology, Charles had enrolled in the Air Force, where he taught for 2 years. He had returned to the community college to complete an online course in astronomy for personal education and pleasure. He had been "an amateur astronomer for at least 10 years" and thought that taking a course would give him the structure to learn the science behind the subject. He

admitted to having a lifelong interest in astronomy and of owning two telescopes. In short, Charles loved to learn and take on many new subjects that interested him.

The science course was Charles's first online course. The flexibility and convenience of the online course appealed to him because he did a fair amount of travelling and still worked part-time out-of-state. For Charles, the anywhere nature of online learning was the most attractive feature. He noted, "I was out of town for nearly half of the course." During the semester that he took the science online course, he said he was able to attend his oldest granddaughter's graduation and had spent nearly 6 weeks in Washington State. He described the online science course as "fantastic." After he completed his online s astronomy course, Charles said he would like take a more advanced course in astronomy.

Charles described himself as "a pretty compulsive person" and as a "compulsive studier." From his days in the military, he claimed that he was well organized, disciplined, and comfortable working independently and "figuring things out on his own." In addition, he indicated that he was comfortable taking science courses since he already had a strong background in math and science. He said that prior to taking the course online, he had "tons of material on astronomy," so that part of him just wanted to "fill in the gap." While taking the online science course, Charles was very enthusiastic and stated the only drawback was the technology, which he was unfamiliar with and sometimes had to figure out on his own. He said that he did not earn a grade in the class because he was simply auditing it.

Charles was a life-long learner who was teaching himself French by using the Rosetta stone software. By the time of interview, he had already mastered three out of the five levels in the program within just a few weeks.

5. Hillary

Hillary was an older adult learner who enjoyed taking courses in subjects that interested her. Hillary said she loves to learn and try out different subjects. The format of distance education afforded her the ability to do her work from her computer. She explained her joy of learning: "I just like doing it. It is also a good example I think, for my daughter." Hillary felt that by her taking a class every semester it would help motivate her 14-year-old daughter to do well in school. Hillary also explained "that I am not just barking out orders, but that I can understand how it is to do some homework too." In the process of setting an example for her daughter, Hillary has taken a number of courses online. She described herself as a "pretty experienced student" because she has taken at least one distance "course a semester."

Hillary earned an undergraduate degree in French in the 1970s from a large state university on the east coast. However, she decided that this degree would not get her a job in a career she was interested in. Hillary stated that for a while she "drifted into different accounting and bookkeeping jobs." While working, she began taking correspondence courses in business and accounting from a large Midwestern state university. After taking these courses, she decided to pursue another bachelor's degree in general studies with an emphasis in accounting.

She had returned to the community college to complete an online course in astronomy for personal education and pleasure. Concerning this class, she thought that she "wanted to learn a bit more about it" and said she "enjoyed looking at the stars."

Concerning her experiences with online courses, Hillary could be described as a returning life-long distance learner. Hillary had taken numerous correspondence and online courses prior to enrolling in the online astronomy course. She revealed, "I would say I have probably have taken 15 or so" distance correspondence courses prior to the science online course at the community college. As far as online course, she also claimed to have "taken probably eight or so online courses in various areas" including economics, psychology, sociology, and math.

The independence, flexibility, and convenience of the online courses appealed to Hillary and she felt that she was "an experienced distance student" and confident that she could manage her time effectively. Hillary also described herself as a learner who needs both visual material, such as audio-visual lead instruction, and textbook-based instruction. She claimed to prefer a regular textbook over an e-book because "I have to highlight and underline." By highlighting, underlying, and rereading material, Hillary described a system where she not only constantly monitored her own learning but also utilized different resources, people, and activities to help her learning. She utilized generative note taking in the course of her studying. As she indicated, "I made notes on them [wrong answers] . . . and used those notes and labs pretty extensively." She went on to describe how she generated her own "little system of notebooks."

Hillary further described herself as "pretty excited" and "thought that I would do well" before taking the astronomy course online. She also stated, "I would have an easier time understanding the material."

After completing the course, Hillary described the online course as "challenging," "stressful," "frustrating," and more work than she had anticipated. For Hillary, the abstract concepts were especially challenging to understand, as she stated, "I was busy just trying to grasp some the concepts." She also struggled to gasp not only the main concepts but also the math that was associated with the course, and she found herself emailing the instructor about questions and assignments. The instructor was very prompt in returning the students' emails and indicated that she thought the terminology and not having enough examples to help guide her learning was a big obstacle.

Despite her struggles, Hillary believed in being a continuing student and enjoyed taking online classes on her own time, as she was also enrolled in a geology course. At the time of interview, she indicated that she found the geology course much more user friendly because the instructor had taken the time to incorporate instructional lecture and internet streaming components into the course.

6. Jeannie

Jeannie was 54-year-old lifelong learner who had a previous career as a chiropractor. Jeannie loved to learn, experiment with, and take courses in subjects that interested her. Originally from New York, she worked and had moved to Colorado to shift her career focus. She worked full-time as a development coordinator and managed different construction projects for the ski resorts in Colorado. She lived within 6 miles of a community college and liked taking continuing education courses the college. She

acknowledged that she had taken numerous courses for her "own education" on-campus at the community college prior to enrolling in her online astronomy course.

The astronomy course was Jeannie's first online course, and she had enrolled in the course for the fall semester due to a long-time interest in the subject. For Jeannie, the subject of astronomy "was something that I was interested in." She further discussed her long-standing interest: "I always liked the stars," and she noted that she could only take the astronomy class online since it was only offered online. Jeannie recognized, upon reflection, that her learning preference would have been to take the class on-campus.

Jeannie described herself as having a strong science background. In general, she depicted herself as comfortable with both independent learning and working with others. However, she noted, "I generally work independently, if I were doing homework or a project." At the same time, Jeannie noted that she enjoyed the interaction, stimulation, and back and forth connections made in the classroom from the exchange of others' questions of the concepts and theories discussed in class. For example, she felt that to "have other students around in the class asking questions sort of broadened the experience of being in class." Jeannie expressed her compatibility with the face-to-face classroom setting as well as online environment: "I do like the class experience as well."

In contrast to her face-to-face classroom experiences, concerning her online learning experience, she felt that she missed the "benefit of other people asking questions." She also explained that, in the online environment, she had to "figure out everything on my own," which was something that took more effort than she originally anticipated.

Further, Jeannie remembered having spent approximately 20 hours per week on the course and she thought the course demanded more time and effort than she had initially anticipated. The reasons she stated for having to spend so much time with the material revolved around the unusual nature of the subject and the complexity of the math involved in the course. As she explained, "There were huge equations, trying to figure out the gravitational pull of the Earth on the moon and the moon on the Earth. They were more complicated than I thought." Jeannie went on to describe how this made her feel like she was going to school all the time, which resulted in her feeling "aggravated and annoyed" by the experience. She was able to email the instructor for further clarification and help; however, she noted, "I felt like a pain in the butt because I had to ask a lot of questions. I would write my questions when I was annoyed."

During the semester when she was enrolled in the online astronomy course, she did not enroll any other courses, online or face-to face. Jeannie indicated that she received a B as her final grade; however, she was disappointed with her experience and she indicated that she would not take another online course in the future.

7. Tom

Tom was 24 years old, married, and a father of an 18-month old when we first spoke. He worked as an international sales development specialist for a large biotechnology company located in a town near the community college. He had been with the company for approximately 5 years.

Before employment, Tom completed a bachelor's degree in science and marketing at a 4-year university. Upon graduation and while working full-time at the biotechnology company, Tom began taking online courses offered at the college, where

he successfully completed two online courses: one in math and one in management. He had never taken an online science course prior to this experience; however, he had taken several face-to-face science courses as an undergraduate student. Through his prior science coursework, he felt he had a solid foundation in the sciences, which helped him successfully complete the online course in genetics.

Tom's position with his company required him to travel extensively and kept him constantly moving internationally and domestically. He felt the science online course afforded him access to education that otherwise would have been difficult to schedule into his busy life. The online science course also afforded him the convenience and flexibility of completing his work anytime and anywhere. While enrolled in the online genetics course at the college, he spent approximately 10-15 hours per week reading and studying.

Tom described himself as someone who makes sure to give his education equal priority as other areas of his life, including his personal and professional development. As such, he saw the online science course as a way to juggle his busy work demands while continuing to expand his knowledge base. Specifically, Tom wanted to take the science course to "increase my knowledge of genetics." Further, he felt that an expanded knowledge base would help him gain more confidence and understanding the biotechnology products he was involved with through his job.

Tom characterized himself as an independent learner who works well in both groups and independently, depending on the setting and type of work. For example, if a project involved a lot of thought and attention to specific details, he said he would like to work alone. However, he does enjoy learning from others in a group as well as getting the

stimulation of several ideas coming together to make a working product. His described his work habits: "depends on what I am doing" and the type of people he interacts with. In short, depending the situation, Tom loves to learn and continue to use online learning as an avenue to learn new subjects.

Tom was generally pleased with the online classes at the college and stated that he would be very likely to take more courses in the future if necessary for his work.

8. Bernadette

Bernadette was a 27-year-old nontraditional student who was married and the mother of 2-year old child. She was also a stay-at-home mom. She mentioned that she was going through a divorce at the time we talked.

Bernadette grew up in Pennsylvania. Upon graduation from high school, she attended a 4-year university in Pennsylvania as a marine biology major. However, she dropped out of school after her first semester because she was doing poorly and had a low GPA. She explained, "I was not ready to dedicate myself to learning and getting an education." After Bernadette dropped out of school, she enrolled in a vocational/technical school and became a certified phlebotomist. She was working at a blood center and as a waitress when she enrolled in courses at her local community college. She said she took about 20 credit hours during this time. After 3 years, she decided to move to Colorado for her husband. Following her marriage, Bernadette became a mother and stayed at home to take care of her child for about a year. However, after being a stay-at-home mom, she decided that she wanted to continue her education.

At this point, she had been out of school for approximately 10 years. Upon beginning school this time, she stated that her goal was to transfer to a 4-year institution.

Her immediate educational aspirations comprised completing an associate's degree in English or history. After completing her degree, she planned to move and transfer to a 4year university where she hoped to pursue a pre-med curriculum.

Bernadette mentioned that she had taken two online classes (world geography and cultural anthropology) before enrolling in an online biology course at the community college. In the geography course, Bernadette explained that the course incorporated interesting technology such as Google Earth. Additionally, the instructor incorporated many fascinating aspects of discussion, politics, and controversial topics related to world geography that made the course interesting. Similarly, she stated that the online anthropology class was a "really good class." She also said there was a lot of debate and discussion incorporated into the online anthropology class that made it very interactive. Bernadette also indicated that she felt "comfortable about it because I already had a background with . . . that kind of information."

Her reasoning for enrolling in the online biology class was because she did not have a car [limited transportation] and experienced limited childcare options. The online science course gave her the flexibility of studying on her own time and the access that she otherwise would not have had.

Bernadette further described herself as an independent learner and someone who "loves going to school." She loved to learn on her own time. For Bernadette, the online class offered the ability to "do it on my own time; I got to go at my own pace." She indicated that she took the online science course because she enjoyed all the sciences and "never felt anxiety about taking a course." She also expressed a familiarity and comfort level with the content and stated she had good prior knowledge of the information: "I was
already familiar with information." Bernadette was pretty comfortable with technology, although, since she had been out of school for a number of years, she did mention that she had trouble learning some programs, such as PowerPoint, during the class.

Bernadette portrayed the online biology course as having, "a lot of reading." She stated that the course was "more or less cut and dry" with some, but not a lot, of incorporation of discussion, debate, and interactivity. Additionally, the discussion required students to choose an article from a scientific journal article and write a short synopsis; then other students would comment on the summaries. She also noted that the class involved watching videos and participating in a series of labs. Bernadette reported a wide variation on the amount of time she spent on each lab. Finally, she summarized the course: "for the most part, it's a self-driven course."

9. Michael

Michael was 39-year-old adult learner who wanted to further his education in order to change careers. He was employed full-time and he lived approximately 10 miles from the community college he attended. He was married with two children who were 17 and 19 years old. Michael worked in the medical billing field for 10 years and wanted a career change with more opportunity.

Michael was pursuing an associate's degree in criminal justice. His immediate short-term educational goal was to transfer to a 4-year university. His long-term goal was to switch careers. While taking classes at the community college, he worked mainly Monday through Friday and he used the weekends and nights to study and take his online courses.

The online courses offered at the college provided him the access he needed to complete his educational goals. Further, Michael viewed the online science course as a way to continue working while fulfilling the requirements for his associate's degree. Specifically, he wanted to fulfill his general education science education credits by taking the online science course. Michael also mentioned that he had taken two other classes in addition to the online genetics class while enrolled at the college. Although he thought online courses were a good idea, he readily admitted that there were many distractions, such as "work, traffic coming home, trying to get dinner ready, and family" that hampered his academic online learning experience. He also found the course very frustrating and expressed a great amount of anxiety about the level of support the college provided in terms of tutoring and answering his questions while enrolled in the course. His final grade in the course was an F.

10. Sandy

Sandy was a 42-year-old adult learner who was self-employed. She worked fulltime as a visual artist with a focus in painting. She considered herself an "alternative student" because she had previously completed a non-accredited art school many years ago. Sandy had decided about 1 1/2 years ago to go back to school so she "could get a degree that would actually mean something." In the short-term, she planned to complete her associate's degree in art with an emphasis in visual art from her local community college. In the long-term, she planned to transfer to a 4-year college to obtain a bachelor's in fine arts.

Sandy returned to the community college to complete an online course in astronomy for two main reasons, (a) to fulfill a graduation requirement and (b) because of

her interest for the subject. Concerning her reasons for enrolling in the online science course, she stated, "I need to have science credits for my degree" and "the idea of astronomy really interested me." She expressed a genuine interest in knowing more about "what the universe is made of and what space is all about."

The online science course in astronomy was Sandy's first experience taking an online course. She described the course: "everything that we did was online with the exception of our astronomy journal." She also noted that she could only take the astronomy class online since it was only offered online and the class did not offer a face-to-face element. She also recognized that her learning preference would have been, at first, to take the class on-campus.

Sandy claimed that, from the onset, she preferred to learn from others by participating in class discussions and the group synergy that occurred from instructordriven exchanges was hard to duplicate in the online science course. Sandy noted that she enjoyed the interaction, stimulation, and connections made in the classroom from the exchange of others' ideas. She also thought such connections were not possible in the online environment when "left to your own devices."

Sandy further described herself as a "perfectionist" who had found many of the sciences "intriguing and interesting" prior to taking the astronomy course online. However, she claimed not to be personally drawn to the quantitative aspect or math side of science and she felt that she was more of a "history, art, and writing person."

Before taking her online science course, she described her course expectations along the lines of the philosophy and visual elements of astronomy, such as looking at and drawing pictures of the night sky. For Sandy, astronomy was more about the visual

aspect of the science with drawings, philosophy, and history associated with the night sky. During the semester, she claimed that in the online environment, it was hard for her to ask questions about the math problems and feedback from the instructor was minimal.

After completing the course, she associated the online course with high levels of frustration and anger because the requirements and content covered placed too much emphasis on mathematical measuring and "a lot of figuring out." Specifically, she felt the course placed too much emphasis on the "mathematical movements of the universe." For Sandy, the frustration she felt for the course varied: "I was really frustrated not just with the instructor. I was also really frustrated with the college for not having tighter parameters for the definition of the class." With this comment, she was referring to the need for the course description to be more descriptive concerning the required prerequisites. Her final course grade was a D.

11. Jackie

Jackie was a 36-year-old nontraditional student with a reading comprehension disability. She was also recently divorced and the mother of three young boys; 5, 6, and 15 years old. She said, "Because I am a single mom, I am trying to do all my classes online."

Jackie graduated from high school in 1992 and took some courses at the community college, sporadically, while working full-time. She spent a number of years married, taking care of her family, and working various jobs. She was laid off from her full-time position about 2 years ago. Upon losing her job, Jackie decided to enroll fulltime at the community college in August 2009. In the short-term, she planned to complete her associate's degree in art with a major in early childhood development from her local

community college. In the long-term, she planned to use her associate's degree to become a child play therapist. Jackie returned to the community college to complete an online course in biology for a variety of reasons including flexibility, interest, and the need to fulfill a graduation requirement. Concerning her reasons for enrolling in the online science course, she stated, "I need to have science credits for my degree."

Access, flexibility, and convenience of the online course allowed Jackie to juggle both priorities of her family and education. She noted, "It was more of convenience. To tell the truth, I didn't want to go to class. I am going to school, but I didn't want to take time away from my children." In terms of access, Jackie was grateful for the opportunity to have the flexibility to study on her own time: "If it wasn't for these online courses, I don't think for a single parent, or any parent trying to further themselves in education it would not be possible." Usually, Jackie would begin studying around 8 p.m. after her children went to bed. She noted that she would usually go to bed around midnight and she discussed how difficult it was for to keep up with completing her assignments on time. She stated that she probably spent, on average, 40 hours a week working on the online biology course.

Jackie had completed several semesters of online courses prior to enrolling in her first online science course. For example, she had taken three other online courses in various areas. The semester Jackie enrolled in her online biology course, she also took another two online courses, concurrently. She claimed that she was pretty computer savvy and would most likely enroll in another online course in the future.

Jackie also claimed that, from the onset, she was apprehensive about taking a science course online since she had not had a science course in a long time. She also

described her initial anxiety toward science as she thought she was not good at the subject. Prior to enrollment in the online biology course, she had taken one course in math and one course in English at the community college.

Jackie also described that her reading disability was a source of anxiety and possible obstacle for her learning and doing well in the course. Because of this comprehension disability, she said that she had difficulty reading and understanding the textbooks. Further, it would take several readings to understand and, even then, she might not be able to comprehend the material. In the past, Jackie had used tutors to help her with the college level material; however, this semester was the only time she did not have one. To compensate, Jackie reached out to two other women in the course and formed her own study group. By listening to the other students and asking questions when she was with them, she began to understand the material. She also described how she asked "a lot of questions" and "reread a lot of things."

Jackie enrolled in the online biology course over an 8-week summer semester. During that semester, she felt that there "was a lot of information and not a lot of time." For example, the class required the completion of 11 labs and 11 assignments. In addition to this work, students were also required to watch videos and participate in field trips to the zoo.

After completing the course, she described it as the most difficult course she took online. The main reasons that she thought the course was so difficult were because of the many time-consuming assignments the fact that the textbook was difficult for her to get through. Personally, during this time, she was going through a divorce, which, she noted,

"got really bad a month into the semester." The divorce made the summer especially emotionally taxing and the semester even more difficult.

Jackie completed her online biology course with the support of her instructor. She thought her instructor was very supportive and comforting to her as she struggled with the course material as well as her personal obstacles. She noted that her instructor provided the supportive empathy which helped her persevere and "stick to it."

12. Anne

Anne was a single, 30-year-old nontraditional student when we spoke. She was the oldest of six children with four brothers and one sister. She described herself as a person who took on the responsibility and care of her other siblings as she helped them with a variety of work-life issues such as filling out financial aid forms for college to helping her brothers find employment. As she explained, "I am just the kind of person who takes care of things at home." Anne also dabbled in photography, a long-time hobby. She also had a side-business taking graduation, engagement, and wedding photos for family and friends.

Anne earned an undergraduate degree in business with a math minor from a 4year college in Nebraska. Following graduation, Anne worked for a nonprofit organization in Denver, CO. After working there for 6 years, Anne felt "burned out" and wanted to try something different. After some self-reflection, she decided that she would try teaching math at middle school level.

For the past 3 years, she has worked as a middle school substitute teacher fulltime, while she pursued her math endorsement. She indicated that she was comfortable with math; however, found science courses rather complex. Annie stated, "I avoided it

[science] like the plague" in college. As a result, she had limited experience taking science courses at the college level. However, while in college, she had taken one course in biology. Anne enrolled in an island biology course during an interim break between semesters. In her class, she was able to participate in virtual travel to New Zealand, Fuji, and Australia and wrote a paper on the Great Barrier Reef. She described the biology course as "difficult" and "hard" but "fun" at the same time. She did not mind taking classes that were challenging as long as they interested her. Anne revealed, during the interview, an adventurous quality about herself and a desire to try new things.

As a substitute teacher, she was called on to teach "everything in the building" and gained valuable experience teaching. While teaching many areas at the school, she learned that math was really the subject area that she would like to teach. Last year, Anne was offered a long-term teaching position in math at the middle school after a teacher had left for maternity leave. She stated that she was currently on track for an alternative license teaching program. Anne wanted to use the credits earned in the online science course in astronomy to secure an endorsement certificate in math.

Anne described herself as an independent learner who was highly self-motivated and liked to achieve good grades. She stated, "I just love to learn." She also took great pride in her education as she stated, "I take education seriously . . . I wanted to put my best effort forward." Online learning appealed to her sense of flexibility and her busy lifestyle. Additionally, distance education was perfect for her complex schedule, family commitments, and busy life. As she pointed out, "it really worked out for me," since she preferred to learn alone.

Anne took the online astronomy course over the summer and she described that, initially, she was not apprehensive about taking the course. However, looking back on the experience, she depicted the course as "really difficult, but I liked it." She was not afraid of the challenge and she wanted to do well so she worked hard in the course. She put in approximately 16 hours per week on the astronomy course. She also said she would study between 4 and 5 hours for the tests. Concerning the time spent on the course, she stated, "I was not expecting it to be that kind of a load." Further, she mostly studied, read, and prepared her the assignments at night and on the weekends.

In terms of learning, Anne felt that there were some aspects of the online astronomy course that were easier than a face-to-face course. For instance, the online format was "easier" because she did not have to feel intimidated or self-conscious asking questions around other people in class. The online class format enabled her to ask questions directly to the instructor. She described the instructor as "pretty readily available" to answer questions. She also noted that she learned best visually but liked the quantitative math as well.

In other respects, Anne explained that online astronomy course was more difficult than a face-to-face course, specifically in the way it was taught because it was "super, super math heavy" with a significant amount of technical "science lingo" about different theories and principles. The incorporation of different theories and principles also required higher level thinking to answer the assignment questions. She expressed that there was "a lot of terminology that was thrown at you rather quickly."

The complexity of the material, along with her busy time-crunched schedule, made Anne worried and stressed about the course. She admitted that she had put some of

the pressure on herself because of her own expectations for wanting to do well. In order to combat these issues, Anne noted she "would try to start doing thing earlier in the week" and read the homework "as soon as it was posted."

During the summer semester, Anne also enrolled in another one credit hour course that was only 4 weeks long. For the most part, her time was dedicated solely to the online astronomy course over the summer term. Anne stated that she received a final grade of a B, and she was excited to take the additional online courses for her certification. She expressed, "I feel I learned more than I expected to learn."

Summary of Profiles

The participants were introduced to add faces to the voices that tell the story of the lived experiences of community college students enrolled in science online courses. Respondents came from various backgrounds with varying degrees of prior interest levels and experiences. Their reasons for enrolling in the science online course are presented next.

Motivations for Enrollment

Several online courses in biology, genetics, astronomy, nutrition and chemistry offered by a community college were sampled in this study. A number of the participants chose an online course because of its flexibility, convenience and access. Many participants expressed a personal preference to learn independently, and to try something new. Additionally, several participants indicated familiarity with the sciences and computer technology. Moreover, participants chose the online course because of personal interest in the subject.

Flexibility and Convenience

The nature of online learning allowed for individual variation in the physical environment. As a result, every student who took an online class was able to work at different times, in different locations, and under different conditions. The students were able to work from a variety of locations such as their homes, hotels, or remote locations.

The distance format allowed participants to determine when and where to complete the course. The flexibility of time and place took on different meanings for the participants. The opportunity to take an online class without going to the campus was particularly attractive feature for people with busy, unpredictable schedules and allowed participants to travel while still taking the course (geographic mobility). Other students appreciated the ability to take classes from their own homes, without worrying about transportation and child care. The online format allowed some of the participants to avoid problems of transportation, traffic, parking, and having to be at a set location at a set time. As a result, some participants stated that the online format made it possible for them to take more courses per semester. In addition, by restructuring their time, participants could fulfill their degree requirements while still working full-time. In this way, several participants were able to pursue their dreams and goals without significant personal or professional sacrifices.

Many of the participants enrolled in the science online classes because of the convenient schedule. Several could have taken on-campus science courses, but they chose the online format to ease the demands of childcare, work, and class schedules. The flexibility of time and place allowed Anne, Jim and Michael to work full-time while taking courses.

Geographic mobility was a key attraction for students in the online science course. Charles indicated that he spent over half of his time out of state while taking his online science course. For Tom, the online environment allowed him to keep an intensive travel schedule while being able to continue his education and self-improvement.

Access

The science online courses provided the access to higher education that Bernadette, Jackie, Emily, Tom, and Anne needed. They shared that online courses were their only access to higher education. Without this option, these participants would not have been able to continue their education.

As a result of geographic mobility, participants claimed that the science online course enabled them to overcome schedule problems associated with childcare or work. Allison, Bernadette, and Jackie explained how online courses allowed them to take classes while being able to take care of their young children. As a mother of a 2-year old, Bernadette, who had no car, believed that online course was her best option for access to higher education. She did not want her education to take time away from her child. The online science course allowed her to spend quality time with her child and still complete her course work. Jackie, a young single mother of three young children, could fulfill her degree requirements on her own schedule. Jackie stated that the online courses allowed her to finish her degree despite time and scheduling constraints.

Busy work schedules made many participants gravitate to the online format. The opportunity for higher education hinged on the availability of online courses for Allison, Emily, Michael, and Anne. Allison was able to juggle multiple part-time positions while enrolled in the science online course. The science online course created access for Emily

while working two part-time jobs. Michael claimed that online courses allowed him to hold his full-time position while pursuing a career change. Anne described how online courses allowed her to complete the certificate requirements for teaching at middle school.

Similarly, Tom had extensive job-related travel, which made his schedule very hectic. His travel schedule and busy family life made coming to campus virtually impossible. The science online course helped him to strengthen his background knowledge. The online format allowed him to engage in self-improvement and gain the specialized knowledge that he needed for his job.

Self-Enrichment in a Self-Paced Environment

Online science courses offered some participants the chance for self-enrichment and continuing education. Several participants expressed a longstanding fascination with science. Charles, Hillary and Jeannie were motivated by the self-enrichment aspect of online science courses. Many of the participants were already accustomed to learning independently. These participants described themselves as self-motivated and self-driven.

Many participants such as Jim, Jeannie, Hillary, Anne, and Tom said that they were already able to "figure things out" and were not afraid of trying new things. This comfort level with new experiences overflowed into many of the participants learning experiences as well. Anne, Charles, Hillary, Jeannie, and Tom indicated that they were comfortable with new subjects. Charles, Jim, Tom, Anne, and Jeannie also expressed a familiarity with the content because they had taken several science courses in the past. Both Charles and Jeannie already had graduate degrees in medicine and the sciences.

A few of the participants, like Anne, expressed a sense of pleasure for accomplishing "something very difficult." Hillary also stated, "I think I have a personal pride in being able to do a difficult course" which she attributed to her upbringing. As a child, Hillary's mother would encourage her by stating, "I always expect you to be the very best you possibly can." As a result, Hillary had good time management skills and was able to efficiently control her own learning.

Comfort Level

Participants, in general, had a genuine comfort level with online courses. Prior to enrollment in the science online course, Charles, Jeannie, Jim, Bernadette, and Tom had extensive background in the sciences and experience with other online courses. Michael, Emily, Hillary, Allison, and Jackie stated that they all had taken online classes in other areas and were comfortable with the community college's course management platforms. For instance, Hillary stated, "the last 5 years I have taken probably eight or so online courses."

An Interest in the Subject

Several participants enrolled in their science online because of an interest in the subject area. Some of them, who had a longstanding interest in the subject, wanted to learn more about it so that they could add to their knowledge base or apply the knowledge to their jobs. Charles, Hillary, Jeannie, Sandy, Anne and Sandy all expressed such a desire. Tom reported that he hoped to apply what he learned in his online genetics class to his current position as an international sales development specialist. Anne explained that the science online course enabled her to take courses toward certification as a math teacher while teaching full-time in a middle school.

Summary of Motivations for Enrollment

The motivations of students to enroll in science online courses varied. Many of the students were attracted to the flexibility and convenience an online course provided them. Several students viewed online courses as an avenue for access to higher education that otherwise they could not have. Some cited an interest in the material and subject area. Their interest in the material enabled them to pursue a personal self-enrichment goal in a self-paced learning environment. In addition, several respondents expressed a natural degree of comfort with learning independently with a technology platform. This subgroup preferred to learn online rather than face-to-face course due to the self-driven, independent nature of online learning.

Structural Themes from Students Enrolled in Science Online Courses (Experiences): Research Questions 4-6

Research Question 4. How do community-college students experience or make meaning of their online science courses? What underlying themes describe students' online experiences in community-college science courses?

Overall, the students surveyed in this study were satisfied with their course experience and indicated that they would be inclined to enroll in another online course. Most of the interviewed participants also stated overall they were satisfied with science online, even when they experienced challenges and obstacles. Such challenges led students to experience a variety of emotions.

The science online course structures describe how the phenomenon was experienced. Four structures emerged from the interviews. As the participants shared their experiences, their voices told of how SLR, student communication and interaction,

academic challenge, and their negative emotions shaped their lived experiences. This section of the dissertation describes a detailed examination of each structure.

Self-Regulated Learning Experience

Many participants reported during their course experience how they self-regulated their own learning strategies while enrolled in the science online course. Allison, Jeannie, Emily, Jim, Hillary, and Jackie were quick to identify the necessary adjustments they would have to make to complete their courses. The self-regulated adjustments came in a variety of forms: use of active learning strategies, self-monitoring of learning, and selfmanagement of resources.

Active learning strategies. Many of the participants described their learning as an active, constructive process whereby they set priorities and used various tools to organize on a daily, weekly or monthly basis. As Jim explained, "I would just make sure that I stayed on track" by setting aside time every week to read a chapter. Jim would just make sure "I got that done" every week. In addition, Charles liked having the "structure of having to do things on a timeline." Hillary reviewed how she would "have little tabs in my book for each chapter number" and how she had her own "little system of notebooks."

Several respondents took the time to work proactively on long-term assignments when they were done with the regular coursework. For example, Anne described how she would try to do assignments earlier and "maybe even read the homework as soon as it was posted." Jim said he would "read all four chapters, and then three days before the test, I would start to go over the parts that where tricky." Participants described prioritizing and re-prioritizing assignments, assessments with their family schedules, and

work. As Hillary stated, "I use my outlook calendar. I keep everything organized here in my office."

Participants expressed a need to extrapolate knowledge from the textbook and put concepts and terms together in their courses. Students recollected having to solve problems using material from the textbook chapters and doing laboratory exercises at home. Such exercises caused some students to go back and forth with the material, thus making the learning process more active.

Self-monitoring of learning. All of the participants described self-monitoring strategies such as rereading portions of difficult or information dense textbook chapters. Many of the participants used highlighting, note-taking, paraphrasing, annotating, and elaboration strategies and even researched the Internet beyond the textbook in order to gain further understanding and clarity. Self-correction was a strategy often utilized by many of the participants. For example, Jim said, "I also studied the study guide" since the guide provided different points that the instructor wanted the students to know. He would use the study guide to examine the areas where he would have "go back" to clarify and self-correct.

Some participants described utilizing a combination of several strategies in the science online courses. Allison, while taking the science online course, claimed to have used several learning strategies in order to understand the material.

If I had trouble with something or I thought that it was really difficult, I wrote it down. You know those empty little notebooks? I would write down all of that stuff in there so that I could frequently check back to it. If I had a problem, I would write down the chapter term that I needed to work on [and] I would keep working on it.

If a concept was broken down into steps, Allison would write down the steps in her own words and review that area over and over again until she understood it.

In order make the appropriate connection, some participants described constant self-monitoring. The students portrayed a constant back and forth between textbook, homework assignments, paraphrasing and taking notes. For instance, while taking the online science course, Jim used several learning and self-regulatory strategies. First, he would do the homework, which was assigned at the end of each chapter, and then review the chapter study guides after reading each chapter. The study guides explained points the instructor wanted the student to understand. Jim said that although he did not highlight, make flashcards, or take notes while reading, if something in the text seemed confusing, he would reread that section until he understood it. He reported constant self-monitoring between the material in the text and the study guides until he had memorized the material. He stated, "The parts that I didn't remember from the study guide, I would go back and look at those." When he encountered material that was new or confusing, he would "figure it out" by this constant back and forth with the material. Jim stated that there was "a lot of little specific details that you had to remember" for the course, which were helpful for tying in the content by referring constantly to the text and study guides. He said that he remembered some of the basic concepts such as cell division from his previous biology classes, and that this knowledge was helpful in the online course.

Self-monitoring of resources. Participants also depicted a constant monitor and self-regulation of resources through various dimensions. The first dimension included the amount of time students allocated, expended, and put forth. For example, Allison would adjust her studying depending on if there were tests due that week. As a result,

participants were also able to adjust the amount of effort they gave depending on the amount of class assignments and projects that were assigned as well as adjust to approaching deadlines. For example, Jim stated that he would read the textbook and go over "the parts that were confusing." The third aspect was the students' ability to control their study environment and adjust to it when necessary in order to get the course assignments done. Hillary depicted how she has an "office upstairs so that I have a nice, quiet place to go and work or do my studying. My family is very respectful of mom studying, so leave her be."

Interaction and Communication Experiences

Participants depicted the awkward interaction and communication both with each other and their instructor through discussion and email. For example, Allison indicated how the instructor "wasn't really in contact with us; there wasn't any kind of discussion." A few expressed that the electronic discussion boards were not used effectively and did not really add that much to the class experience.

Most participants expressed uneasiness with interaction and communication with the course instructor. Several participants indicated that electronic communication through email was cumbersome because they would have to wait for a response, creating a backlog of questions and therefore slowing down their understanding. Others expressed concerns about their inability to describe their questions through email on content that was highly conceptual and abstract. For Sandy, the course placed too much emphasis on "figuring out" things, and the instructor left out many key points to understanding the material. She felt the course placed too much emphasis on the "mathematical movements of the universe" which was an area that she found difficult to ask questions about through

email. The questions were confusing and the instructors' responses were hard to understand or sometimes unclear.

In order to compensate for such communication barriers, a few students like Jackie and Hillary formed their own study groups with classmates the semester they took the science online course. In this way, Hillary was able to ask questions to her peers and learn from them as well as directly from her instructor. Others, like Michael described how he enlisted the help of neighbors who were well versed in the sciences.

Many of the participants described themselves as independent learners. Charles, Jeannie, Hillary, Allison, Anne, Tom, Jim and Jackie described themselves as comfortable learning on their own. For instance, Tom characterized himself as an independent learner who works well in both groups as well as independently on his own depending on the setting and type of work. For example, if a project involves a lot of thought and attention to specific details, he said he likes to work alone. However, he does like learning from others in a group and getting the stimulation of several ideas coming together to make a work product. His work habit really "depends on what I am doing" and the type of people he is interacting with.

Research Question 5. What are the reasons associated with course satisfaction of community-college students enrolled in online science courses? What challenges and successes do they experience?

Successes experienced. Students described their successes in the form of including self-regulation, time management, self-reliance, self-monitoring and support from peers. Students liked the challenge of learning something new, were not afraid to do

something they never had done before, and liked learning about a topic that interested them. Some students even found the course useful for work or further self-enrichment.

In this particular population of students, participants, in general, were not afraid of trying something new and were eager to learn. Students actually welcomed the "new." The students felt that they could take on the academic challenges, manage their time, and resources in order to be successful with their courses. Academic challenges came in a variety of forms as did the self-regulation of time, resources and study schedules (previously described in Research Question 4). However, despite the challenges students felt that they learned what they needed to learn and the courses allowed them to stretch themselves more than they had before.

Challenges experienced. Students felt they learned best from exchanges of ideas, information, and perspectives and opinions from competent peers. They felt that such an exchange mediated the development of higher mental functions such as understanding difficult concepts, thinking and reasoning. However, the online learning environment afforded minimum interaction and exchange of ideas. This lack of exchange lead to a one-way "push" of content and ideas from the instructor to student with little room for discourse and exchange. A lack of exchange led students to experience negative emotions of feeling anxious, confused, and frustrated. Challenges also came in the form of material/content complexity, busy schedules, and unclear assignments.

Academic Challenge

Academic challenge was heard in four major areas: (a) academic content, (b) course structure, (c) technology frustrations, and (d) time management. In many cases, the expectations of the participants did not match the reality that they experienced with

the academic content in terms of breath and depth. They believed the academic content and background knowledge would be much easier to understand. Most believed, prior to taking the course, that the content would be understandable and they would have the time, intellectual capability, and personal resources required to master the material. They expected that they would be able to keep pace with the content and have the required amount of time to be able to accommodate the coursework. All the participants entered the science online courses with knowledge of computers and most of them had taken an online course in another subject area.

Academic Content. In their experience, the participants expected to find a much less demanding class. The reality was very different. The participants found the science classes concepts that were complex, unfamiliar, abstract, demanding, and not intuitive. Most found the science courses too conceptual with excessive and cumbersome terminology associated the basic understanding of the material. For instance, Anne stated that there was, "a lot of terminology that was thrown at you rather quickly." Specifically, Anne explained, "the vocabulary and measurements in particular, all the different kinds of measurements" made the course difficult.

Some participants were challenged because they lacked the prior academic math skills or appropriate study time for the course. A few discussed how the courses failed to focus on application to everyday matters and relate to a concrete understanding of how things work. This made the science courses abstract, conceptual, tricky to apply to "real world" situations, and demanding to remember for the participants. For several of the participants, the academic content presented in the science courses was cumulative and usually focused on constructivist learning principles. In order to progress, participants

had to grasp the content in a sequential order. Failure to do so left them unable to understand the full nature of processes further along in the course and made them feel lost. Additionally, when the participants were unable to keep up with the pace, they lost the foundation and grounding necessary to stay current with the course. The discord in expectations versus the experience became a significant barrier to the participants' learning experience.

Course structure. In terms of the course structure, participants discussed how science information was presented and the structure left them to feel disconnected, confused, and overwhelmed. Participants were challenged to maintain interest in the subject matter when practical applications were either not discussed at all or were delayed until much later in the course. For example, Anne related how the online astronomy course she took was "definitely higher level thinking and you had to understand what you were reading."

The use of multiple software and technology Web-based platforms throughout the different portions of the course presented barriers. The nature and extent of the problems varied. The challenge was figuring out how to navigate the course management systems such as Blackboard. As Charles indicated, "it was a totally new experience so I had to figure it out" and he felt likewise with the other websites that he had to use. He indicated that it was confusing initially. Others had to resolve hardware and Web compatibility issues. Such technology issues added to the frustration levels of participants as well as causing extra time to be spent needlessly on the course outside of the regular coursework.

Course organization. In terms of course organization, many participants found knowledge gaps in the concepts laid out in the courses. As Anne explained, "you were

expected to just jump into the text and figure things out." In addition, Charles described how the instructor would have questions on the exams that were "serially dependent" so that "if you make a mistake on question A, you going to miss everything for the next 10 questions." This was "poor design" on the instructor's part according to Charles. For example, Tom indicated that the genetics textbook at times left out full descriptions of key concepts and definitions which made it hard to understand some fundamental areas. The knowledge gaps lead many to be confused and apprehensive about the courses. Emily described how the science course left her feeling apprehensive, overwhelmed, and frustrated due to the amount and type of content that was presented so rapidly.

Resource Management. Time management and efficiently acquiring the subject content was another problematical area that participants struggled with due to amount of material presented in the science online courses, while at the same time, managing work and family commitments. Most of the participants, even with prior courses in on-campus science a course, felt that time was usually hard to find. For example, the complexity of the material along with her busy time-crunched schedule made Anne worried and stressed about the course. In order to combat these issues, Anne "would try to start doing thing earlier in the week" and read the homework "as soon as it was posted."

Participants said that they had to put in much more time into studying, doing homework, assignments, journals, and understanding the content than they expected. Many participants expressed having to read and reread chapters and portions of chapters that were information dense with complex interactions and concepts. Charles, even with a strong science background, described how he broke down tasks into chucks to study and assimilate a little bit at a time. Tom detailed using the back of the chapter questions to

check and re-check his understanding of the complex and detailed information his instructor required him to understand.

Research Question 6. What are the reasons underlying the inhibitory dimensions, such as boredom and frustration, that influence success in an online science course?

Negative Emotions Experienced

Many of the participants experienced several negative emotions while enrolled in the course. There were four major types of emotions: anxiety, stress, frustration, and confusion. The various emotions seemed to influence the amount of effort and time that students spent on tasks. Interestingly, none of the 12 participants interviewed expressed any feelings of boredom in the interviews.

Anxiety. Anxiety was expressed as an initial feeling before taking the course. Not having an immediate physical connection with the instructor lead to apprehension about taking a course. Students expressed how they were worried about having questions and being confused about the material and then not having anyone around to help them out. Most participants described how exams in particular were a source of anxiety and apprehension. In addition, as Jim related, "I had a lot of different terms and definitions" to be remembered. Allison expressed anxiety because the online genetics course had "only eight grades", which made the course "terrifying."

In addition, outside personal conflict such as a divorce seemed to negatively impact a student's perception and motivation. For example, Jackie was confronted with a divorce when enrolled in her course. The divorce made the class especially emotionally draining and added to her anxiety. However, when the instructor communicated and emphasized with Jackie, she felt that she could stick to the course and ended up finishing

successfully. She described having her feelings of anxiety and stress lessened through direct instructor support and reassurances.

Stress. Many of the participants felt stress at a variety of conditions: grasping difficult concepts, excessive terminology, juggling employment, and coursework. In terms of concepts, Hillary noted, "It was stressful; I was so busy just trying to grasp some concepts" and "not enough examples were provided in the textbook." The excessive terminology made the content hard to understand. As Anne explained, "It was heavy" and "extremely technical." Bernadette also described extensive reading for her online biology course. Anne felt a lot of stress having to juggle full-time employment, changing jobs in the semester, and coursework causing her to feel time pressures. As Anne described her experience, "I wouldn't have enough time until the weekend and I literally had just the last couple of days to finish everything before I had to get it to him the night of Sunday."

Frustration. Frustration was an emotion that many of the participants expressed which related to the level of support, high degree of math, abstract activities, and the sequential nature of the material for some of the science courses. The level of frustration depended on for many of the students the amount of prior knowledge, feedback, and interactivity students experienced in their online courses. For Michael, the genetics online course was very frustrating because of the inadequate level of support the college provided in terms of tutoring and answering his questions while enrolled in the course. Thus, students' frustration with various aspects of the course led to low overall course satisfaction.

Other students felt underprepared for the level and amount of math that several of the online science courses asked them to do. For Anne, the astronomy online course she

took was "super, super math heavy." Hillary described how she struggled to "grasp the main concepts and get the math and be able to complete the course." Jeannie related how the class asked her to use "huge equations." As a result, Jeannie was very aggravated and annoyed throughout the class.

The last area of frustration came from the sequential nature of the concepts and material. As Hillary expressed, "frequently the stuff we were doing built from what we had done in another lesson. So you had to know how to do a certain section before you could go on and do the next one that was coming up." The sequential nature of problems and the additive nature spurred on more frustration for students.

Obviously, if you didn't come up with one and you had to use a mathematical formula and your answer for that was wrong then obviously down the line then some of your other answers would wind up being wrong. That was a source of frustration for me.

In order to keep building upon what she didn't quite understand the first time around, Hillary tried to be as clear as she could be with her note taking and references. She would also go back correct her answers to homework so that she "could use them in the future." Thus, students' frustration with various aspects of the course led to low overall course satisfaction.

Confusion. Participants also expressed experiencing confusion when taking the science online courses. Confusion came in a variety of forms, such as, difficulty with math, abstract concepts, and technical terminology. Many students complained that the math level expected in the science online courses was much higher than described in the course descriptions. Hence, their expectation was different from what they encountered. The abstract concepts were hard to relate to and even harder to understand without having the immediate presence of an instructor.

Some students related their frustration to the high degree of textual material needed to be read for the course. The textbook, in many instances, was "heavy" with information which made it difficult for students to retain the information. Several students expressed that they felt that there were too many terms to remember. This made it hard for students to retain information.

Structural Themes from Students Enrolled in Science Online Courses (Personal Dispositions)

Although I anticipated developing structural themes based on student responses related to their personal experiences, I also identified a structural theme based on student responses related to their personal dispositions. The unique personal dispositions about these students was their ability not to be afraid to take on new endeavors, desire to learn, self-reliance, self-regulation of their learning, and resourcefulness. Students expressed a desire to learn the material and at the same time not be afraid of new learning environments such as Web-based course management software. In addition, students expressed a belief about themselves as positive worthiness and self-reliance, manifested in a can do attitude. By resourcefulness, this refers to (a) their ability to find and support the appropriate resources, such as teaming up with classmates, friends, or family members to make their own learning environment (create their own collaborate learning experiences) and (b) their ability to schedule time (give appropriate time on task) as well as juggle family and work effectively (multi-task). Also the participants were not deterred for finishing the course even though they experienced many task- and course-specific frustrations. For them, it was just another emotion to be felt, but ultimately, it did not stop them from trying to learn the material and finish the tasks.

Summary of Structures

The nature of online learning allowed for individual variation in the physical environment. Several structures emerged from participants' interviews about their experiences: SRL, communication, academic challenge, and negative emotions. As a result, every student who took an online class was able to work at different times, in different locations, and under different conditions. The students were able to work from a variety of locations. Consequently, participants experienced different online learning environments depending on their own dispositions, individual motivation, perceptions of academic challenge, independence, self-direction, self-reliance, prior comfort level of education, and resourcefulness.

Four major structures emerged in this research study. First, respondents described utilizing many levels of self-regulation such as active learning strategies, self-monitoring, resource, and time management. Second, in most cases, course interaction tended to be an area of difficulty and uneasiness for students because of the limited nature of email communications. Third, respondents indicated many successes and challenges in their courses. Students experienced a variety of successes, such as self-enrichment and learning information to help them with work related endeavors. Participants also expressed numerous types of academic challenges such as hard academic content, encountering difficult course structure, course organization, and resource management issues. Finally, respondents disclosed numerous negative emotions that they associated with the course, such as frustration, stress, anxiety, and confusion. For most respondents, such negative emotions impacted their recommendations to other classmates, and

acquaintances but did not significantly impact their desire to finish or not finish the course.

In addition, one structural theme emerged based on students' personal dispositions. The unique personal dispositions about these students was their ability not to be afraid to take on new endeavors, desire to learn, self-reliance, self-regulation of their learning, and resourcefulness. For student participants, personal dispositions did not impede their motivation to learn material and finish tasks.

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION

The present study examined the motivations and experiences of students enrolled in online science courses at a community college. This study was undertaken to provide an understanding of the relationships among each of the following variables: learning strategy (elaboration), self-efficacy, task value, negative-achievement emotions, metacognitive self-regulation, and course satisfaction to student's completion/ performance (course final grade). I used a mixed-method design with survey instrumentation and in depth interviews with 12 community college students who were enrolled in online science courses (astronomy, biology, human genetics, nutrition, and chemistry). Student interviews were used to gain an integrated perspective on the research regarding online learning environments.

Further, this study employed Bandura's (1997) social cognitive conceptual model of self-regulation to describe the relationships among the independent (e.g., self-efficacy, self-regulation, task value, elaboration, frustration, and boredom) and dependent variables. The model contained four interacting components: (a) personal factors, (b) personal behaviors, (c) academic outcomes, and (d) contextual features of the online learning environment. Guided by this model, I developed and explored the following six research questions:

Research Question 1. Are self-efficacy, self-regulatory strategies (metacognition), perceived task value, and prior knowledge statistically significant predictors of elaboration in online courses?

Research Question 2. Are students' achievement emotions (boredom and frustration) statistically significant predictors of overall course satisfaction?

Research Question 3. Are students' elaboration and online course satisfaction statistically significant predictors of final course grades?

Research Question 4. How do community college students experience or make meaning of their online science courses? What underlying themes describe students' online experiences in community college science courses?

Research Question 5. What factors are associated with course satisfaction of community college students enrolled in online science courses? What challenges and successes do students experience in online science courses?

Research Question 6. What factors underlie inhibitory dimensions such as boredom and frustration that influence success in an online science course?

Chapter 5 is organized into four sections. The first section includes a discussion of the research questions with particular emphasis on linking the current results to Bandura's (1997) conceptual model. The next section discusses the limitations of this study. The third section discusses the educational implications of this investigation and offers suggestions for future research. The last section provides a summary of the study and closing comments.

Findings Related to Research Questions

The universal question that guided the current study was "What are the motivations and experiences of community college students enrolled in online science courses?" As such, this study was designed with the goal of learning more about the motivations, opportunities, obstacles, and goals of online science students in a

community college. In addition, interviews provided an in depth examination of students' personal adaptive qualities and behaviors in online science courses.

Overall, findings from this study are compatible with prior research in the fields of academic personal qualities, motivation, self-regulation, academic support, instructor demands, and online learning (Berge & Huang, 2004; Tallent-Runnels et al., 2006). Further, students entered the online environment with certain personal qualities, such as self-sufficiency and a willingness to try new things, which made them suitable for the online environment. Additionally, students' emotions and experiences were shaped by a variety of factors, such as course structure, instructor support, academic expectations, and communication. Specifically, these results indicate that students in a self-paced online learning environment employ several adaptive academic behaviors; however, they can experience a range of negative emotions. The following sections describe, in detail, the extent to which the current findings correspond with the concepts and relationships depicted in the conceptual model.

Predictors of Elaboration: Research Question 1

Research Question 1 addressed whether self-efficacy, self-regulatory learning, perceived task value, and prior knowledge of participants were statistically significant predictors of learning strategies (elaboration) in an online science course. Bandura (2006) suggested that "proficient performance is partly guided by higher-order self-regulatory skills" (p. 308). These self-regulatory skills, according to Bandura, include nonspecific skills such as "diagnosing task demand, constructing and evaluating alternative courses of action, matching alternatives to strategies, and creating self-incentives to sustain

engagement in taxing activities" (p. 308). Students can use such nonspecific skills in other areas to varying degrees (i.e., co-development of skills).

Elaboration, self-regulation, and task value. To augment learning, students enrolled in science courses should match their study strategies to the required learning objectives. Elaboration consists of strategies that involve paraphrasing, summarizing, creating analogies, explaining the material to someone else, and generative note taking, such that the learner actually reorganizes and connects ideas (Lynch, 2010; Pintrich, 1999). Current findings indicate that elaboration increases with increasing levels of SRL strategies and task value within this model. Further, coefficients indicate that SRL and task value were significant positive predictors of elaboration within this model, $\beta = 0.50$, p < .01 and $\beta = 0.28$, p < .01, respectively. Based on these findings, it appears that students who self-regulate their learning and find the task valuable are also more likely to use elaboration.

Elaboration helps students develop their own foundation of knowledge by summarizing, creating analogies, and generative note taking (Lynch, 2010). Additionally, the various techniques used to process and help make sense of information include copying notes, paraphrasing, outlining, comparing, reading aloud, and discussing course content with classmates (Boyd, 2004). Because of their effectiveness, teachers encourage students to effectively utilize elaboration strategies to improve learning performance (Artino, 2008; Lynch, 2010; Pintrich & De Groot, 1990). Furthermore, students who selfregulate their learning use elaboration as part of their learning strategy to help make appropriate connections and improve learning performance. The findings from the current study support this conclusion.

Also of importance, students who believed the course was important and useful (task value) also reported using more elaboration. This finding is consistent with prior research in both traditional and online settings (Artino, 2008). Furthermore, one could speculate that a student's positive task value belief might be critical in online learning success (Artino, 2008). Moreover, in an environment as highly autonomous as online learning, adaptive motivational beliefs, such as how much a student values the course for future use, may be vital to initiate and sustain engagement (Artino, 2008; Lynch, 2010; Zimmerman, 2005).

Self-efficacy, prior experience, and elaboration. A student's self-efficacy can be viewed as a self-appraisal, or "I can do" feeling of his or her ability to master a task rather than an "I will do" feeling (Bandura, 2006; Lynch, 2010). The can stresses a student's judgment of self-capability to execute performance (Bandura, 2006). Efficacy beliefs are important because they influence whether students think optimistically, pessimistically, or strategically (Bandura, 2006). Self-efficacy beliefs also influence the course of "action people choose to pursue, challenges and goals they set for themselves, and how much effort they put forth" (Bandura, 2006, p. 309) as well as "how much to persevere in the face of obstacles" (Bandura, 2006, p. 309). Studies suggest that efficacious students report fewer negative achievement emotions such as anxiety, boredom, and frustration (Artino & Stephens, 2009), a greater use of SRL strategies (Artino & Stephens, 2009; Joo et al., 2000), and greater satisfaction with their learning experience (Artino, 2006, 2008; Lim, 2001). Highly efficacious students are also more likely to enroll in future online courses (i.e., improved continuing motivation; Artino,

2006; Lim 2001) and demonstrate superior learning and performance (Joo et al., 2000; Wang & Newlin, 2002).

According to Bandura (1997, 2006), self-efficacy is thought to vary in strength and level depending on the individual learner. A learners' self-efficacy influences three major areas: confidence, amount of effort, and emotional state. In addition, Bandura (1997) described that some self-efficacy beliefs have a broad range; that is, they encompass many situations, whereas others have a narrow range. Bandura also revealed that very high perceptions of self-efficacy may affect an individual negatively in terms of preparation and performance; specifically, too much self-efficacy can under motivate a student. For example, highly self-efficacious students may feel little need to invest in preparatory effort; therefore, some self-doubt and uncertainty has preparatory benefits that are beneficial to learning. Of note, optimal performance has been associated with a reasonable sense of self-efficacy to withstand failure, which is coupled with some uncertainty, as reflected in terms of the level of challenge in the task. Conversely, low self-efficacy can result in impaired performance since the student would be more likely to dwell on personal deficiencies and exaggerate potential difficulties.

Overall, the students who participated in the current study demonstrated high selfefficacy. Surprisingly, the participants' self-efficacy and prior experiences in online courses were not significant predictors of elaboration within this model. This finding supports the research of Artino (2008), who stated that self-efficacy beliefs did not add significantly unique information to the prediction of elaboration. However, it is plausible that self-efficacy was a predictive factor of elaboration but that it merely was weaker than task value and SRL learning such that it was overshadowed by the other two and thus did
not show any significant additive correlation coefficient. Also in line with Artino's perspective, I attribute this finding to the generalized nature of the self-efficacy scale used in this study. Specifically, the self-efficacy subscale employed in the current study was broad in that the subscale asked very general, overarching questions, particularly when compared to other self-efficacy scales that have been used to measure students' confidence in narrow academic domains, such as a scale for measuring adolescents' algebra self-efficacy (Bandura, 2006). According to Bandura (2006), self-efficacy scales should be "tailored to the particular domain of functioning" (p. 308) that is under investigation. Pajares (1996) also suggested that broader self-efficacy scales weaken the effects of assessments of self-efficacy. Therefore, future research should consider the extent that domain-specific self-efficacy scales might better explain students' elaboration behaviors.

Another possible explanation for the relationship between self-efficacy and elaboration in this model is that students who were enrolled in online science courses had a relatively high level of self-efficacy at base line as indicated in the descriptive statistics. Further, the current sample appeared to be very independent learners. Perhaps online science students who are less likely to rely on motivational beliefs, such as self-efficacy, have learned that effort pays off. The interviews conducted in this study support the idea of increased effort; that is, many of the online science students, when faced with difficult course material, increased their effort by studying earlier, rereading chapters or sections of chapters, and doing further investigation of a particular area via independent online research. Additionally, many of the students described themselves as independent

learners who were comfortable with figuring things out when they encountered unclear material.

Since many of the students interviewed in this study expressed that they used a variety of learning strategies, another explanation for the unexpected relationship between self-efficacy and elaboration in this model could be that the generalized elaboration subscale did not detect all types of elaboration. For example, students expressed several strategies not mentioned in the subscale, such as chunking, outlining, summarizing, rehearsing, generative note taking, paraphrasing, and studying with peers as well as metacognitive self-regulation.

The current study also revealed that prior online course experience was not a significant predictor of elaboration. Perhaps prior experience with online courses in other subject areas did not prepare the students for the types of elaboration and higher thinking that science courses require. One could speculate that, in addition to elaboration, science courses demand a specific combination of skills and learning strategies.

Predictors of Overall Course Satisfaction: Research Question 2

Research Question 2 addressed the extent to which the participants' achievement emotions, boredom, and frustration were statistically significant predictors of overall course satisfaction.

Frustration. According to control-value theory, negative emotions of achievement, such as frustration, can influence learning and performance through a variety of factors, which include attention, effort, and the use of cognitive and metacognitive learning strategies (Pekrun, 2006). Negative emotions "may well facilitate the use of specific kinds of learning strategies, even if such effects do not appear in more

consistent ways when self-report measures of learning strategies are used" (Pekrun et al., 2002, p. 99). Thus, researchers have suggested that, when students feel worried or frustrated, such emotional reactions negatively affect their academic performance (Artino, 2008).

The current study revealed that as course satisfaction increases, frustration levels decrease. The coefficients indicated that frustration was a significant negative predictor of overall course satisfaction, $\beta = -0.98$, p < .01. Wosnitza and Volet (2005) theorized that "in [the] solo online-learning environment, emotions are typically directed at the self, the task, or the technology" (p. 455). In the research study conducted here, all three kinds of directed emotions (e.g., self, task, and technology) were identified as factors via an analysis of the interviews. Some students discussed expressing several emotions due to their feeling pressured by time limitations and having too many other commitments, while other students described their emotions as directed toward different tasks, such as reading dense technical content and dealing with abstract homework assignments and confusing directions. Additionally, a few students complained about their frustration with technology and the asynchronous nature of online communication.

Based on the findings from the survey instrument, respondents were not highly frustrated. However, results from the interviews provided a more variable understanding of emotional responses. Specifically, many participants reported experiencing feelings of frustration while enrolled in their online science courses. This could be due to the generalized nature of the survey subscale; that is, respondents mentioned other types of frustration specific to the material, homework assignments, and courses that were not measured in the subscales.

When interviewed, participants cited a variety of specific reasons for their frustration including task-directed, self-directed, and technology-directed frustrations (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005). Task-directed frustration occurs when a task is ambiguous, such as abstract activities students are required to complete. Self-directed frustration revolves around the learner's difficulty in understanding the material, such as the amount of math involved or the sequential nature of the material in some science courses. Technology-directed frustration involves problems with the course management system or technology connectivity. Among the technology-directed frustrations that were expressed by students, specific frustration concerned using different course platforms, the level of support given in the course by the instructor, and a lack of computer help and after-hours help for their questions. For example, one student found the online genetics course to be very frustrating due to an inadequate level of support provided by the college in finding either tutoring or answers to his questions. Other students felt underprepared for the level and amount of math that several of the online science courses required.

Boredom. The survey and interview responses further revealed that participants who took online science courses experienced a relatively low degree of boredom, overall. Most students, when interviewed, said they experienced emotions related more to anxiety, stress, confusion, and feeling overwhelmed as opposed to boredom. The students may have been too involved with the terminology, concepts, and other abstract theories to experience feelings of boredom as evidenced by a number of respondents who reported that they were often overwhelmed during their class.

Additionally, the results of this research reveal that course satisfaction increased when the level of frustration decreased. In contrast, previous research from Artino (2008)

found frustration to have a positive relationship with metacognition. However, Artino did not explore the relationship with overall course satisfaction.

Although boredom was highly negatively correlated with course satisfaction (r = -.48), surprisingly, the multiple regression coefficients indicated that boredom was a significant positive predictor of overall course satisfaction ($\beta = 0.16$, p < .05) when considered in combination with frustration. In previous research, Artino (2008) found boredom emerging as a negative predictor of SRL strategies (metacognition); however, boredom was not studied in terms of its predictive nature with respects to overall course satisfaction.

One possible explanation for the positive and unexpected relationship between boredom and overall course satisfaction is that it could be a measurement issue. The results indicated a significant relationship (p = 0.014) between boredom and overall course satisfaction, which would speak to a low probability of a Type I error. If the positive relationship between boredom and course satisfaction is an artifact (Type I error), one consideration is the number of items in the measurement scale for boredom (measurement issue). The scale was a five-item scale, which may or may be a true reflection of the construct of boredom that it was originally designed to capture. By increasing the items within a scale, a scale could be made more thorough in order to assess all aspects (or dimensions) of the items in the boredom scale. Within this sample population, perhaps more items could be added in the future in order to capture an accurate picture of boredom as a construct. Also, perhaps scale is not really measuring boredom per se but rather a related construct such as attention that is labeled inappropriately.

If the positive relationship between boredom and overall course satisfaction is not an artifact, then an alternative explanation could be that community college students have different motivations for taking science online courses than do service-academy undergraduates. This concept was identified by Artino (2008) who indicated that students probably are more motivated since they would see a direct link to the course content and future career aspirations. There could be several moderating variables that affect motivation such as the type of student (traditional vs. nontraditional), course type, course expectations, professors' empathy, time, skill level, and the learners' experience online which complicate findings on the nature of the online academic self-concept. Two elements of online experiences examined in this study were frustration and boredom.

In this current population of students, overall most students were found to have low frustration and boredom but high overall satisfaction. Conversely, most students who were found to have high frustration and high boredom also had relatively low overall course satisfaction. However, nine students did not demonstrate either combination of these variables and outcomes with respect to boredom when frustration was considered, which occurred in opposition to indicated levels of frustration—when frustration was high, boredom was low, and when frustration was low, and boredom was high. In all cases, overall course satisfaction remained consistent with expected levels of frustration.

Although these nine anomalous students cannot technically be considered outliers, they are interesting from a mixed-method point of view. For this reason, I looked at their related data individually then made some observations and developed potential scenarios based on my understanding of the associated conditions and of human nature in general. Because only two of the nine anomalous students agreed to be interviewed, my insight

with regard to the personal perspectives of these students and how those perspectives might have affected their survey responses with regard to boredom (the anomalous variable in these instances) is limited. I concluded that although some scenarios may be more likely than others, the possibilities most likely worked simultaneously to produce the anomalous results.

Of the anomalous students (n = 9), three demonstrated low frustration, high boredom, and high overall course satisfaction (see Table 29). When I looked individually at these students, I observed that the students were all female and relatively young. Because the sample was predominately female, I would not necessarily consider this demographic a contributor to the anomaly. Although all the students would be considered non-traditional students, they all were 30 years old or younger. Of the possible scenarios offered for this group, it is most likely that this represents a generational phenomenon, where younger students may be more prone to being bored than are older adults. This may be a manifestation of digital natives, who expect high levels of stimulation, and because they are tech savvy, they are not being stimulated in this situation. Because they are used to the technology, they are not frustrated; however, they are bored with it.

At first it appeared that prior experience with online classes might have been contributing to the students' low frustration and high boredom, but case number 105 did not fit the pattern. With further consideration, it appeared that experience with technology may be the stronger indicator. Regarding final course grades, one might guess that despite being bored, students were satisfied with the course overall because they had

Table 29

Case no.	Sex	Age	Reason for taking course	Prior online courses	Course grade	Prior math courses	Prior English courses	Experience with technology	Self- efficacy	Task value	Elab.	SRL
34	F	24	Nursing requirement	5	В	2	2	Extremely experienced (7)	6.4	7.0	6.0	5.9
105	F	30	Prerequisite or other reason	0		4	3	Very experienced (6)	6.0	7.0	5.8	5.1
19	F	27	Nursing requirement	3	В	2	1	Very experienced (6)	3.6	6.2	6.5	6.0

Anomalous Participant Group (n = 3): Low Frustration, High Boredom, Low Overall Course Satisfaction

received an above average grade. That students had been enrolled in prior math and English courses before enrolling in their current online science class might indicate that they were in general prepared for the challenges of an online science course requiring math and writing skills and thus were not challenged but rather bored.

The values for self-efficacy, task value, elaboration, and SRL were all relatively high, with only one noticeable exception. The scores suggest another, yet less likely possibility—that these students considered themselves capable and found strong relevance of the course content to their person experiences, and for this reason, they activated their organizational strategies for learning. With the engagement of these strategies, their frustration levels would inherently be on the lower side, but also, they may have then found the class to be easier and thus felt highly bored. The second group of anomalous students (n = 6) demonstrated high frustration, low boredom, and low overall course satisfaction (see Table 30). When I looked individually at these students, I observed that again the students were all female. However, in this group, the students appeared to be older than the first group. Although like the first group, they would be considered non-traditional students—all 28 years of age or older, with 5 of the 6 being over 42. This also may be evidence of a generational phenomenon, the most likely scenario for this group, whereas while younger students may be more prone to boredom as digital natives, older, digital immigrants, may feel less comfortable with technology and therefore experience less boredom.

The majority of this subgroup, with the exception of Hillary (Case 26), had no prior online courses experience. This may have contributed to their lack of familiarity with the online environment, thus increasing their levels of frustration. In the interview

Table 30

Case no.	Sex	Age	Reason for taking course	Prior online courses	Course grade	Prior math courses	Prior English courses	Experience with technology	Self- efficacy	Task value	Elab.	SRL
26	F	57	General studies	5	С	1	6	Experienced (5)	4.2	4.5	7.0	6.8
96	F	42	Graduation requirement	0		1	3	Very experienced (6)	3.8	5.0	4.8	6.2
8	F	28	Physics	0	В	1	1	Very experienced (6)	4.4	6.7	5.8	6.8
45	F	54	Interest/fun	0		6	10	Extremely experienced (7)	3.8	5.0	4.8	6.2
14	F	46	Nursing requirement	0		3	4	Experienced (5)	5.4	6.8	6.3	4.7
28	F	44	Nursing requirement	0	В	1	1	Extremely experienced (7)	5.6	6.8	7.0	6.9

Anomalous Participant Group (n = 6): High Frustration, Low Boredom, High Overall Course Satisfaction

with Hillary, the student indicated that her particular cause of frustration was related to the nature of the course content. She described feeling extreme frustration over the complexity and extent of the math used in the course, which required extensive personal investment of time. In addition, she expressed frustration over the amount of terminology she had to learn and not having enough examples to help her guide her learning. But also, lack of prior online course experience may have resulted in greater degrees of intellectual challenge for this group in general, and thus the students were not bored. In the interview with Jeannie (Case 45), a student who took the class for fun, she indicated that she was a life-long learner. Apparently then, although she had not indicated a high level of task value, she still found the course interesting and thus may not have been bored.

Regarding final course grades, one might surmise (when examining this data in isolation), that lack of boredom indicated that students were engaged and/or interested in the material and/or kept busy with the course work. Perhaps, however, this interest and personal investment yielded grades lower than expected for these students and thus they were not satisfied overall with the course. That students had been enrolled in prior math and English courses before enrolling in their current online science class might indicate that they were in general prepared for the challenges of an online science course requiring math and writing skills. However, the majority of the group had only one prior math class, and perhaps this contributed to their lack of boredom because much of the material was new. This may have contributed to their frustration levels, which lead to low overall course satisfaction.

Regarding the values for self-efficacy, task value, elaboration, and SRL, this group appeared overall to be moderately lower in self-efficacy than the other group.

However, the values for task value, elaboration, and SRL appeared to be only slightly lower than that other group. This, although less likely than other scenarios, suggests that although the students did not find the course content as relevant or perceive themselves as being as capable, the students still were engaging and using organizational strategies, and thus were may not have been bored.

To gain a better understanding of the scenarios I created for the anomalous data groups, I compared the variables that had afforded the most feasible scenarios across the two anomalous groups and the remaining students in the sample (general population; see Table 31). Looking at the data, I found that the high frustration, low boredom, low satisfaction group was a good deal older than the both the other groups. Also, the differences between the low frustration, high boredom, low satisfaction group and the high frustration, low boredom, low satisfaction group were almost equally above and below the average scores for prior online classes, respectively. Looking at these data in conjunction suggests a connection between age and experience with online classes, which is inherently linked to experience with technology. One would have expected then, that the older students in the high frustration, low boredom, low satisfaction group would also then indicate having less experience with technology, but this was not the case. They did indicate having less experience with technology than the low frustration, high boredom, low satisfaction group, but they were still above the average level of technological experience indicated by the general population. Perhaps then, the connection between age, prior online courses, and low boredom stems not from technological experience but from the challenge posed by the course content itself. It is possible that the science concepts and math used in the classes were more familiar to the younger students because

Table 31

General population^b Low frustration, high High frustration, low (Low frustration, low boredom, high overall Variable^a boredom, low overall boredom, high overall course satisfaction / High frustration, high course satisfaction group^c course satisfaction^d boredom, high overall course satisfaction) Age (in years) 28.12 (n = 95)27 45.2 Prior online courses 0.8 1.6 (n = 97)2.7 Experience with technology 5.6 (n = 97)6.3 6.0 Self-efficacy 5.9 (n = 98)5.3 4.5 Task value 6.2 (n = 99)6.7 5.8 Elaboration 6.1 (n = 99)6.1 5.1 Self-regulated learning 5.8 (n = 99)5.6 6.3

Comparisons Among Anomalous Participant Groups and the General Population

^a Excluding age and prior online courses, all variable scores represents results on a 7-point scale. ^bTotal participating students minus the nine anomalous students. Reported in terms of respondents for that subset. ^c n = 3. ^d n = 6.

they more recently would have experienced similar material in their high school classes. Excluding age, and very close to the prior online class's variable, the greatest difference in averages appears for self-efficacy. This concept though, seems more congruent with frustration than boredom. Differences in task value for both groups did not appear to be notable. Elaboration clearly was lower than the average for the high frustration, low boredom, low satisfaction group. However, like the concept of self-efficacy, this variable seems more closely related to discussion of frustration than boredom. Again, information provided during interviews by Hillary and Jeannie did not provide relevant data for explaining the anomalous boredom results.

This study's unexpected finding that boredom (when considered with frustration) was a positive predictor of overall course satisfaction suggests that some amount of boredom during an online course could contribute to course satisfaction if frustration is low. This very tenuous suggestion is certainly not meant to imply that courses should be designed to intentionally bore students but rather points to the multidimensional, complex, and intricate interplay between emotions and cognition.

Ultimately, the positive predictive relationship between boredom and overall course satisfaction when frustration is in the mix requires replication of this study to determine whether researchers can verify the data and to generalize results to other populations and other learning situations. Another avenue of future research would be to examine the specific links and the different subcomponents between boredom and course satisfaction with more detailed and extensive scales of measurement in different student populations.

Predictors of Course Completion: Research Question 3

I was interested in better understanding to what degree students' elaboration and overall course satisfaction were significant predictors of their overall course completion. First, I conducted a binary logistic regression to address Research Question 3, which was appropriate for predicting the dichotomous criterion. However, the binary logistic regression planned for course completion (pass or fail) could not be conducted because there was only one failure among the participants; therefore, there was a lack of variability. The coefficients indicated that elaboration and course satisfaction were not significant predictors of course completion within this model. Therefore, this researcher continued with another logistic regression using course grades as a dependent variable (A and B/C) and elaboration and course satisfaction as the independent variable. Overall, this logistic regression was not significant.

This researcher then conducted a Spearman correlation since there were scale limitations and a lack of variability in the criterion. For example, only one person failed the courses, which invalidated the logistic regression approach. The correlations (see Table 31) indicated that elaboration and overall course satisfaction were not significantly related to course grade, $r_{sp} = .02$, p > .05 and $r_{sp} = .12$, p > .05, respectively. However, an unplanned finding was that elaboration was significantly related to overall course satisfaction, $r_{sp} = .40$, p < 0.01. Thus, students who elaborated more often were also likely to be more satisfied with their course.

Online Student Experience: Research Question 4

To provide a greater understanding of the above quantitative data, qualitative interviews were conducted with a sample of online community college students.

Specifically, these interviews addressed the influence of student experience on creating meaning of their online science courses. Themes that emerged from these interviews provided a rich description of student online experiences in community college science courses.

In general, many participants expressed positive feelings about their online science courses. Additionally, most students indicated in the quantitative questionnaire that they would likely take another online science course in the future. However, the interviews revealed specific areas within online science courses that could be improved. For instance, students expressed areas of concern, such as the need for further clarification of math requirements and unclear material with corresponding homework, which some students found confusing. According to the students, these areas should have associated examples, models, and detailed explanations to increase clarity and understanding.

Further, abstract homework assignments and course material often led student to feel considerable frustration, anxiety, stress, and confusion. This was interesting given that, according to the survey, participants were not highly frustrated. This finding could mean that the survey only captured generalized types of frustration (generalized measurement by the frustration subscale) and that individuals experienced other types of frustrations that were task or technology specific.

Additionally, the survey results indicated that most students who took online science classes were very experienced in the online environment and were comfortable studying independently. As a population, most students had taken about two prior courses online before enrolling in the online science course. Further, participants indicated a

familiarity with the course management platforms used by the community colleges, such as Blackboard and WebCT. Taken together, online science students were highly motivated, utilized self-regulated strategies (metacognition), and had a high degree of task value. In addition, their learning exhibited high self-efficacy and high elaboration skills. Frustration was low for most students who took the survey; however, it was high for those students who participated in the interview. The dichotomous findings between levels of frustration in the surveys compared to the interviews could be related to the fact that the interviews captured a richer and more detailed multi-dimensional nature of students' frustration types, levels, and specific nature of frustration as an emotion rather than the generalized parameters captured in the survey instrument.

Personal dispositions. The personal dispositions of students varied. Respondents expressed a reasonable level of comfort with novel experiences and with their abilities to initiate more effort when facing a challenge. Participants also reported having self-reflective natures. Many participants liked working in a self-paced environment and were comfortable learning independently online. Several students indicated that they were self-driven, self-regulating, and resourceful, had a strong work ethic, comfortable with technology, and loved to learn new areas on their own. Many students also recounted making adjustments and self-regulating their learning during their course experience.

Online student experience. Four major themes encompassed the students' experiences: academic challenge, SRL, student communication, and the negative emotions that shaped student experiences. Academic challenge was a significant theme that ran through the course experience due to advanced terminology, fast paced schedules, abstract concepts, intensity of required math skills, and the breadth and depth

of learning skills that the students had to perform successfully. In the face of such challenges, many students reported feeling a sense of accomplishment that they were able to make adjustments, find support, and overcome the challenges of the science courses.

This research also found that students self-regulated on a variety of levels. For example, many students described how they decided to adjust their studying through selfmanagement strategies or by adjusting their schedules. Such adjustments came in a variety of forms, such as self-regulation and the use of learning strategies, resource management, and collaborative learning with peers. Concerning resource management, time spent on the material, and studying course content required students to do several things: allocate sufficient time, select the appropriate place to study, utilize learning strategies, and manage environmental conditions. Further, regulation of effort by students was instrumental to the amount of effort they spent on learning. Finally, several students, when interviewed, indicated that they felt they had improved their learning by working with peers or by asking for help from the professor via email.

Lynch (2010) found a significant correlation between time spent studying and the study environment in college level face-to-face physics classrooms. Perhaps the amount of time spent studying, as an indicator of effort by the student, in conjunction with the study environment, are important factors that enhance student performance, which could merit further investigation.

Dimensions of Course Satisfaction: Research Question 5

Research Question 5 addressed reasons associated with course satisfaction and the influence of challenges and successes within the course on student satisfaction levels.

Findings indicated that most students who took the online science courses were satisfied upon course completion.

Challenges faced in online science courses. The literature supports the notion that students experience a variety of challenges in the online environment (Bambara, 2007; Piccoli G., Ahmad, R., & Ives, B., 2001). Specifically, Bambara (2007) found that (in other student populations) many students taking online courses experienced low retention rates because students were challenged by the subject matter or unfamiliar with the content, or experienced difficulties and frustration with the course organization, content sequence, or technology. Additionally, findings from Bambara's study, although in a different student population, reported that students often struggled with new terminology, complicated formulas, and foreign content.

Many of the challenges that students experienced in online science classes also came in a variety of forms. For example, students mentioned the unfamiliarity with science terms and concepts, which presented some challenge for students. The quantitative nature of the courses was also a challenge for some students. For other students, the heavy emphasis on mathematical equations and computations involved in the coursework presented challenges. Further, students expressed feelings of being overwhelmed and experiencing difficulties with the amount of information presented to them. Some students reported having to read a lot of textual material on difficult concepts. Along these same lines, many students felt this primary reliance on reading without practical application contributed significantly to the difficulties they experienced in maintaining interest. Other students explained that the courses lacked audio-visual learning components, such as videos, that are often found in a traditional face-to-face

class. In short, multiple methods of presenting material and teaching, which reinforce each other, were not only lacking, but were wanted by students in the online environment.

Students identified a major source of challenge were significant communication gaps between themselves and the instructor. The communication of complex information via email and asking appropriate questions was an area of difficulty due to complex concepts presented in the course material. Additionally, communication and the lack of interaction in online science courses was a challenge for most students. The interviews did reveal that some students either felt uncomfortable about expressing or were unable to express their confusion in an email. In addition, some students described that they felt uncomfortable repeatedly emailing the instructor with difficulties on abstract concepts and often did not know how to appropriately ask for help on complex topics. Minimal instructor feedback with unclear explanations also hampered learning for students. Students also felt they learned best from the exchanges of ideas, information, perspectives, and opinions from competent peers. However, it was not possible to replicate these activities in the online environment as the online science courses did not incorporate a lot of discussion, debate, or interaction.

Another issue relevant to communication within the course centered on student familiarity with the electronic platform in which the course was presented. Specifically, students who were unfamiliar with the navigation of the course management software found the multiple platforms and websites used in some of the science courses challenging. One student criticized the college for not having tighter parameters for course prerequisites in place for the science course.

Successes experienced in online science courses. Students described enjoying many triumphs and achievements from their online science course experience. Specifically, participants indicated being drawn to the opportunity to learn in a self-paced environment where they could learn anywhere at any time, which was in agreement with studies in other student populations (Bambara, 2007). Additionally, the courses allowed students to learn on their own time. The flexibility of online learning helped students manage multiple commitments and busy schedules. One of the biggest successes was that students praised the online science courses for enabling them to balance family, work, and coursework in a time-efficient manner. The science courses also allowed students access to education and complete coursework that they would have otherwise been unable to pursue. As indicated by the results, the option to learn in a self-paced, selfdriven environment was attractive for some students. As Bernadette verbalized, "I like learning by myself."

Students also described their course successes in numerous ways. Many interviewees described being comfortable with technology and thought that prior content knowledge in the area of study helped make their coursework easier. Several participants described a high comfort level with new experiences and learning on their own. Some forms self-learning included self-regulation, time management, self-reliance, selfmonitoring, and support from peers and family members. Additionally, some students described the enabling nature of online communication; that is, the ability to reach out and ask questions directly of the instructor without having to feel intimidated or selfconscious. To compensate for the feelings of isolation, some students reported that they reached out to others and formed informal study groups. Further, students described

constructing their own supportive environments by seeking comfort from peers, family, spouses, and significant others, such as boyfriends or girlfriends.

Finally, some students expressed a strong sense of task value for their respective science courses. These students wanted to use the information they gained to help them with future work-related tasks, such as earning a teaching certificate or gaining background knowledge for work-related functions. Others expressed the desire to learn and use the material simply because of a long-standing interest in the particular subject; they thought the course could help fill-in their knowledge gaps.

Emotional Components: Research Question 6.

In the online environment, social and emotional areas are less visible; however, they do influence student learning (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005). A number of concepts exploring the influence of emotions on learning have emerged in recent literature on online learning (Gunawardena, Lowe, & Anderson, 1997; Kreijns, Kirschner, & Jochems, 2002; Volet & Wosnitza, 2004). These areas include social presence, sociability, and distributed emotions. Analyses of student interactions in both synchronous and asynchronous environments have provided some support for the significance of emotions on the process of learning (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005). However, the mediating role of student appraisals of online learning activities and the process of emotional involvement during the online learning process remains unclear and warrants further investigation (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005). As such, Research Question 6 examined reasons that underlie inhibitory dimensions, such as boredom and frustration, and their influence on success in an online science course. Many participants experienced several negative emotions while enrolled in their course. Specifically, four major emotions emerged: anxiety, stress,

frustration, and confusion. Each student experienced negative emotions on a variety of occasions during the course; however, such emotions were the result of feeling overwhelmed.

Additionally, there were three primary levels of negative emotions that were directed at the self, the task, and the technology (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005). Self-directed emotion included anxiety because the students felt underprepared: "That was much too hard for me." Task-directed emotions occurred due to a lack of clarity in the task. For example, students reported that science courses had too many unfamiliar terms, complex concepts, and unusual homework assignments. One student expressed her concerns in despair, "What should I do? I really don't understand how to do this assignment." Materials and course concepts were presented sequentially and then made more complex, building upon each other, which lead many students to feel overwhelmed when they were unable to link the information together appropriately. Finally, technology directed emotions came in the forms of confusion and despair of having to use multiple course platforms which were unfamiliar and not well explained.

These various emotions seemed to influence the amount of effort and time that students spent on tasks. Many of the students expressed putting in more effort as a compensatory response to the challenging material and assignments. Despite feeling overwhelmed, the majority of students described feeling capable and they expected the extra effort to make a difference in their course performance.

Limitations of the Study

The current findings regarding community college students in online science courses provide relevant and much needed information about online learning; however,

they must be considered within the limitations of this study. These limitations may reduce the ability to generalize the findings from this study to other populations. The main limitations concern the sample size examined and the population of the sample in terms of scope and gender.

Sample

The current study used a convenience sample of students from two community colleges. As such, the results may not be generalized to other community colleges or other types of higher education institutions.

Online Science Students

The study was delimited to students enrolled in online science courses. Since online science courses are highly technical, mathematical, autonomous, and self-paced, a particular subset of the typical community college population may self-select themselves to enroll in such courses. Therefore, current findings may not be representative of students in all online courses at community colleges or of students taking online courses at 4-year universities. Also, because of the small sample size of interviewed students and the fact that the students self-selected themselves, this population may not have been representative of all community college students.

The Role of Gender in Motivation

The role of gender in learning strategies and motivation may be one dimension that remains unclear from the results of this study; specifically, the population in this study was predominantly female (88.6%). Gender differences in various motivational constructs such as self-efficacy, task value, and elaboration have been reported among college physics students (Lynch, 2010). For example, Lynch (2010) found a large

correlation between male self-efficacy scores and final grades. Task value and rehearsal were also correlated in males but not in females. Further, metacognition and study time environment scores for males were significantly correlated with lab scores. In contrast, self-efficacy and elaboration for females correlated with effort. Perhaps some of these differences can be related to the composition of the population in terms of gender. Future research in this area is warranted.

Study Implications and Future Research

The literature reports concerns for creating learning environments in which students remain motivated, integrated, and interested. In response to a need for more effective, student-focused science education in the online environment, this study examined the motivation and perspectives of successful online students in community colleges. Specifically, this study focused on students who were enrolled in a variety of courses offered online at two community colleges—one in Colorado and one in Illinois. As a note of caution, instructional implications of this investigation assumed causality although doing so requires additional empirical evidence.

Task Value

Students in this study exhibited a high degree of task value overall. According to Artino (2008), task value may play a facilitative role in motivating the performance of students. Research by Sun, Tsai, Finger, Chen, and Yeh (2008) confirmed that perceived usefulness by students significantly influences course satisfaction. One could speculate that making tasks relevant or connected to the personal world of students could enhance the motivation of online students. Perhaps faculty and institutions should consider integrative projects focused on individualized (task value) orientations such as using

problem-based learning, providing modeling to support learning, scaffolding learning through the use of learning modules, integrating field work that interests students, interviewing real people, visiting zoos or museums, shadowing professionals in the field, incorporating kitchen labs, or engaging in internships connected with the coursework. Alternatively, faculty could embed various learning activities into homework to reinforce specific learning strategies such as introducing short case studies or problem solving of real-life situations.

Moreover, future investigations should examine whether instructional intervention that is designed to increase task value, or bolster the task-value beliefs of students, improves student course satisfaction and performance. In addition, further research into how student learning can be better integrated toward future utility of course content in their daily lives is also warranted. Alternatively, further studies that examine how instructors positively influence their subjective perceptions of the learning environment could improve learning and performance in the online environment.

Student Motivation

Many respondents who were interviewed were highly and intrinsically motivated, loved to learn new material, and reported a desire to master assignments; respondents depicted themselves as having a strong work ethic and being independent learners. Some students described that doing their best under all circumstances was very important. Specifically, the qualitative results indicates that respondents who put forth greater learning strategies, such as elaboration, organization, and rehearsal strategies, also described themselves as being generally more satisfied with their online learning experience. Perhaps students who put forth their best effort feel more satisfied because

they feel that they did the best they could in a difficult course (even though their grade did not necessarily reflect this).

Concerning instructional implications for online students, some possible suggestions to foster motivation include sending out motivational emails, providing positive feedback on a frequent basis, sending out recorded MP3 files for students to hear and respond to, and adding visual aids or diagrams. Future investigations into sustaining and developing motivation in the online environment warrants inquiry to determine what parameters could optimize student motivation in course-specific areas and further develop approaches to enhance the use of learning strategies.

Emotional Influences on Performance

Respondents experienced many emotions while enrolled in their online science courses. Several negative emotions, including frustration, were consistently high in this (interviewed) population of students. However, these negative emotions did not appear to diminish the continued motivation of students to succeed in the course, rather it affected the student's recommending of the science course to friends or acquaintances. As a result, faculty and institutional administrators should examine emotional factors within online science courses (and within the college) that could be managed better to suit the needs of students to mitigate the influence of negative feelings such as frustration, anxiety, and confusion on course success.

Wosnitza and Volet (2005) reported that a "responsible teaching presence and appropriate leadership and direction" are important for the knowledge constructions and continued motivation of students (p. 458). Faculty must be cognizant to give appropriate direction to students in areas where anxiety, confusion, and frustration may occur. In the

absence of social cues, instructors might encourage their students to disclose their emotions regarding areas of confusion and anxiety by developing open discussion forums online for peer-peer communication; instructors could periodically monitor such forums so proper intervention can occur. In addition, online instructors should (a) be sensitive to the areas within their online courses that could trigger negative emotions such as confusion, anxiety, or stress and (b) act proactively by giving detailed directions, creating handouts with screenshots, and providing clear instructions through short animated instructional multimedia programs to combat these emotions or increase communication with students within these areas. Thus, it is important for online instructors to monitor and understand the processes that trigger negative emotions in order to intervene effectively (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005).

Future suggestions for instruction may encompass a wide range of strategies, such as frequent instructor communication (e.g., weekly motivational emails to online students), an open forum to discuss online emotions within the course, online tutorials or handouts that explain the details of various course platform systems, and the incorporation of online math websites with tutorials into the course to help reduce negative emotions. Accordingly, further research should consider understanding the connections between students' feelings, thoughts, and actions during online learning. A range of questions for such future research include (a) What types of emotions tend to be disclosed and which do not?; (b) What are the positive and negative implications of emotional disclosures in online courses?; and (c) When and why do students decide to disclose their emotions (Wosnitza & Volet, 2005)?

The Importance of Timely Feedback

Faux and Black-Hughes (2000) compared traditional, online, and hybrid sections of an undergraduate course in social work and found that online students sought more instructor feedback and auditory stimulation; they wanted to listen to historical material rather than read about it. Emotionally, students in enrolled in online science course in this study reported that receiving regular feedback made them feel they were in touch with the instructor and it was helpful to know that a person would respond in a timely manner. In short, instructor feedback helped support the students' learning and maintain progress in the right direction. Some respondents expressed a need to have short, incremental activities, perhaps on a weekly basis, with feedback so they could gauge their own progress.

Many students discussed how important they felt it was for an instructor to provide clear, specific, and timely feedback. Feedback was critical to maintaining and building upon past mistakes as well as nurturing and fostering improvement and skill building. Basically, students would like to use the instructor feedback on assignments to better adjust to conditions and to self-monitor their progress. One student stated, "I always appreciated her [the instructor's] comments." Another participant, Bernadette, discussed that knowing exactly how she performed by reviewing the instructor's comments, which were integrated alongside each assignment, was important to her continued motivation and understanding.

Supportive Role of Faculty

Current findings corroborate those of Sun et al. (2008), Piccoli et al. (2001) and Smeets (2005). Specifically, instructors play an important supportive role in online learning environments and can influence students through enthusiasm, their own attitude, empathy, and responsive communication. Further, many students stated that they felt open, consistent, and frequent communication with the instructor was critical to their online learning experience. Further, some felt that just knowing someone was there if they needed them was valuable. Sun et al. (2008) confirmed that a key dimension to online course satisfaction is timeliness of the instructor's response. Sun et al. (2008) indicated that when instructors exhibit positive attitudes and have enthusiasm for the online class, the positive attitude further motivates students. In light of this, administrators should be careful in selecting instructors for online courses or provide appropriate training for teaching online since a negative perception might hamper students' motivation to continue their online course.

In addition, faculty could support student learning with weekly Web conferencing (with Elluminate or Webinar sessions) by creating and emailing MP3 files or designing customized instructions with screen shots or screencasts (Jing or Screenr.com). Perhaps future systematic research can explore the support faculty can offer to positively influence online learning environments, especially in terms of student motivations. Future research focusing on increasing faculty communication with students, lessening anxiety, promoting the use of learning strategies, and enhancing online motivation for students would also help structure online science courses to be more learner-centered.

Institutional Support

Better online support services, staff development, and academic advising are activities that Berge and Huang (2004) advocated to ease the transition of students into an institution. In circumstantial variables, Berge and Huang encouraged institutions to assess the perceived utility and satisfaction of students in order to make improvements to their courses. Additionally, Sun et al. (2008) advocated for college administrators to identify different assessment schemes, such as self-assessments and peer assessments, to evaluate student performance so students could monitor their own achievements. Future research investigating how to best tailor online modules for online student orientation and assessments could be of value to help the student self-monitor progress.

Summary

Many community colleges implement online learning to meet students' needs, especially those of nontraditional students. Since online learning is conducted using course management platforms and the Internet, the learning experience becomes complicated. The complex nature of online learning precipitates the need to use multiple methods and multiple sources of data to understand individual learning. Hence, students' motivations, emotions, and experiences that results in perceived course satisfaction will determine whether they will use online learning.

As a whole, the current research study suggests that individual variation occurs in the online learning environment. The dimensions that appear important for online science learning are the personal dispositions of students prior to coming to the online environment, their ability to self-regulate learning (the behavioral dimension), and the role of various emotions that impact academic performance. Moreover, in the online

environment, constructing extensive, flexible knowledge generation involves having several activities: extensive communication, the students engaging in self-monitoring, and having the instructor provide extensive timely feedback.

These findings largely support the existing literature on self-regulation, task value, and motivation. The results offer support that academic self-regulation and the use of learning strategies is complex, interrelated, and multidimensional in the autonomous self-paced online environment. In particular, the findings shed light on some of the emotions and several adaptive behaviors that students engage in to enhance their academic performance.

Further research on motivation, the role of emotions, and factors that may increase self-regulation in online science courses is definitely warranted. In particular, the role of emotions and how to have students disclose them in an appropriate and timely manner in the online environment warrants attention. Having access to students' emotions, especially negative ones, is vital to instructors so that they may provide immediate and effective intervention, therefore improving course retention. Thus, future research in the areas of emotions, motivation, and self-regulation could help online instructors and administrators design reliable instruments and provide explanations for improving student motivation, learning, and retention.

REFERENCES

- Aljarrah, A. (2000). *Distance education: Community college students' perspectives and attitudes toward online courses* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (727729921)
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2007a). *Making the grade: Online education in the United States. Midwestern edition.* Retrieved from http://sloanconsortium.org/ publications/survey/ index.asp
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2007b). *Online nation: Five years of growth in online learning*. Retrieved from http://sloanconsortium.org/publications/survey/index.asp
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2008). *Staying the course: Online education in the United States, 2008.* Retrieved from http://sloanconsortium.org/publications/ survey/index.asp
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2009). *Learning on demand: Online education in the United States, 2009.* Retrieved from http://sloanconsortium.org/publications/ survey/index.asp
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2010). *Class differences: Online education in the United States*, 2010. Retrieved from http://sloanconsortium.org/publications/survey /index.asp
- Appana, S. (2008). A review of benefits and limitations of online learning in the context of the student, the instructor and the tenured faculty. *International Journal on E-Learning*, 7(1), pp. 5-22. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org
- Artino, A. (2006). *Self-efficacy beliefs: From educational theory to instructional practice.* Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED499094)
- Artino, A. (2008). Learning online: Understanding academic success from a selfregulated learning perspective (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (1529758611)
- Artino, A. (2009). Think, feel, act: Motivational and emotional influences on military students' online academic success. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education* 21(2), 146-166. Retrieved from http://www.springerlink.com
- Artino, A., & McCoach, D. B. (2008). Development and initial validation of the online learning value and self-efficacy scale. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 38, 279–303. Retrieved from http://baywood.com
- Artino, A. R., Jr., & Stephens, J. M. (2009). Academic motivation and self-regulation: A comparative analysis of undergraduate and graduate students learning online. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 12, 146–151. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier .com

- Aviv, R., Erlich, Z., & Ravid, G. (2004, October). Design and architecture of collaborative online communities: A quantitative analysis. Paper presented at the Association for Educational Communications and Technology International Convention, Chicago, IL.
- Bambara, C. (2007). The lived experience of community college students enrolled in high risk online courses: Opportunities and obstacles (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (1404355861)
- Bandura, A. (1991). Social cognitive theory of self-regulation. Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes, 50, 248–287. Retrieved from Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York, NY: W. H. Freeman/Times Books/Henry Holt.
- Bandura, A. (2006). Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. In F. Pajares & T. Urdan (Eds.), Adolescence and education, Vol. 4: Self-efficacy beliefs of adolescents (pp. 307-337). Greenwich, CT: Information Age Publishing.
- Bandura, A., & Adams, N. E. (1977). Analysis of self-efficacy theory of behavioral change., 1, 287–310. Retrieved from http://www.springer.com/medicine/journal/ 10608
- Bandura, A., Adams, N. E., & Beyer, J. (1977). Cognitive processes mediating behavioral change. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *35*, 125–139. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/psp/index.aspx
- Bandura, A., & Bandura, A. (1995). Self-efficacy in changing societies. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.Bandura, A., Barbaranelli, C., Caprara, G. V., & Pastorelli, C. (1996). Multifaceted impact of self-efficacy beliefs on academic functioning. Child Development, 67, 1206–1222. Retrieved from http://www.wiley.com/bw/journal.asp?ref=0009-3920
- Bandura, A., Reese, L., & Adams, N. E. (1982). Microanalysis of action and fear arousal as a function of differential levels of perceived self-efficacy. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 43, 5–21. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/ pubs/journals/psp/index.aspx
- Bangurah, F. M. (2004). A study of completion and passing rates between traditional and Web-based instruction at a two-year public community college in northeast Tennessee (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (765274731)
- Bates, A. W. (1997). *Restructuring the university for technological change*. Retrieved from http://bates.cstudies.ubc.ca/carnegie/carnegie.html
- Bates, T. (2008). *What is distance education?* Retrieved from http://www.tonybates.ca/2008/ 07/07/what-is-distance-education/

- Bean, J. P., & Metzger, B. S. (1985). A conceptual model of nontraditional undergraduate student attrition. *Review of Educational Research*, 55, 485–540. Retrieved from http://rer.sagepub.com/
- Berge, Z., & Huang, Y. (2004). A model for sustainable student retention: A holistic perspective on the student dropout problem with special attention to e-learning. *DEOSNEWS*, 13(5). Retrieved from http://www.ed.psu.edu/acsde/deos/deosnews/ deosarchives.asp
- Bessant, K. C. (1997). The development and validation of scores on the Mathematics Information Processing Scale (MIPS). *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 57, 841–857. Retrieved from http://epm.sagepub.com/
- Boekaerts, M., & Cascallar, E. (2006). How far have we moved toward the integration of theory and practice in self-regulation? *Educational Psychology Review*, 18, 199– 210. Retrieved from http://www.springer.com/psychology/journal/10648
- Boston, W., Diaz, S. R., Gibson, A. M., Ice, P., Richardson, J., & Swan, K. (2009). An exploration of the relationship between indicators of the community of inquiry framework and retention in online programs. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 13(3), 67–83. Retrieved from http://sloanconsortium.org/publications/ jaln_main
- Boston, W., Ice, P., & Gibson, A. M. (2011). Comprehensive Assessment of Student Retention in Online Learning Environments. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, 14(1). Retrieved from http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/ browsearticles.php
- Bouffard-Bouchard, T., Parent, S., & Larivee, S. (1991). Influence of self-efficacy on self-regulation and performance among junior and senior high-school age students. *International Journal of Behavior Development*, 14, 153–164. Retrieved from http://jbd.sagepub.com/
- Boyd, D. (2004). The characteristics of successful online students. *New Horizons in Adult Education*, 18(2), 1–9. Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/~aed/newhorizons .html
- Boyles, L. W. (2000). *Exploration of a retention model for community college students* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (732229751)
- Britton, B. K., & Tessor, A. (1991). Effects of time management practices on college grades. *Journal of Education Psychology*, 83, 405–410. Retrieved from http:// www.apa.org/pubs/journals/edu/index.aspx
- Cahoon, B. (1998). Adult learning and the Internet: Themes and things to come. *New Directions for Adult and Continuing Education*, 78, 71–76. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1002/(ISSN)1536-0717/issues

- Carr, S. (2000). As distance education comes of age, the challenge is keeping the students. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, *46*(23), A39–A41. Retrieved from http://chronicle.com/section/Home/5
- Chiu, C.-M., Sun, S.-Y., Sun, P.-C., & Ju, T. L. (2007). An empirical analysis of the antecedents of web-based learning continuance. *Computers & Education*, 49(4), 1224-1245. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription .cws_home/347/description#description
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power and analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Crabtree, L. F. (2000). A comparison of community college student performance, retention, and demographics in online and on ground course (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (727869461)
- Creswell, J. W. (1998). *Qualitative inquiry and research design. Choosing among five traditions.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Csikszentmihalyi, M. (1988). The flow experience and its significance for human psychology. In M. Csikszentmihalyi & I. S. Csikszentmihalyi (Eds.), *Optimal experience: Psychological studies of flow in consciousness* (pp. 15–35). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Chyung, S. Y. (2001). Systematic and systemic approaches to reducing attrition rates in online higher education. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 15(3), 36 -49. Retrieved from http://www.ajde.com/
- Dabbagh, N., & Kitsantas, A. (2005). Using web-based pedagogical tools as scaffolds for self-regulated learning. *Instructional Science*, 33, 513–540. Retrieved from http:// www.springerlink.com/content/102905/
- Davies, J., & Graff, M. (2005). Performance in e-learning: online participation and student grades. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 36, 657–663. Retrieved from http://www.blackwellpublishing.com/journal.asp?ref=0007-1013
- Diaz, D. P. (2002, May/June). Online drop rates revisited. *The Technology Source Archives*. Retrieved from http://technologysource.org/article/online_drop_rates _revisited/
- Diaz, D. P., & Cartnal, R. B. (1999). Students' learning styles in two classes: Online distance learning and equivalent on-campus. *College Teaching*, 47, 130–135. Retrieved from http://www.tandf.co.uk/journals/titles/87567555.asp
- Dille, B., & Mezack, M. (1991). Identifying predictors of high risk among community college telecourse students. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 5(1), 24–35. Retrieved from http://www.ajde.com/
- Dubois, J. R. (1996). Going the distance: A national distance learning initiative. *Adult Learning*, 8(1), 19–21. Retrieved from http://www.aaace.org/mc/page.do ?sitePageId=66286&orgId=aaace
- Duncan, T., & McKeachie, W. (2005). The making of the motivated strategies for learning questionnaire. *Educational Psychologist*, 40, 117–128. Retrieved from http://www.informaworld.com/smpp/title~content=t775653642
- Dutton, J., & Dutton, M. (2005). Characteristics and performance of students in an online section of business statistics. *Journal of Statistics Education 13*, 1–20. Retrieved from http://www.amstat.org/publications/jse
- Dutton, J., Dutton, M., & Perry, J. (2001). Do online students perform as well as lecture students? *Journal of Engineering Education*, 90(1), 131–136. Retrieved from http://www.jee.org/
- Dutton, J., Dutton, M., & Perry, J. (2002). How do online students differ from lecture students? *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, *6*, 1–20. Retrieved from http://jaln.sloanconsortium.org/index.php/jaln/index
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (1995). In the mind of an actor: The structure of adolescents' achievement task values and expectancy-related beliefs. *Personality Social Psychology Bulletin*, 21, 215–225. Retrieved from http://psp.sagepub.com/
- Eccles, J. S., & Wigfield, A. (2002). Motivational beliefs, values, and goals. *Annual Review of Psychology, 53*, 109–132. Retrieved from http://www.annualreviews .org/journal/psych
- Erichsen, E. A., & Bolliger, D. U. (2011). Towards understanding international graduate student isolation in traditional and online environments. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 59(3), 309-326. Retrieved from http://www .springerlink.com
- El Mansour, B., & Mupinga, D. M. (2007). Students' positive and negative experiences in hybrid and online classes. *College Student Journal*, *41*, 242–248. Retrieved from http://www.projectinnovation.biz/csj.html
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39, 175-191. Retrieved from http:// www.springerlink.com/content/1554-351x/
- Faux, T. L., & Black-Hughes, C. (2000). A comparison of using the Internet versus lectures to teach social work history. *Research on Social Work Practice*, 10(4), 454–466. Retrieved from http://rsw.sagepub.com/

- Finnegan, C., Morris, L. V., & Lee, K. (2009). Differences by course discipline on student behavior, persistence, and achievement in online courses of undergraduate general education. *Journal of College Student Retention: Research, Theory & Practice, 10, 39–54.* Retrieved from http://www.cscsr.org/jcsr/index.php/jcsr
- Foust, R. A. (2008). Learning strategies, motivation, and self-reported academic outcomes of students enrolled in Web-based coursework (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (1500060571)
- Fozdar, B. I., & Kumar, L. S. (2007). Mobile learning and student retention. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 8(2), 1–18. Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl
- Garland, M. (1993). Student perceptions of situational, institutional, dispositional, and epistemological barriers to persistence. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, *14*, 181–198. Retrieved from http://www.ajde.com/
- Gibson, C. C. (1996). Toward an understanding of academic self-concept in distance education. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, *10*, 23–36. Retrieved from http://www.ajde.com/
- Gibson, C. C. (1998). Distance learners in higher education: Institutional responses for quality outcomes. Madison, WI: Atwood.
- Gilbert, S. D. (2000). *How to be a successful online student*. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Gillis, A., Jackson, W., Braid, A., MacDonald, P., & MacQuarrie, M. A. (2000). The learning needs and experiences of women using print-based and CD-ROM technology in nursing distance education. *Journal of Distance Education*, 15(1), 1–20. Retrieved from http://www.jofde.ca/index.php/jde
- Githens, R. P., Crawford, F. L., Sauer, T. M. (2010). Online occupational education in community colleges: Prevalence and contextual factors. Lewisville, KY: National Research Center for Career and Technical Education, University of Louisville. Retrieved from http://136.165.122.102/mambo/index.php?option=com_content &task=view&id= 286
- Gloster, C., Jr., & Doss, C. (2000). A distance education course in computer engineering at NC State University. *Computers in Education Journal, 10,* 22–26. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/347/ description#description
- Graff, M. (2003). Learning from Web-based instructional systems and cognitive style. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, *34*, 407–418. Retrieved from http:// www.blackwellpublishing.com/journal.asp?ref=0007-1013

Grasha, A. F. (1996). *Teaching with style*. Pittsburgh, PA: Alliance.

- Green, M., & Cifuentes, L. (2008). An exploration of online environments supporting follow-up to face-to-face professional development. *Journal of Technology and Teacher Education, 16*, 283–306. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org/pubs/jtate/
- Gunawardena, C. N., Lowe, C. A., & Anderson, T. (1997). Analysis of a global online debate and the development of an interaction analysis model for examining social construction of knowledge in computer conferencing. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 17(4), 397-431. Retrieved from http://www.baywood.com/ journals/previewjournals.asp?id=0735-6331
- Haigh, M. (2007). Divided by a common degree program? Profiling online and face-toface information science students. *Education for Information*, *25*, 93–110. Retrieved from http://www.iospress.nl/html/01678329.php
- Harbeck, J. D. (2001). Community college students taking on-line courses: The student point-of-view (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (764793261)
- Harlen, W., &. Altobello, C. (2003). An investigation of "Try Science" studied on-line and face-to-face. Cambridge, MA: TERC.
- Harris, R., & Muirhead, A. (2004). *Online learning community research: Some influences of theory on methods.* Retrieved from http://www.networkedlearningconference.org.uk/past/ nlc2004/proceedings/symposia/symposium7/harris_muirhead.htm
- Harsh, O. K., & Sohail, S. M. (2002). Role of delivery, course design, and teacher student interaction: Observations of adult distance education and traditional on-campus education. *The International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 3(2), 1–13. Retrieved from http://www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view /92/171
- Hill, J. R., Song, L., & West, R. E. (2009). Social learning theory and web-based learning environments: A review of research and discussion of implications. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 23, 88–103. Retrieved from http://www.ajde.com/
- Hiltz, S., R., & Goldman, R. (2005). *Learning together online, research on asynchronous learning methods*. London: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Hmelo-Silver, C. E. (2004). Problem-based learning: What and how do students learn? *Educational Psychology Review*, 16, 235–266. Retrieved from http://www .springer.com/psychology/journal/10648
- Hmelo-Silver, C. E., & Azevedo, R. (2006). Understanding complex systems: Some core challenges. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 15, 53–61. Retrieved from http:// www.tandf.co.uk/journals/authors/hlnsauth.asp

- Hmelo-Silver, C. E., Duncan, R. G., & Chinn, C. A. (2007). Scaffolding and achievement in problem-based and inquiry learning: A response to Kirschner, Sweller, and Clark (2006). *Educational Psychologist*, 42, 99–107. Retrieved from http://www .informaworld.com/smpp/title~content=t775653642
- Hmelo-Silver, C. E., Marathe, S., & Liu, L. (2007). Complexity strand article: Fish swim, rocks sit, and lungs breathe: Expert-novice understanding of complex systems. *Journal of the Learning Sciences*, 16, 307–331. Retrieved from http://www.tandf .co.uk/journals/authors/hlnsauth.asp
- Houle, C. (1961). The inquiring mind. Madison: University of Wisconsin Press.
- Howell, S. L., Williams, P. B., & Lindsay, N. K. (2003). Thirty-two trends affecting distance education: An informed foundation for strategic planning. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, 6(3), 1–18. Retrieved from http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/
- Jamison, T. M. (2003). Ebb from the web: Using motivational systems theory to predict student completion of asynchronous web-based distance education courses (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (765255161)
- Jang, E. E., McDougall, D. E., Pollon, D., Herbert, M., & Russell, P. (2008). Integrative mixed methods data analytic strategies in research on school success in challenging circumstances, *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 2, 221–247. Retrieved from http://mmr.sagepub.com/
- Jegede, O., Taplin, M., Fan, R. Y. K., Chan, M. S. C., & Yum, J. (1999). Differences between low and high achieving distance learners in locus of control, achievement motivation and metacognition. *Distance Education*, 20, 255–273. doi: 10.1080/ 0158791990200206
- Joo, Y., Bong, M., & Choi, H. (2000). Self-efficacy for self-regulated learning, academic self-efficacy, and internet self-efficacy in web-based instruction. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 48(2), 5–17. Retrieved from http://www.springer.com/education+%26+language/learning+%26+instruction/ journal/11423
- Kember, D., Lai, T., Murphy, D., & Siaw, I. (1994). Student progress in distance education courses: A replication study. *Adult Education Quarterly*, 45, 286–301. Retrieved from www.aeq.sagepub.com
- Kennedy, C. M. (2001). The experiences of online learning at a community college in South Texas: A case study (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (725899281)
- Kim, K.-J., Liu, S., Bonk, C. J. (2005). Online MBA students' perceptions of online learning: Benefits, challenges, and suggestions. *Internet and Higher Education*, 8(4, Spec. Iss.), p. 335-344. doi/jhp?

- Kitsantas, A., Zimmerman, B., & Cleary, T. (2000). The role of observation and emulation in the development of athletic self-regulation. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 92, 811–817. doi:10.1037/0022-0663.92.4.811
- Kramarski, B. B., & Gutman, M. M. (2006). How can self-regulated learning be supported in mathematical e-learning environments? *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 22(1), 24-33. Retrieved from http://jcal.info/
- Kreijins, K., Kirschner, P. A., & Jochems, W. (2002). The sociability of computersupported collaborative learning environments. *Educational Technology & Society*, 5(1), 8-22. Retrieved from http://www.ifets.info/
- Krentler, K. A., & Willis-Flurry, L. A. (2005). Does technology enhance actual student learning? The case of online discussion boards. *Journal of Education for Business*, 80, 316–321. Retrieved from http://www.tandf.co.uk/journals/titles/ 08832323.asp
- Lim, C. (2001). Self-efficacy, academic self-concept, and other predictors of satisfaction and future participation of adult distance learners. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 15, 41–51. Retrieved from http://www.ajde.com/
- Linn, M. C., Davis, E. A., & Bell, P. (2003). *Internet environments for science education*. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Linnenbrink, E. A., & Pintrich, P. R. (2004). Role of affect in cognitive processing in academic contexts. In D. Y. Dai & R. J. Sternberg (Eds.), *Motivation, emotion,* and cognition: Integrative perspectives on intellectual functioning and development (pp. 57–87). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Lynch, D. (2010). Motivational beliefs and learning strategies as predictors of academic performance in college physics. *College Student Journal*, 44(4), 920-927. Retrieved from http://www.projectinnovation.biz/csj_2006.html
- MacBrayne, P. (1995). Rural adults in community college distance education: What motivates them to enroll. *New Directions for Community Colleges, 90,* 85–93. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/10.1002/(ISSN)1536-0733/issues
- Maehr, M. (1976). Continuing motivation: An analysis of a seldom considered education outcome. *Review of Educational Research*, *46*, 443-462. Retrieved from http://rer.sagepub.com/
- Martens, R., Bastiaens, T., & Kirschner, P. A. (2007). New learning design in distance education: The impact on student perception and motivation. *Distance Education*, 28, 81–93. doi: 10.1080/01587910701305327
- Massa, N. M. (2003). *Metacognition and persistence in web-based courses* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (765245921)

- Mays, M. E. (1998). *The genetics revolution: Programs and issues for the community college*. Washington, DC: Community College Press.
- Means, B., Toyama, Y., Murphy, R., Bakia, M., & Jones, K. (2009). Evaluation of evidence-based practices in online learning: A meta-analysis and review of online learning studies. Retrieved from www.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/tech/evidence-basedpractices/finalreport.pdf
- Merisotis, J. P., & Phipps, R. A. (1999). What's the difference? Outcomes of distance vs. traditional classroom-based learning. *Change*, *31*(3), 12–17. Retrieved from http://www.tandf.co.uk/journals/
- Merriam, S. B. (1993). Adult learning: Where have we come from? Where are we headed? In S. B. Merriam (Ed.), *An update on adult learning theory* (pp. 5–13). San Francisco, CA: Jossey Bass.
- Miltiadou, M., & Savenye, W. (2003). Applying social cognitive constructs of motivation to enhance student success in online distance education. AACE Journal, 11, 78– 95. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org/pubs/
- Morgan, C. K., & Tam, M. (1999). Unraveling the complexities of distance education student attrition. *Distance Education*, *20*, 96–108. doi: 10.1080/0158791990 200108
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Napoli, A. R., & Wortman, P. M. (1998). Psychosocial factors related to retention and early departure of two-year community college students. *Research in Higher Education, 39*, 419–455. Retrieved from http://www.springer.com/education+ %26+language/higher+education/journal/11162
- Nicholls, J. G. (1984). Achievement motivation: Conceptions of ability, subjective experience, task choice, and performance. *Psychological Review*, *91*, 328–346. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/rev/index.aspx
- Oblinger, D. G., Barone, C. A., & Hawkins, B. L. (2001). *Distributed education and its challenges: An overview*. Retrieved from http://academic.research.microsoft.com/ Publication/10740515/distributed-education-and-its-challenges-an-overview
- Oblinger, D. G., & Hawkins, B. L. (2005). The myth about e-learning. *Educause Review*, 40(4), 14–15. Retrieved from http://www.educause.edu/er
- Oncu, S., & Cakir, H. (2011). research in online learning environments: Priorities and methodologies. *Computers & Education*, 57(1), 1098-1108. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/347/description# description

- Pajares, F. (1996). Self-efficacy beliefs in academic settings. *Review of Educational Research*, 66(4), 543-578. Retrieved from http://rer.sagepub.com/
- Pajares, F. (2002). *Overview of social cognitive theory and of self-efficacy*. Retrieved from http://www.des.emory.edu/mfp/eff.html
- Pascarella, E. T., & Chapman, D. W. (1983). A multi-institutional, path analytic validation of Tinto's model of college withdrawal. *American Educational Research Journal, 20,* 87–102. Retrieved from http://www.aera.net/publications/ ?id=315
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). *Qualitative research and evaluation* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pekrun, R. (2006). The control-value theory of achievement emotions: Assumptions, corollaries, implications for educational research and practice. *Educational Psychological Review*, 18, 315–341. Retrieved from http://www.springer.com/ psychology/journal/10648
- Pekrun, R., Goetz, T., Frenzel, A. C., Barchfeld, P., & Perry, R. P. (2011). measuring emotions in students' learning and performance: The achievement emotions questionnaire (AEQ). *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 36(1), 36-48. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/ 622811/description#description
- Pekrun, R., Goetz, T., & Perry, R. P. (2005). Achievement emotions questionnaire (AEQ): User's manual. Munich, Germany: University of Munich.
- Pekrun, R., Goetz, T., Titz, W., & Perry, R. (2002). Academic emotions in students' selfregulated learning and achievement: A program of qualitative and quantitative research. *Educational Psychologist*, 37, 91–105. doi:10.1207/S15326985EP3702_4
- Piccoli, G., Ahmad, R., & Ives, B. (2001). Web-based virtual learning environments: A research framework and a preliminary assessment of effectiveness in basic IT skill training. *MIS Quarterly*, 25(4), 401-426. Retrieved from http://www .misq.org/
- Pintrich, P. R. (1995). Understanding self-regulated learning. New Directions for Teaching and Learning, 63, 3–12. Retrieved from http://www.josseybass.com/ WileyCDA/WileyTitle/productCd-TL.html
- Pintrich, P. R. (1999). The role of motivation in promoting and sustaining self-regulated learning. *International Journal of Educational Research*, 31, 459–470. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/491/ description#description

- Pintrich, P. R. (2000). The role of goal orientation in self-regulated learning. In M. Boekaerts, P. R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation* (pp. 451–502). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Pintrich, P. R., & De Groot, E. V. (1990). Motivational and self-regulated learning components of classroom academic performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 82, 33–40. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/edu/ index.aspx
- Qureshi, E., Morton, L. L., & Antosz, E. (2002). An interesting profile—University students who take distance education courses show weaker motivation than on-campus students. *Online Journal of Distance Learning Administration*, *5*(4), 1–10. Retrieved from http://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/
- Reed, T. E. (2001). *Relationship between learning style, Internet success, and Internet satisfaction of students taking online courses at a selected community college* (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (728927151)
- Roca, J. C., Chiu, C.-M., & Martínez, F. J. (2006). Understanding e-learning continuance intention: An extension of the technology acceptance model. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 64(8), 683-696. Retrieved from http:// www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/622846/description#de scription
- Roeser, R. W., & Gehlbach, H. (2002). The middle way to motivating middle school students by avoiding false dichotomies. *Middle School Journal*, 33(3), 39–46. Retrieved from http://www.nmsa.org/Publications/tabid/95/Default.aspx
- Romainville, M. (1995). Awareness of cognitive strategies: The relationship between university students' metacognition and their performance. *Studies in Higher Education*, *19*, 359–366. Retrieved from http://www.tandf.co.uk/journals/
- Ross, L. R., & Powell, R. (1990). Relationships between gender and success in distance education courses: A preliminary investigation. *Research in Distance Education*, 2(2), 10–11.
- Ross-Gordon, J. M. (2003). Adult learners in the classroom. New Directions for Student Services, 102, 43–52. Retrieved from http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/journal/ 10.1002/%28ISSN%291536-0695
- Rovai, A. P. (2002). Sense of community, perceived cognitive learning, and persistence in asynchronous learning networks. *The Internet and Higher Education*, *5*, 319– 332. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws _home/620187/description#description

- Rovai, A. P. (2003). In search of higher persistence rates in distance education online programs. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 6, 1–16. Retrieved from http:// www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/620187/description#de scription
- Rovai, A., Ponton, M., Wighting, M., & Baker, J. (2007). A comparative analysis of student motivation in traditional classroom and e-learning courses. *International Journal on E-Learning*, 6, 413–432. Retrieved from http://www.aace.org/pubs/ ijel/
- Rowe, E., & Asbell-Clarke, J. (2008). Learning science online: What matters for science teachers? *Journal of Interactive Online Learning*, *7*, 75–103. Retrieved from http://www.ncolr.org/jiol/
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self–determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 55, 68–78. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/amp/index.aspx
- Saba, F. (1999). Flexible education. *Distance Education Report, 3*(24), 1. Retrieved from http://www.magnapubs.com/catalog/distance-education-report/
- Sankaran, S. R. (2001). Impact of learning strategies and motivation on performance: A study in Web-based instruction. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, 28(3), 191– 198. Retrieved from http://www.projectinnovation.biz/jip_2006.html
- Savery, J. R., & Duffy, T. M. (1995). Problem based learning: An instructional model and its constructivist framework. *Educational Technology*, 35, 31–38. Retrieved from http://fno.org/
- Schilke, R. A. (2001). A case study of attrition in Web-based instruction for adults: Updating Garland's model of barriers to persistence in distance education (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (728927141)
- Schraw, G., Crippen, K. J. and Hartley, K. (2006). Promoting self-regulation in science education: Metacognition as part of a broader perspective on learning. *Research in Science Education*, 36(1-2), 111-139. Retrieved from http://www.springerlink .com/content/108230/
- Schultz, C. (2001). Surveys of distance learning in the Virginia Community College System. *Inquiry*, 6(2), 34–38. Retrieved from http://www.inquiryjournal.org/
- Schunk, D. H. (1989, March). *Attributions and perceptions of efficacy during selfregulated learning by remedial readers*. Paper presented at the meetings of the American Educational Research Association, San Francisco, CA.
- Schunk, D. H. (2005a). Commentary on self-regulation in school contexts. *Learning and Instruction*, 15, 173–177. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/956/description#description

- Schunk, D. H. (2005b). Self-regulated learning: The educational legacy of Paul R. Pintrich. *Educational Psychologist*, 40, 85–94. Retrieved from http://www .informaworld.com/smpp/title~content=t775653642
- Schunk, D. H., Pintrich, P. R., & Meece, J. L. (2008). Motivation in education: Theory, research, and applications. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Schunk, D. H., & Schwartz, C. W. (1993). Goal and progress feedback: Effects on selfefficacy and writing achievement. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 18, 337–354. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription .cws_home/622811/description#description
- SchWeber, C. (2005). *A tipping point for online education*. Retrieved from http://www.sloan-c.org/publications/view/v4n3/coverv4n3.htm
- Shah, J. Y., & Kruglanski, A. W. (2000). Aspects of goal networks: Implications for self-regulation. In M. Boekaerts, P. R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation* (pp. 85–110). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Slagter van Tryon, P. J., & Bishop, M. J. (2009). Theoretical foundations for enhancing social connectedness in online learning environments. *Distance Education*, 30, 291–315. doi: 10.1080/01587910903236312
- Smeets, E. (2005). Does ICT contribute to powerful learning environments in primary education? *Computers & Education*, *44*, 343–355. Retrieved from http://www .elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/347/description#description
- Sun, P. C., Tsai, R. Finger, G., Chen, Y., & Yeh, D. (2008). What drives a successful elearning? An empirical investigation of the critical factors influencing learner satisfaction. *Computers & Education*, 50(4), 1183–1202. Retrieved from http:// www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/347/description#description
- Swan, K. (2002). Building learning communities in online courses: The importance of interaction. *Education, Communication & Information, 2*(1), 23–49. Retrieved from http://www.informaworld.com/smpp/title~content=t713618988
- Tait, A. (2000). Planning student support for open and distance learning. *Open Learning*, *15*, 287–299. Retrieved from www.tandf.co.uk/journals/carfax/02680513.html
- Tallent-Runnels, M. K., Thomas, J. A., Lan, W. Y., Cooper, S., Ahern, T. C., Shaw, S. M., & Liu, X. (2006). Teaching courses online: A review of the research. *Review of Educational Research*, 76, 93–135. Retrieved from http://rer.sagepub.com/
- Tinto, V. (1975). Dropout from higher education: A theoretical synthesis of recent research. *Review of Educational Research*, *45*, 89–125. Retrieved from http://rer.sagepub.com/

- Tinto, V. (1982). Limits of theory and practice in student attrition. Journal of Higher Education, 53, 687–700. Retrieved from http://www.ohiostatepress.org/ journals/jhe/jhemain.htm
- Tinto, V. (1987, November). *The principles of effective retention*. Paper presented at the Maryland College Personal Association Fall Conference, Largo, MD.
- Tinto, V. (1993). *Leaving college: Rethinking the causes and cures of student attrition* (2nd ed.). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Tsai, C.-C., & Chuang, S.-C. (2005). The correlation between epistemological beliefs and preferences toward Internet-based learning environments. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 36, 97–100. Retrieved from http://www .blackwellpublishing.com/journal.asp?ref=0007-1013
- Tucker, S. Y. (2000, April). Assessing the effectiveness of distance education versus traditional on-campus education. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Education Research Association, New Orleans, LA.
- Tyler-Smith, K. (2006). Early attrition among first time e-learners: A review of factors that contribute to drop-out, withdrawal, and non-completion rates of adult learners undertaking e-learning programs. *Journal of Online learning and Teaching, 2,* 73–84. Retrieved from http://jolt.merlot.org/index.html
- Visser, L., Plomp, T., & Kuiper, W. (1999, February). *Development research applied to improve motivation in distance education*. Paper presented at the Association for Educational Communications and Technology, Houston, TX.
- Volet, S., & Wosnitza, M. (2004). Social affordances and students' engagement in crossnational online learning: An exploratory study. *Journal of Research in International Education*, 3(1), 5-29. Retrieved from http://jri.sagepub.com/
- Wahlstrom, C., Williams, B. K., & Shea, P. (2003). The successful distance learning student. Belmont, CA: Wadsworth/Thomson Learning.
- Wang, A., & Newlin, M. (2002). Predictors of Web-student performance: The role of self-efficacy and reasons for taking an on-line class. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 18, 151–163. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/ journaldescription.cws_home/759/description#description
- Wang, Y., Peng, H., Huang, R., Hou, Y., & Wang, J. (2008). Characteristics of distance learners: Research on relationships of learning motivation, learning strategy, selfefficacy, attribution and learning results. *Open Learning*, 23, 17–28. Retrieved from http://www.tandf.co.uk/journals/carfax/02680513.html
- Webb, M. (1989). A theoretical model of community college student degree persistence. *Community College Review*, 16(4), 42–49. Retrieved from http://crw.sagepub .com/

- Weiss, H. M. (1990). Learning theory in industrial and organizational psychology. In M.
 D. Dunnette (Ed.), *Handbook of industrial and organizational psychology* (Vol. 1, pp. 177–222). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.
- Whipp, J. L., & Chiarelli, S. (2004). Self-regulation in a web-based course: A case study. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 52(4), 5–22. Retrieved from http://www.springer.com/education+%26+language/learning+%26+instruction/ journal/11423
- White, K. W., & Weight, B. H. (2000). The online teaching guide: A handbook of attitudes, strategies, and techniques for the virtual classroom. Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Whitley, B. E., Jr. (2002). *Principles of research in behavioral science* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Winne, P. H., & Perry, N. E. (2005). Measuring self-regulated learning. In M. Boekaerts, P. R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation* (pp. 531–566). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Woo, Y., & Reeves, T. C. (2008). Interaction in asynchronous web-based learning environments. *Journal of Asynchronous Learning Networks*, 12, 179–194. Retrieved from http://sloanconsortium.org/publications/jaln_main
- Wosnitza, M., & Volet, S. (2005). Origin, direction and impact of emotions in social online learning. *Learning and Instruction*, 15(5), 449-464 Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/956/description# description
- Wutoh, R., Boren, S. A., & Balas, E. A. (2004). eLearning: A review of Internet-based continuing medical education. *The Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, 24, 20–30. Retrieved from http://www.jcehp.com/
- York, D. L. (2003). Falling through the net: Implications of inherent characteristics in student retention and performance at a community college (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest. (765893171)
- Zhang, D., & Nunamaker, J. F. (2003). Powering e-learning in the new millennium: An overview of e-learning and enabling technology. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 5, 207–218. Retrieved from http://www.springer.com/business+%26+ management/business+information+systems/journal/10796
- Zimmerman, B. J. (1986). Development of self-regulated learning: Which are the key subprocesses? *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *16*, 307–313. Retrieved from http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/journaldescription.cws_home/622811/ description#description

- Zimmerman, B. J. (2005). Attaining self-regulation: A social cognitive perspective. In M. Boekaerts, P. R. Pintrich, & M. Zeidner (Eds.), *Handbook of self-regulation* (pp. 13–39). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Zusho, A., Pintrich, P., & Coppola, B. (2003). Skill and will: The role of motivation and cognition in the learning of college chemistry. *International Journal of Science Education*, 25, 1081–1094. Retrieved from http://www.tandf.co.uk/journals/titles/ 09500693.asp

APPENDIX A: ELECTRONIC LETTER TO DIRECTOR OF RESEARCH/

ADMINISTRATION REQUESTING ACCESS TO STUDY SITE AND

PARTICIPANTS

Director of Institutional Research Community College XXX, Illinois xxxxx

Dear XXXX (Director of Institutional Research),

Thank you for allowing me to conduct my dissertation research at your site and for agreeing to assist me in gaining access to potential participants. As a reminder of my background, I am a doctoral candidate in Education at Colorado State University located in Fort Collins, Colorado. My study is "The Experience of Community College Students Enrolled in Science Online Courses." I would like to begin my study in the next few weeks. As requested in our April XX, 200 X phone conversations, I am enclosing the approval letter from Colorado State University Human Subjects Review Board as well as a copy of my approved research proposal.

My research will involve an initial survey followed by some selected interviews with students who are enrolled in science online courses at the community college.

To gain access to these courses and students, I will need your assistance. Attached is a letter of invitation and explanation of my study for all faculty teaching online sections of these courses. I would appreciate your assistance in identifying faculty members. For those instructors who agree to participate, I will provide an invitation for students to be posted on the announcement section of the course web page and distributed to students through the courseware email system. Please have interested faculty contact me by (date) in order to prepare for participant recruitment.

I am most grateful for your assistance with my dissertation research. If you have any questions, please call me at 847-681-1572 or email me at urbighosh@gmail.com Sincerely, Urbi Ghosh Doctoral Candidate Colorado State University

APPENDIX B: E-MAIL TO SCIENCE ONLINE FACULTY REQUESTING

COOPERATION

Dear Faculty member:

I am a doctoral candidate at the Education and Human Resource Program at Colorado State University (CSU) located in Fort Collins, CO. My research will involves a short survey followed by a selected number of interviews with students who are enrolled in online science courses at the community college. My study is "The Experiences of Science Online Students at the Community College" and will include community college students enrolled in selected online science courses in plant biology, biology, astronomy, chemistry and physics. Dr. Linda Kuk, Associate Professor of Education at CSU, is serving as my dissertation advisor.

I need your assistance in obtaining student volunteers for my study. I have attached an invitation letter to students explaining the purpose of the study and their student's role and requirements for participation. I am asking your assistance in two areas. First, please distribute in the body of an email the announcement for participation in the study. Second, please distribute this request directly though a class email list. In this announcement, students were asked to respond confidentially to me though Survey Monkey. All the students are given a \$5 gift certificate to either Starbucks or Amazon.com.

I will follow up to provide students with additional information about the study and obtain contact information to arrange for interviews. Students are assured confidentiality and pseudonyms will be used to describe participants and the study site. Participation in my study is strictly voluntary.

I am most grateful for your assistance with my dissertation research. If you have any questions about my request, please call me at (847) 681-1572 or email me at urbighosh@gmail.com. If you have any questions about your rights as a volunteer in this study research, please do not hesitate to contact me. Sincerely,

Urbi Ghosh Doctoral Candidate, Colorado State University

APPENDIX C: STUDENT LETTER

Dear Student,

You have been selected to participate in an important research study about your online experience in science courses. We wish to understand the students' perspective of online science classes at the community college.

In a few days, you was receiving a link to an online survey that we're asking you to complete when it arrives. Through your participation is voluntary, the more students who, the more reliable and valid the results was.

Your participation in this survey is completely voluntary and confidential. Please understand that your participation or non-participation will not affect your enrollment in this class. Your identity was held confidential and any personal information obtained will only be used for data collection and analysis purposes. Your college will never know your survey results. You will not be personally identified in any reports or publications that may result from this study.

It should only take 10 to 15 minutes to confidentially respond. For your benefit, a small incentive was offered. Students who voluntarily participate in this survey will receive a \$5 gift card to Starbucks or a major online retailer such as Amazon.com at the end of the study.

If you have any questions, please ask us. If you have any additional questions, contact me at urbighosh@gmail.com or 847-681-1572.

This email is to alert you that a survey was delivered within the next few days. Detailed instructions about the study was included with the survey.

Sincerely,

Urbi Ghosh

Doctoral Candidate

Colorado State University

School of Education

APPENDIX D: SURVEY INSTRUMENT

This course critique is concerned with your opinions about the online science course you are currently enrolled in. This survey was confidential and will not be distributed to your instructor or the college.

However, before you take the survey please have your student ID number ready. Your student ID will only be used for data collection and coding purposes for analysis of the study. No personal data will ever be published.

The following statements relate to your opinions regarding the <u>value</u> of the online science course.

Using the scales below, select the extent to which you agree with each statement.

Completely	Mostly	Tend to		Ten	d to		Most	ly	Co	mple	etely
disagree	Disagree	disagree	Neutral	agre	agree		agree		Agree		
1	2	3	3 4 5 6					7			
1. It is person	nally importa	ant for me to	perform we	ll in	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
this course											
2. This course provides a great deal of practical			1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
information											
3. I am very	interested in	the context of	of this course	э.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4. Completin	ng this course	e will move n	ne closer to		1	2	3	4	5	6	7
attaining my	career goals										
5. It is important for me to learn the material in this				1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
course											
6. The knowledge I gain by taking this course can be					1	2	3	4	5	6	7
applied in m	any different	situations.									

The following statements relate to the various <u>learning strategies</u> you may have used while completing the science online course, which you are currently enrolled in.

Completely	Mostly	Tend to		Tend to	C	M	ostly	,	Completely		
disagree	Disagree	disagree	Neutral	agree		ag	ree		Ag	ree	2
1	2	3	4	5		6			0		
While worki	ng through t	his online co	urse								
1. I try to rel	ate what I w	as learning to	what I alread	ady	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
know.											
2. I try to ma	ake all the di	fferent ideas	fit together a	and	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
make sense t	to me.	1 . 1 1	1	. 1	1		2		_		
3. I make up	my own exa	imples to help	p me unders	tand	I	2	3	4	5	6	1
the importan	t concepts.				1	2	2	4		-	
4. I try to co	nnect what I	was learning	with my ow	'n	1	2	3	4	Э	0	/
5 If I becom	a confused a	bout comoth	ing I road I	<u>ao</u>	1	2	3	1	5	6	7
back and trie	ed to figure i	t out	ing Tieau, T	go	1	2	5	4	5	0	/
6. If the course material is difficult to understand. I						2	3	Δ	5	6	7
change the w	vav I studied	it.	understand,	1	1	-	5	•	5	0	,
7. I ask myse	elf questions	to make sure	I understoo	d the	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
material I wa	as studying.				_	_	-	-	-		
8. I try to thi	nk through e	each topic and	decide what	at I	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
was suppose	d to learn fro	om it, rather t	han just read	ling it							
over.			-	-							
9. I try to de	termine which	ch concepts I	didn't under	rstand	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
well.											
10. I set goal	ls for myself	in order to d	irect my acti	ivities.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
11. If I get c	onfused duri	ng online act	ivities, I ma	ke sure	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
I sorted it out before proceeding to the next section of											
the course.	the course.										
12. I keep tra	ack of how n	nuch I unders	tood, not ju	st if I	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
am getting through the material.										_	
13. I stop on	ce in a while	e and went ov	er what I ha	d	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
learned.											

Using the scale below, select the extent to which you agree with each statement.

The following statements relate to your **<u>overall satisfaction</u>** with the online science course.

Completely	Mostly	Tend to		Tend to	C	M	ostly	r	Cor	nple	tely
disagree	Disagree	disagree	Neutral	agree		ag	ree		Agı	ee	
1	2	3	4	5			6			7	
1. Overall, I am satisfied with my online course					1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2. This online course meets my needs as a learner					1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3. I would recommend this online course to a friend who needed to learn the material.					1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Using the scale below, select the extent to which you agree with each statement.

The following statements relate to your <u>beliefs in your ability</u> to learn with a science online course.

Using the scale below, select the extent to which you agree with each statement.

Completely	Mostly	Tend to	Tend to Tend)	Mostly		Comple		tely	
disagree	Disagree	disagree	Neutral	agree		agı	ree		Agree		
1	2	3	4	5			6			7	
1. Even in the face of technical difficulties, I was certain I can learn the material presented in an online course.						2	3	4	5	6	7
2. I am confi	dent I can le	arn without tl	he presence	of an	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
instructor to	assist me.										
3. I am confi	dent I can do	o an outstandi	ing job on tl	ne	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
activities in a	an online cou	irse.									
4. I am certain I can understand the most difficult material presented in an online science class.					1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5. Even with distractions, I am confident I can learn the material presented online.					1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Participation in an online course can induce different emotions. Please indicate **how you felt about your prior experiences** while completing the online science course.

Using the scale below, select the extent to which you agree with each statement.							
Completely	Mostly	Tend to		Tend to	Mostly	Completely	
disagree	Disagree	disagree	Neutral	agree	agree	Agree	

4

5

7

6

3

2

1

While completing this online course ...

1. I felt my formal educational background has given me adequate preparation for this course	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2. My work experience and other prior experiences from outside formal school have prepared me for this course.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3. I have had four course science and/or math courses previously.							
While completing this opling course							
1. I am feeling frustrated	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2. I am angry.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3. I feel as though I was wasting my time.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4. I am irritated.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
5. I am bored.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
6. I feel the course was fairly dull.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
7. My mind wandered.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
8. I am uninterested in the course material.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
9. I thought about what else I would rather be doing.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Background Questions:

- 1. Are you male or female?
 - a. Male
 - b. Female
- 2. What is your age?

_____ years

3. Is this course required for your major or are you taking it as a graduation requirement?

- a. I am taking it because I need it for my major.
- b. I am taking the course because I need as a graduation requirement
- c. I am taking the course for other reasons.
- 4. What is your major or intended major ? _____

5. How many online courses (doesn't have to be science) have you completed prior to taking this course?

- a. None
- b. One
- c. Two
- d. Three
- e. Four
- f. Five or more.

6. How many college courses in math have you completed prior to taking this course?

a. _____ course(s), number

7. How many college English courses have your completed prior to taking this course?

a. _____ course(s)

8. Given your experience with this online course, how likely would you to enroll in another science course?

Definitely						
will not						Definitely
enroll						will enroll
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

How much did you **<u>learn</u>** by taking this online course?

Very little						A large amount
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

How experienced are you with computer technologies?

Extremely inexperienced						Extremely experienced
1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey!

Your responses will help us improve future courses offered online in the sciences.

Incentive Registration

Part 1. Please provide your name and mailing information in order to receive the \$5 gift card.

* Please provide your first and last name:_____
Street Address:_____

City/State/Zip:	
v 1	

* Enter your email address: _____

Part 2.

Some participants was selected to participate in an interview either in person or on the telephone. There was two interviews of approximately 30-60 minutes, so that the researcher may gain valuable insight into your online class experience.

If you are selected and participate, after the interviews you was given a \$25 gift card for your time and participation to a well know online retailer. Please take a moment to provide your name and contact information below so that the researcher my contact you for an interview:

Name:_____

Address: _____

Phone Number: _____

Email: _____

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey and the registration form for the prize drawings.

APPENDIX E: INTERVIEW QUESTIONS

Fall 2010 Script for Interview

My name is Urbi Ghosh and I am a doctoral student in the School of Education at Colorado State University. You have been randomly selected for a follow-up telephone interview. You had returned a survey and indicated it was acceptable to be contacted for a voluntary follow-up interview. Your participation is completely voluntary and you still may elect not to participate.

Background questions	Please tell me about yourself to help me get to know you better? Please tell me about your educational experience at the community
	college?
Course	Please tell me about your experience as a community college student
expectations	enrolled in an online class in science.
	Did you learn what you expected to learn?
	What has the experience meant for you?
	How did the experience affect you?
	How do you know you are doing in your class?
Course	Are there specific characteristics of your online course that you feel
questions	enhanced your learning?
Content	Are there specific characteristics of your online course that you feel
questions	could be improved?
1	Or that you did not learn that much from?
	That detracted you from learning?
	What did you learn from this class? How did you learn it?
Strategies	How are you dealing with working independently? Do you prefer
6	working alone or with others?
	How do you feel about the things have been doing in class? (Learning
	Strategies)
	What is your reading strategy? (Learning Strategies)
	How did you prepare for the quizzes? How did you locate resources
	for your assignments? (Learning Strategies)
	Did your preparation for tests, projects, assignments work for you?
	Did you make any changes in what you did based on feedback?
	Where did you usually do your work for class?
	Where did you find the resources you needed?
	What helped you learning best?
	What did you do well?
	What would you do differently if you took this class again?

Interview (sample questions):

Emotions	 What dimensions, incidents and people intimately connected with the experience stand out for you? How did this experience affect significant others in your life? What feelings were generated by the experience? What thoughts stood out about your online course experience?
Opportunities Gained	What changes do you associate with the experience? What opportunities has the experience provided for you?
Probes	What other factors or conditions contribute to your in online course experience? Is there anything else that you would like to share that is significant in your online course experience?
Obstacles/road blocks	What obstacles has the experience presented for you?
Help seeking	When you needed help with something in class, whom did you ask? What did you do?
Course satisfaction	How satisfied are with this class?
If taken in summer	Would you have taken it the summer if it was not offered online?
Feedback	What suggestions do you have for future students taking science courses online? What suggestions would you have for future online instructors?

APPENDIX F: CONSENT FOR COMMUNITY-COLLEGE STUDENTS TO

PARTICIPATE IN THE STUDY (DRAFT)

TITLE OF STUDY: "The Experiences and Motivations of Community College Students Enrolled in Science Online Courses"

PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR: Dr. Linda Kuk

CO-PRINCIPAL INVESTIGATOR: Urbi Ghosh, Doctoral Candidate

WHY AM I BEING INVITED TO TAKE PART IN THIS RESEARCH?

You have been invited to participate in this research because you are studying for a degree at a community college and you are enrolled in an online course in a science online course. Many students find these courses challenging in an online class environment. My study involves research to better understand the experiences of community college students enrolled in science online courses in the sciences.

WHO IS DOING THE STUDY?

I am a doctoral student at Colorado State University who is conducting this study to complete the requirements for a dissertation.

WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS STUDY?

I am conducting the study to better understand the student experience in online courses in the sciences because many students find these courses challenging in an online class environment.

WHERE IS THE STUDY GOING TO TAKE PLACE / HOW LONG WILL IT LAST? The study will take place Community Colleges in Illinois through an online survey or through a telephone interview. The interview will last approximately 60 minutes for each participant interview. The interview was tape recorded, I will transcribe the interview tapes and provide you with a written copy within two weeks. I will schedule a second interview by email or telephone within three weeks to confirm the accuracy of the interview transcript and to allow for follow-up questions that either of us may have. This follow-up interview will take approximately 15 to 30 minutes. I will record and transcribe the follow-up interview and send the transcripts to you. I will follow-up with an email to verify the accuracy of the transcripts and invite you to provide any final thoughts.

WHAT WILL I BE ASKED TO DO?

You was asked to describe in detail your experiences as a community college student enrolled in online courses. I will ask you a series of open ended questions to assist you in telling me about what and how you have experienced your online course(s).

Page_of_Participant's initials _____ Date _____

ARE THERE REASONS WHY I SHOULD NOT TAKE PART IN THIS STUDY? You should not take part in the study if you are not a student enrolled in a degree program at a community college.

WHAT ARE THE POSSIBLE RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS?

It is not possible to identify all potential risks in research procedures, but the researcher(s) have taken reasonable safeguards to minimize any known and potential, but unknown, risks. The only known potential risks are a) you may be embarrassed by disclosing information that may adversely reflect on you, your institution, or one of its employees and b) breach of confidentiality. Private, confidential interviews and pseudonyms will help minimize this risk.

If a breach of confidentiality occurs, the specifics of the breach was immediately recorded and analyzed and a response designed with the primary objective of protecting the participant was implemented. The principal investigator will also will complete and transmit the HRC Human Subjects Reportable Event Report to the Human Research Committee, 321 General Services Building, Campus 2011 within 24 hours.

WILL I BENEFIT FROM TAKING PART IN THIS STUDY?

There are no direct benefits to participating in this study. The anticipated benefit of the research is that through presentation or publication of research results, community colleges, community college practitioners, and their constituencies may learn about the lived experience of community college students enrolled in high risk online courses. This understanding may help community colleges, community college practitioners, and their constituencies improve advocacy for groups and interests not traditionally included in discussion about community college students enrolled in high risk online courses.

DO I HAVE TO TAKE PART IN THE STUDY?

Your participation in this research is voluntary. If you decide to participate in the study, you may withdraw your consent and stop participating at any time.

WHAT WILL IT COST ME TO PARTICIPATE?

There is no monetary cost associated with your participation in this study. You was asked to spend 60 minutes of your time to participate in a first interview as well as 15 to 30 minutes of time in a second interview for follow-up questions. I will schedule a second interview for these follow-up questions (by email or telephone) within three weeks of the first interview. I will follow-up with an email to verify the accuracy of the transcripts and invite you to provide any final thoughts.

Page_of_Participant's initials _____ Date _____

WHO WILL SEE THE INFORMATION THAT I GIVE?

We will keep private all research records that identify you, to the extent allowed by law. Your information was combined with information from other people taking part in the study. When we write about the study to share it with other researchers, we will write about the combined information we have gathered. You will not be identified in these written materials. We may publish the results of this study; however, we will keep you name and other identifying information private.

We will make every effort to prevent anyone who is not on the research team from knowing that you gave us information, or what that information is. For example, your name was kept separate from your research records and these two things was stored in different places under lock and key. You should know, however, that there are some circumstances in which we may have to show your information to other people. For example, the law may require us to show your information to a court.

CAN MY TAKING PART IN THE STUDY END EARLY?

If you fail to show up to your interview session or do not respond to follow-up questions, you may be removed from the study.

WILL I RECEIVE ANY COMPENSATION FOR TAKING PART IN THIS STUDY? There was a compensation for participation in this study. Survey participants was given a \$5 gift certificate to an online retailer (such as Amazon.com) or Starbucks for their participation.

WHAT HAPPENS IF I AM INJURED BECAUSE OF THE RESEARCH? The Colorado Governmental Immunity Act determines and may limit Colorado State University's legal responsibility if an injury happens because of this study. Claims against the University must be filed within 180 days of the injury.

WHAT IF I HAVE QUESTIONS?

Before you decide whether to accept this invitation to take part in the study, please ask any questions that might come to mind now. Later, if you have questions about the study, you can contact me, Urbi Ghosh at 847-681-1572 or email urbighosh@gmail.com.

If you have any questions about your rights as a volunteer in this research, contact Evelyn Swiss, Human Research Administrator at 970-491-1381. We will give you a copy of this consent form to take with you.

WHAT ELSE DO I NEED TO KNOW? If you are under the age of 18, you are required to have your parent provide consent for you to participate in this study. Your signature acknowledges that you have read the information stated and willingly sign this consent form. Your signature also acknowledges that you have received, on the date signed, a copy of this document containing pages.

Page_of_Participant's initials _____ Date _____

Signature of person agreeing to take part in the study	Date
Printed name of person agreeing to take part in the study	
Name of person providing information to participant	Date

Colorado State University

DISSERTATION BUDGET

Student's Name: Urbi Ghosh

Advisor's Name: Dr. Linda Kuk

Dissertation Title: The Motivations and Experiences of Science Online Students in the

Community College

Listed below (in detail) are the anticipated expenses for the proposed dissertation.

Category	<u>Explanation</u>	Amount
Expenditures for Data Collection		
Expenses for Survey Incentives (20	00 x \$ 5)	\$1000
Interviewing Expenses (10 x \$25)		\$250
Transcription Service		\$500
SPSS Software (Student Version)		\$250
Expenditures for Travel to a Conference to	o Present	\$1,500
Estimated Expenses for Completion (Bind	ling, Copying, Printing)	\$640
In those	TOTAL	\$4140

Signature of Student